

kassel university

Promiscuity, attractiveness, fondness for children, and the postponement of parenthood: An evolutionary (mal)functional analysis

Percy A. Rohde

This work has been accepted by the Department of Economics of the University of Kassel as thesis for acquiring the academic degree Doktor der Philosophie (Dr. phil.).

- 1. Supervisor: Prof. PhD Harald A. Euler
- 2. Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Eckart Voland

Disputation

20. May 2005

Bibliographic information published by Die Deutsche Bibliothek Die Deutsche Bibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationabibliografie; detailed bibliographic data is available in the Internet at http://dnb.ddb.de

Zugl.: Kassel, Univ., Diss. 2005 ISBN 3-89958-174-1 URN urn:nbn:de:0002-1747

© 2006, kassel university press GmbH, Kassel www.upress.uni-kassel.de

Cover: Hannes Malte Mahler www.feinkunst.com Printed in Germany by Unidruckerei, University of Kassel To my dear parents Christa and Johann-Jürgen

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
INTRODUCTION PART I: PHYSICAL ATTRACTIVENESS IN THE MATING CONTEXT	9
COMPONENTS OF PHYSICAL ATTRACTIVENESS AS EVOLVED INDICATORS 1. Facial attractiveness: An indicator of MHC-heterozygosity? 2. The bodymass index as a component of physical attractiveness	9 .10 .13
PHYSICAL ATTRACTIVENESS AS A PREDICTOR OF SEXUAL BEHAVIOR AND ATTITUDES	.14
INTRODUCTION PART II: PROMISCUITY, ATTRACTIVENESS, AND FONDNESS FOR CHILDREN AS PREDICTORS OF THE WILLINGNESS TO BECOME A PARENT	.17
MALADAPTIVE BEHAVIOR IN MODERN HUMANS	.17
CONTRACEPTION AS MALADAPTIVE BEHAVIOR	. 23
MOTIVATION AND REPRODUCTION IN MAMMALS AND MODERN HUMANS OVER THE LIFE COURSE: OPPORTUNITY CONFLICTS BETWEEN MATING	
AND PARENTING	. 28
THE TENDENCY TO ABORT AN UNEXPECTED PREGNANCY AS MEASURE OF	
CURRENT WILLINGNESS TO BECOME A PARENT	.33
INDEPENDENT VARIABLES AND HYPOTHESES OF PART II 1. The desire for multiple sex partners (promiscuity) as motivational	.37
adaptation	. 37
2. Physical attractiveness as a moderator of mating motivation	. 42 11
5. Fondness for chuaren as a monvanonal adaptation	. 44
WIE I HODS	.40
GENERAL PROCEDURE	. 46
MIEASURES OF ATTRACTIVENESS	. 49
VALIDITY OF THE TENDENCY TO ABORT AS A MEASURE OF THE	. 33
WILLINGNESS TO DECOME A PARENT	. 50
STATISTICAL ANALTSIS	. 63
RESULTS OF PART I: PHYSICAL ATTRACTIVENESS AND	
MATING BEHAVIOR	. 65
A) THE ROLE OF ATTRACTIVENESS FOR MATING SUCCESS AND	
PROMISCUITY	. 65
B) THE ROLE OF ATTRACTIVENESS IN ROMANTIC RELATIONSHIPS	. 70
DISCUSSION OF PART I:	.76

RESULTS OF PART II: PROMISCUITY, ATTRACTIVENESS, AND WILLINGNESS TO BECOME A PARENT	81
A) BIVARIATE ANALYSES	81
B) MULTIPLE REGRESSION ANALYSIS	85
DISCUSSION OF PART II:	89
PROMISCUITY AND THE TENDENCY TO ABORT	89
PHYSICAL ATTRACTIVENESS AND THE TENDENCY TO ABORT	91
FONDNESS FOR CHILDREN AND THE TENDENCY TO ABORT	94
Implications for research on abortion and fertility behavior	95
GENERAL DISCUSSION	100
CONCLUSION	106
CONCLUSION REFERENCES	106 107
CONCLUSION REFERENCES SUMMARY	106 107 130
CONCLUSION REFERENCES SUMMARY ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	106 107 130 136
CONCLUSION REFERENCES SUMMARY ZUSAMMENFASSUNG APPENDIX	106 107 130 136 143

Foreword

The current study is an attempt to extend the role of evolutionary theory for studying human fertility behavior. Virtually all evolutionary studies on this subject have used rational choice models that optimize individual fitness returns. Although this approach has been widely criticized on theoretical grounds (see General Introduction), alternative evolutionary approaches with an organismic perspective so far have not been applied to studying human fertility behavior. Here I used the heuristic framework provided by John Tooby and Leda Cosmides (1992) together with the theory of cultural inheritance by Robert Boyd and Peter Richerson (1985, 2004) to investigate one particular component of fertility behavior, namely, the decision of yet childless women and men to (not yet) become a parent. In particular, I asked how this decision relates to reproductively relevant factors like attractiveness and promiscuity, but also to fondness for children, given that we live in an era of effective contraception. My conclusion is that current human fertility behavior is maladaptive (in the evolutionary sense of the meaning) and that future evolutionary research should approach the topic accordingly.

The primary goal of this study was to establish compatibility between evolutionary theory on the one hand and modern human fertility behavior on the other. Thus, the study will primarily be of interest to readers interested in evolutionary research on human behavior in general and on mating and fertility behavior in particular. However, I hope it will also catch the attention of those readers seeking to understand the recent negative demographic trends in Germany and many other countries. Germany's population is on the decline (Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland, 2003). In recent decades, women's average age at first child in Germany has increased to 29 years in 2001, and of the 1965 cohort, about 30% of the women will remain childless (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend, 2003)¹. There is no doubt that this

i

trend was made possible only with the development of and supply with modern contraceptives such as "the pill". However, our understanding of how contraceptive choices are made is still incomplete. With this study I hope to point out some pathways for finding answers to this question.

Readers may note that in the main text, I avoided the use of words that refer to scientific disciplines, that is, words that end on –ology, –nomy, –ological, –nomic, etc. In my view, the use of disciplinary labels hampers scientific progress by reinforcing an "ethnic divide" among researchers and by blurring scientists view on reality. Therefore, I agree with Harmon Holcomb III, who wrote:

"It is a category mistake to treat disciplinary distinctions as having ontological significance. ... Relations among fields are artificial and conventional, not natural kinds. Expectation of deeply revealing answers to questions about disciplinary relations is rooted in the naïve realism that what exists is divided up in the same way in which we organize our thought." (Holcomb, 1995, p. 307)

Finally, a disclaimer: This study is intended solely as a contribution to scientific descriptions of parts of reality, but not as a guideline to the ethics or morals of reproduction. Even though I sometimes refer to the relationships between social norms and reproduction, these do not reflect my ethical understanding of responsible sexual and childbearing behavior.

Acknowledgements

This research project depended on support from a number of people to whom I would like to express my gratitude. Eckart Ficker, Sebiya Gündüz, Sonja Nellen, and Iris Vancloster recruited most of the participants. Johannes Hönekopp kindly provided his self-made rating program for rating facial attractiveness. Anke Prasse entered parts of the data. Department secretary Regina Simmes was of great help in organizing my work. Detlef Fetchenhauer, Martin Hänze, Axel Leybold and Sabine Hoier reviewed and commented on earlier versions of the manuscript. Thanks also to Gretchen Vogel who – being a native speaker of American English and a science journalist – more than once proofread the manuscript with a critical eye. As colleagues at the psychology department, Martin Hänze, Jürgen Otto, Michael Pape, Peter Schima, Elke Döring-Seipel, and Eckart Stephan provided helpful advice and were cooperative in recruiting participants. In particular, I benefited from the cooperation with my fellow PhD student and friend Sabine Hoier in several research projects, in teaching and in every day life at the psychology department. Finally, I am grateful to my supervisor Harald Euler for his support in various projects, for providing me with an environment of intellectual creativity and for innumerable insightful discussions.

General introduction

The recent years have witnessed a marked rise in the number of studies taking an evolutionary perspective on human behavior (Buss, 1999; Cartwright, 2000; Gaulin & McBurney, 2001; Barret et al., 2002; Palmer & Palmer, 2002). What unites researchers engaging in this new branch of science is the view that the study of human behavior cannot be reasonably excepted from the application of evolutionary theory, which has proved to be so fruitful in the study of other species. This surge of new research was largely a result of new theoretical propositions made in the sixties and seventies that, together with older concepts, were recast into a single overarching framework for studying animal behavior by Edward O. Wilson (1975). Among the theoretical innovations, all of which are extensions of Darwin's (1859, 1871) and Wallace's (Darwin & Wallace, 1858) original theory of evolution by natural selection, the most influential were Hamilton's (1963) theory of kin selection and Trivers' (1972) theory of parental investment and sexual selection. Hypotheses derived from these theories have been tested and were generally confirmed in studies on both nonhumans and humans (see Segerstråle, 2000 for a historical account; Holcomb III, 1995; 1996; 2001 for a theory of science evaluation of evolutionary research on human behavior).

However, although evolutionary researchers generally share the above mentioned theoretical framework, there is a longstanding controversy between two groups of researchers of human behavior over what constitutes an appropriate evolutionary analysis of behavior. In particular, the controversy centers on what should be the relevant outcome measures when testing evolutionary hypotheses. One party emphasizes the determinants of reproductive success, usually the number of (surviving) children, as an outcome measure and considers mainly environmental factors as determinants. The organism's evolved cognitive and emotional adaptations are largely neglected, but it is assumed that the organism acts in any environment so as to maximize its reproductive success by trading the quantity of offspring for their quality. For this reason, this approach is sometimes referred to as the "Fitness Maximization Approach" (FMA; Tooby & Cosmides, 1992). When reproductive success could not be successfully predicted from the environmental inputs, FMA researchers usually revise their assumptions about the cost/benefit functions or considered variables and then put these revised models to test again. An important drawback of the FMA is that it is unable to recognize maladaptive behavior as such, because such behavior is not assumed to occur.

The other party involved in the controversy prefers the "adaptation execution approach" (AEA; Tooby & Cosmides, 1992) to the FMA. These researchers argue that for explaining current behavior differential reproductive success is relevant only as *past* selective force that shaped the adaptations whose action we observe in organisms today. To advocates of the AEA, successful reproduction is the likely outcome of a long behavioral sequence, during the course of which various specific adaptations guide the organism toward reaching specific proximate goals. Current reproductive outcomes are considered informative only as they throw light on the functional design of particular adaptations. In themselves, however, reproductive outcomes are, as behavioral outcomes, too highly aggregated to be informative within an evolutionary functional analysis of adaptations (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990, 1992, see glossary)². Instead, AEA researchers use evolutionary theory to obtain a better understanding of the natural history and design of these adaptations and to predict behavioral outcomes based on this knowledge. Research progress within the AEA is thus largely independent of the observation of maximized reproductive outcomes and current selection, because any behavioral outcome, adaptive or maladaptive, is regarded as informative as to the interaction between evolved design and current environmental inputs

(see Daly & Wilson, 1999; 2000; Smith et al., 2000; 2001 for a recent exchange among advocates of the two approaches). Although the debate seems to be in the process of settling, the demarcations of the two subcultures of evolutionary science are still prominent and, as I shall argue below, have implications for the study of maladaptive behavior in modern humans.

The different views of the two parties are reflected in further details of their research practice. AEA researchers usually study humans (overwhelmingly university students) from modern Western cultures whereas FMA researchers usually prefer to study traditional cultures from nonindustrialized countries. When testing hypotheses derived from sexual selection theory, AEA researchers prefer diverse outcome measures pertaining to the earlier stages of the behavioral sequence that leads to successful reproduction, such as preferences for diverse mate choice criteria, the desire for multiple partners, status striving or past sexual behavior as a measure of differential mating success. In contrast, FMA researchers prefer directly observable outcome measures at the later stages of reproduction, such as the number of wives or, preferably, the number of (surviving) children. There is an overlap at the level of mating success, but FMA researchers tend to view mating success as a proxy to the expected number of offspring, whereas AEA researchers tend to view it as proof for the effectiveness of functionally antecedent adaptations.

The hidden borderline that keeps these two cultures of research practice apart is, I propose, contraception. AEA researchers study the process of mating up to sexual intercourse in cultures with access to effective and easy to use contraceptives, whereas FMA researchers study the observable outcome of unobserved sexual behavior – the number of children – in cultures with little or no contraception practiced. The consequence of this schism is that the closely related topics of contraception,

fertility decisions, and fertility behavior of humans in industrialized countries are virtually excluded from evolutionary analysis³.

Apparently Pérusse (1993) carried out the – to my knowledge – only study that crossed the gulf between the two cultures of research practice. He showed for a sample of Canadian men that – in agreement with sexual selection theory (Trivers, 1972) - male social status was positively correlated with mating success, but that there was no correlation between men's social status and the number of children they had. By recording two different proxies of genic fitness (mating success and number of offspring), Pérusse was able to show that in his sample the mechanisms involved in mating were still functionally coordinated with the environment, but that this coordination broke down between mating and fertilization. As "novel environment explanations" for this finding, Pérusse proposed "modern contraception" and the "social imposition and legal enforcement of monogamy". His study is still frequently cited as the only one to demonstrate the breakdown of the reproductive sequence in a modern environment and to consider this breakdown a phenomenon in need of explanation. What makes his study so convincing is that, unlike most other evolutionary studies, Pérusse assessed not only one, but two consecutive steps in the behavioral sequence of reproduction, namely mating behavior and completed fertility, in the same sample.⁴ This enabled him to detect and forced him to interpret these apparently contradictory results⁵.

To this date, no followup studies have been published in response to Pérusse's study that investigated the processes leading to the disconnection between male social status, or any other fitness trait, and reproductive success⁶. One reason for this may be that, because Pérusse found no correlation between male social status and the number of children, there appears to be no functional pattern worth scrutinizing. Contraception just seems to destroy any systematic link between mating and reproduction. However, this conclusion is premature for the following reason: When

basic predictions derived from an otherwise well-supported evolutionary theory fail to be confirmed by the evidence, an evolutionary functional analysis is not completed with the mere identification of the environmental factors involved in causing the predictive failure. Instead, the analysis must include these factors and derive a new prediction based on the knowledge of the functional design of the involved adaptations (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992). In Pérusses study, one environmental factor that was proposed to disrupt the link between male social status and reproductive success is contraception. To be sure, the widespread use of contraception is a central part of, but cannot suffice as an explanation, because the underlying decision rules of contraceptive behavior remain unknown. The conscious control of reproduction is made possible only by means of contraception. Their use shifts the relative significance for causing fertilization from the lustful act of sexual intercourse to the deliberate act of "reproductive intentionality", which is tantamount to the decision to (dis)continue contraception. But what determines the deliberate decision to quit contraception? It is these decision rules that need to be investigated to fully explain the observed maladaptive behavior and to reconcile it with the assumptions of evolutionary theory. In other words, the link between evolutionary theory and behavioral outcomes is adaptive design (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992).

The current study contributes to an evolutionary analysis of modern humans' reproductive fertility behavior by investigating the roles of promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children. Based on the assumption that the current fertility behavior in Germany is maladaptive (see below), the study is framed within the AEA. The current study is divided into two steps. In Part I, I will investigate the relation between physical attractiveness as a compontent of mate value on the one hand and various measures of sexual behavior and attitudes on the other. I will begin with a short review of the evidence for the perception of facial

attractiveness as an adaptation. In the empirical part, the first general prediction is that attractiveness enhances both mating success and promiscuous attitudes, as has been documented before in several other studies. The second general prediction is that within romantic relationships, attractiveness will have a disruptive effect, because of the increased mating opportunities of highly attractive individuals. Part I can be viewed as a study that stands for itself. However, at the same time its results will serve to strengthen the conclusions about the maladaptiveness of postponed parenthood in Part II.

In Part II, I will investigate the effects of promiscuity, attractiveness, and attitudes towards children on the subjects' willingness to become a parent. I will argue that in our modern society, motivational systems that are relevant during the mating phase still affect – at least potentially – reproductive outcomes, but in opposite direction of what general sexual selection theory predicts, that is, maladaptively. After a general introduction to the study of maladaptive behavior in humans, I will derive criteria for an evolutionary analysis of human maladaptive behavior and apply them to modern contraception as a culturally transmitted behavioral phenomenon. Two features make contraception a candidate for a maladaptive cultural trait. First, at the level of its consequences, contraception is obviously maladaptive because of its extremely negative effects on human reproductive outcomes in the study population. Second, at the level of the underlying mechanisms, contraception is considered maladaptive, because unlike in the evolutionary past, mating decisions are no longer tantamount to childbearing decisions. Instead, for reproduction to ensue, the contraception routine must be ended by conscious deliberation, the outcome of which may be influenced by potentially many motivational factors – including adaptations – the subject may or may not be consciously aware of. For a complete evolutionary analysis of maladaptive behavior these factors need to be identified.

Decisions are based on preferences, and decisions based on conflicting preferences are generally associated with opportunity costs. When preferences differ between individuals, the perceived opportunity costs associated with a particular decision will also differ between individuals. If these general considerations are true, they should apply to fertility decisions, too, including the decision to become a first-time parent. Hence I predicted that both promiscuity and attractiveness should have a negative impact on the willingness to become a parent, because the perceived opportunity costs of parenthood are assumed to be higher for highly promiscuous people compared to less promiscuous people, and are assumed to be higher for highly attractive compared to less attractive people.

As a third predictor of the willingness to become a parent I then introduce fondness for children, which in the evolutionary past probably acted as an adaptation to prepare people (at least women) for their future parental tasks, but which probably did not affect fertility outcomes by motivating people (women in particular) to sire children. Based on these assumptions, I will argue that it is only in the age of effective contraception that interest in children may have become a major motivation for becoming a parent. Again, this effect can be described as maladaptive, even though it has a net positive effect on fertility.

For testing these hypotheses, I introduce a measure of the current individual willingness to become a parent, the so-called "individual tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy". This measure is the rating on a 5-point scale in response to the question what the participant would prefer to do, if they (or their partner) became pregnant today. Figure 1 provides an overview over the research questions and hypothesis addressed in the empirical parts of Part I and Part II.



Figure 1. General study design and main hypotheses. – Shown are the predicted relationships (signs of correlation coefficients) between the variables. The black arrows indicate the relationships investigated in Part I, the grey arrows indicate relationships investigated in Part II of the study.

Introduction Part I: Physical attractiveness in the mating context

The aim of this part of the study is to investigate the relationship between three measures of attractiveness (facial attractiveness, self-rated attractiveness, and the bodymass index) and various measures of sexual behavior and attitudes. The assumption is that the mechanisms involved in perceiving and evaluating attractiveness are still functionally linked to the social environment as they were in the evolutionary past. Hence, it is predicted that physical attractiveness should have a positive effect on mating success and promiscuous attitudes and a negative effect on the exclusiveness and stability of romantic relationships. In this introduction I will first provide a brief overview of the evidence that the perception of attractiveness is an evolved adaptation before I turn to the hypothesized effects in the mating context.

Part I can be read as a study in itself by those readers whose interest focuses on attractiveness and mating behavior. At the same time, this part of the study provides the empirical and some of the theoretical precondition for Part II, where I will investigate the effects of attractiveness and promiscuity on the willingness to become a parent.

Components of physical attractiveness as evolved indicators

To humans all over the world attractiveness is an important mate choice criterion (Buss, 1989), and there seems to be a universally shared intuitive concept of at least facial attractiveness (Cunningham et al., 1995; Grammer et al., 2003). In recent years, researchers have addressed the question of which physical traits contribute to physical attractiveness, whether they can count as sexually selected traits (Darwin, 1871; Andersson, 1994) and what the variability in their expression may reveal about their bearers (Fink & Penton-Voak, 2002). As a mate choice criterion, physical attractiveness has been studied intensively in two ways. First, by investigating preferences for variable visual stimuli (e.g., Lavrakas, 1975; Cunningham et al., 1990;

Grammer & Thornhill, 1994; Maisey et al., 1999, Tovée et al., 1999; Streeter & McBurney, 2003; Grammer et al., 2003; Rhodes, & Zebrovitz, 2003) and second by investigating self-reports of desired mate characteristics (e.g., Buss, 1989; Oda, 2002). What evidence is there that not only the perception of attractiveness, but also the processes creating variability in attractiveness are evolved adaptations? In this study, I will use three measures of physical attractiveness, namely expert-rated facial attractiveness, self-rated attractiveness and the bodymass index (BMI). Of these measures, facial attractiveness as a component of overall physical attractiveness is the most objective and intensively studied one, followed by the BMI. Here I will briefly review the current state of the evidence for facial attractiveness and the BMI as mate choice criteria and for their likely signaling value.

1. Facial attractiveness: An indicator of MHC-heterozygosity?

What makes a face attractive? One well-established feature is averageness (Langlois & Roggman, 1990; Rubenstein et al., 2003). When photographs of faces of variable attractiveness are superimposed, the resulting face is more attractive than most of the original faces. To explain why averageness should be a preferred feature, two potentially compatible explanations have been proposed (Rubenstein et al., 2003). The first is that humans have a general attraction to prototypical exemplars of any category, and that their attraction to average faces is a reflection of this more general preference. The prototype as a cognitive representation is assumed to develop by observation and intuitive "averaging" of encountered exemplars of a category. Rubenstein et al. (1999) found evidence for this learning process in a study on six-months old infants. According to the prototype explanation then, the perception and evaluation of attractiveness is not a specialized mechanism for mate choice, but a general cognitive mechanism that is independent of the context. However, the prototype explanation is

also compatible with a second explanation for the fact why average faces are attractive. This explanation is based on sexual selection theory and the assumption of a special significance of attractiveness for adaptive mate choice. Current theory assumes that the adaptive value of sexual recombination lies in decreasing the evolutionary tractability of the organism by parasites (Maynard Smith, 1978; Trivers, 1983). The life cycle of parasites such as viruses or certain protozoans are considerably shorter than the life cycles of their hosts, so that parasites have an evolutionary advantage with respect to potential adaptability to the host's defenses. In this situation, the hosts may be selected to enhance their genic diversity by preferring mates bearing signs of particularly high degrees of heterozygosity (Gangestad & Buss, 1993; Brown, 1997; Foerster et al., 2003; Seddon et al., 2004). Such heterozygous individuals are expected to develop features that are close to the population average because they are best able to cope with developmental perturbations induced by pathogens. In other words, the preference for prototypes may be a reliable guide to finding genically superior partners. The selection pressure for choosing heterozygous partners should be particularly high with respect to those genes that are most directly involved in the immune system. Indeed, there is evidence for several mammalian species that genes belonging to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC, a complex of spatially clumped immunogenic genes) play a role in mate choice, usually mediated by olfactory cues (Penn & Potts, 1999; Penn et al., 2002). And there is also evidence for MHC-dependent olfactory partner preferences in humans where individuals with dissimilar MHC-genes were preferred over more MHC-similar individuals (Wedekind et al., 1995; Wedekind & Füri, 1997; Eggert et al., 1998; Thornhill et al., 2003). Recently, Roberts et al. (2005) for the first time established a link between facial attractiveness and a measure of genic quality, heterozygosity. They found that individual MHCheterozygosity was associated with both facial attractiveness and skin texture and that this preference was independent of the degree of MHCsimilarity between subject and target. Furthermore, if the heterozygosity model of facial attractiveness is correct, we would expect 1. perceived facial attractiveness to be positively correlated with perceived health and 2. facial attractiveness to be positively correlated with variables that are indicative of general health and viability. Indeed, several studies have shown that perceived attractiveness and health are positively correlated (Kalick et al., 1998; Jones et al., 2001; Rhodes et al., 2003), and a recent study found that facial attractiveness was positively correlated with longevity (Henderson & Anglin, 2003). However, taken together the evidence for an association between attractiveness and objective measures of health is mixed (reviewed in Rubenstein et al., 2003).

It seems certain that averageness is an important, maybe the most important, determinant of facial attractiveness. The degree to which deviations from perfect averageness (Rubenstein et al., 2003) and facial symmetry (Perrett et al., 1999) contribute to attractiveness is currently being studied (reviewed in Grammer et al., 2003; Rhodes & Zebrovitz, 2003). For the current discussion it suffices to note that, based on the current state of the evidence, facial attractiveness conveys information about the sender's health, possibly due to heterozygosity within the MHC or other regions of the genome (Fink & Penton-Voak, 2002). Based on this evidence and the finding that there is a universally shared standard of facial attractiveness (see above), both the mechanisms creating the variability in facial attractiveness and the mechanisms involved in the perception of facial attractiveness can be formulated as an adaptive signaling system (Weaver & Shannon, 1949). From the sender's perspective, facial attractiveness is the outcome of a reliably developing encoding system that translates the information contained in individually variable degrees of MHC-heterozygosis into an individually variable expression of visible higher-level traits such as skin texture or facial shape. From the receiver's perspective, perceived facial attractiveness is the outcome of a reliably developing decoding system, specifically designed to decode and evaluate the variable expression of the sender's MHC-linked traits. According to this perspective, the sender's encoding system and the receiver's decoding system are adaptations that coevolved, that is, they acted as each other's selective agency.

2. The bodymass index as a component of physical attractiveness

The bodymass index (BMI) is a measure of body weight controlled for height and is calculated as body weight (kg)/height (m)². It approximates body fat content and body shape. Attractiveness ratings as a function of BMI peak at intermediate BMI values, but the function is asymmetric, falling more steeply from the most attractive BMI to very low BMI than from the most attractive BMI to higher BMI (Maisey et al., 1999; Tovée & Cornelissen, 2001; Tovée et al., 2002). Compared to facial attractiveness, the BMI is much less studied as a mate choice criterion and even less studied are its effects on actual mating behavior. At least in Western societies, the BMI affects attractiveness of both female and male targets (Singh & Young, 1995; Maisey et al., 1999; Tovée & Cornelissen, 2001; Singh, 2002) and also affects mating success, at least in women (Halpern et al., 1999; Hume & Montgomerie, 2001; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001).

Why should both women and men have a preference for partners with an intermediate BMI? Clearly, the medical literature is replete with evidence for diverse detrimental health effects of both too low and too high body weight (Winkelgren, 1998). Maybe even more important from an evolutionary perspective is the finding that at least women of both very low and very high body weight have a decreased likelihood of conceiving compared to normal weight women (Frisch, 2002). Thus, it is plausible that at least the male preference for women of intermediate BMI represents an adaptation guiding men to a fecund partner.

Physical attractiveness as a predictor of sexual behavior and attitudes

While researchers have fruitfully modeled various physical characteristics as sexually selected traits that signal genotypic or phenotypic (Barber, 1995; Shackelford & Larsen, 1999; Langlois et al., 2000; Jones et al., 2001; Fink & Penton-Voak, 2002; Henderson & Anglin, 2003), there are surprisingly few studies that look at the effect of these traits on individual mating success and sexual attitudes. A recent review of studies on the effect of attractiveness on various behavioral contexts listed only six references relating to sexual behavior (Langlois et al., 2000), and only a few studies have appeared thereafter (see below). In Part I of this study, I will present data on three measures of attractiveness – facial attractiveness, self-rated attractiveness, and the bodymass index – and their effect on various measures of mating behavior and attitudes.

In humans' evolutionary past, physical attractiveness probably had a positive effect on individual mating success and thereby on reproductive success⁷. Highly attractive individuals were able to mate earlier and with larger numbers of opposite-sex partners than less attractive individuals were. At the same time, attractiveness probably had a disruptive effect on the stability and exclusiveness of romantic relationships, because of the many mating opportunities that present themselves to highly attractive individuals (Gangestad & Thornhill, 1997b).

In modern individualized societies, an individual's opportunity to choose sex partners according to his or her preferences is still present, if not enhanced by factors like increased mobility, effective contraception, and a change in values as a result of the sexual revolution (Allyn, 2000). Thus, there is no reason to believe that the link between physical attractiveness and mating should be disconnected. Hence, the predictions are the same as they would be for a generalized humankind in an idealized environment of evolutionary adaptedness: physical attractiveness is positively correlated with mating success and promiscuity and has a disruptive effect on the exclusiveness and stability of romantic relationships.

There are at least two processes that may lead to a positive correlation between physical attractiveness and sexual behavior and attitudes. First, highly attractive people obviously should have more mating opportunities than less attractive people should because potential sex partners (Langlois et al., 2000) approach them more often. Second, the perception of having many versus few mating opportunities may have an impact on an individual's sexual experiences and attitudes with the consequence that attractiveness will be positively correlated with promiscuous attitudes. However, it must be noted that a genic correlation between attractiveness and promiscuous attitudes is also possible and cannot be ruled out based on the current study design.

But there are also arguments speaking against the general prediction of a positive correlation between attractiveness and mating behavior or attitudes. For example, there may be sex differences in the strength, direction or shape of the relationship. Walsh (1993) predicted and found that whereas the correlation between self-rated attractiveness and the number of sex partners should be positive for men, it should be negative for women, because "unattractive women (or at least women who see themselves as such) may feel more strongly that they must bend to male demands than will attractive women. On the other hand, male attractiveness should operate to enhance their confidence in the pursuit of their sexual goals." This argument rests on the assumption of a sex difference in promiscuity (see introduction ofPart II). Based on a similar argument Pashos and Niemitz (2003) predicted and found an inversely U-shaped relationship between women's facial attractiveness and number of sex partners.

General hypotheses: A) I predicted that the three measures of physical attractiveness would be positively correlated with measures of mating success and promiscuity. B) Within romantic relationships attractiveness is predicted to have a disruptive effect on the stability and exclusiveness of romantic relationships (Figure 1). (The specific hypotheses are listed in the Results section.)

A note on the use of the terms "mating success" and "promiscuity" is necessary here. Inter-individual variation in mating outcomes like the lifetime number of sex partners is the result of both extrinsic and intrinsic motivational factors. The extrinsic factor explicitely studied here is the sexual response of opposite sex individuals to the participants' physical attractiveness; the intrinsic factor is inter-individual variation in promiscuous attitude. Inasmuch as mating outcomes are determined by individual attractiveness they will be referred to as "mating success". On the other hand, when mating outcomes are determined by individual attitudes they will be referred to as "the desire for multiple sex partners" or, for short, "promiscuity".

Introduction Part II: Promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children as predictors of the willingness to become a parent

In the introduction of Part I, the general prediction was that attractiveness and promiscuity should be positively correlated. This prediction assumes a current adaptive functioning of the adaptations involved in translating mate value into mating success. The aim of this part of the study is to investigate how promiscuity and physical attractiveness, and, in addition, attitudes towards children relate to the willingness to become a parent. The general prediction is that the effects of promiscuity, attractiveness, and interest in children are maladaptive in the sense described further below. Specifically, both promiscuity and attractiveness were predicted to have a negative and thus maladaptive effect on individual willingness to become a parent. Fondness for children was predicted to have a positive effect, but since this is unlikely to be the original function of this trait, this positive effect must be categorized as a mismatch with the modern environment. But before I turn to the details of the second part of this study, it is necessary to provide the reader with a brief introduction on the study of maladaptiveness in general and in humans in particular.

Maladaptive behavior in modern humans

Reproduction is a sequential process of behavioral events that result from an interaction between evolved mechanisms and the ontogenic environment. At each step of this process, different – and more or less modular – adaptations (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990, 1992) that respond to the environmental cue structure are at work. If the current cue structure deviates significantly from the ancestral one, the linkage between adaptations and adaptive outcomes may break down to any degree, thereby creating more or less harmful mismatches. The observed behavior would then be "maladaptive" (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990). In this study I will use the term "mismatch" (Gaulin & McBurney, 2001) to characterize any kind of mismatch between organism and environment irrespective of its somatic or reproductive consequences, whereas I will refer to "maladaptiveness" to mean a mismatch that does affect individual health, longevity, or reproductive output.

Researchers studying modern humans from an evolutionary perspective have suggested several candidates of maladaptive behavior in modern humans, mostly behaviors that affect health (e.g., Nesse & Williams, 1994). However, a look into the recent textbooks of evolutionary research on human behavior reveals that the vast majority of studies are concerned with the identification of evolved adaptations and adaptive rather than maladaptive behavior (Buss, 1999; Cartwright, 2000; Gaulin & McBurney, 2001; Barret et al., 2002; Palmer & Palmer, 2002). And whereas criteria for the systematic identification of adaptations have been proposed (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992), few guidelines for the systematic identification of maladaptiveness are available (Boyd & Richerson, 1985; Tooby & Cosmides, 1990; Crawford, 1997; Gaulin & McBurney, 2001; Richerson & Boyd, 2004), and none of them is commonly referred to. Similarly, definitions of adaptations are frequently provided in textbooks (with reference to Williams, 1966, and Tooby & Cosmides, 1992), but a commonly shared definition for maladaptiveness seems to be missing. This seeming lack of interest in studying maladaptiveness may be partly explained with a general preference bias among researchers. Adaptive behavior is more directly related to the logic of general evolutionary theory and thus may provide the rewarding feelings of theory confirmation. However, the systematic study of maladaptive behavior should not be much different from an evolutionary functional analysis to identify adaptations; if there are reliable criteria for identifying adaptations, it follows that it should be possible to set up equally reliable criteria for identifying maladaptiveness (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990, 1992). Moreover, setting up hypotheses about maladaptive behavior can also help to understand the

architecture of the adaptive design that brings about this behavior, because "... every behavior, adaptive or maladaptive, is the product of adaptations (or other linked aspects of underlying design) and hence is patterned by the structure of those adaptations" (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990, p. 401).

After a review of the literature, I identified two main approaches to studying human maladaptive behavior that may be fruitfully combined into a general framework. The first approach is a logical derivation from the already mentioned evolutionary functional analysis of adaptations by Tooby and Cosmides (1990, 1992). Their approach is applicable to any species. The second approach is that of Boyd and Richerson (1985; Richerson & Boyd, 2004). It is specifically applicable to humans and considers human capacity for culture as the primary source of maladaptive behavior. Here I will provide a brief introduction to the two approaches and suggest that they should be integrated into a general framework to studying human maladaptive behavior.

The approach by Tooby and Cosmides for characterizing adaptations (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992, p. 73-75) is centered on the organism and its linkage to the environment. In their approach the past environment is the selective agent that caused the evolution of the adaptation under study. Two assumptions about the environment are important: First, the selectively relevant aspects of the environment are those that are recurrent over many generations. Single short-term changes in the environment cannot lead to genic evolutionary change. Second, it is not explicitly assumed that the study organism itself may have acted to change this environment in a way that affects the linkage between organism and its environmental cue structure.

Although Tooby and Cosmides repeatedly mention the principal applicability of their functional analysis to the study of maladaptive behavior, they do not provide general criteria as they do for the characterization of adaptations. Here I attempt to derive such criteria for

the identification and characterization of maladaptive behavior from the logic of Tooby's and Cosmides' "evolutionary functional analysis" (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992, p. 73-75, see glossary):

To characterize a behavior as maladaptive one must 1. identify the involved adaptations (following the evolutionary functional analysis after Tooby and Cosmides, 1992), 2. identify the involved environmental input and describe its deviation from ancestral environmental inputs, 3. describe the process or history that created the mismatch between adaptation and environment, and 4. show that the mismatch produces an outcome that deviates systematically from the adaptive developmental reaction norm of the study species⁸.

and historically earlier, approach to studying The second. maladaptive behavior in humans is that proposed by Boyd and Richerson (1985; Richerson & Boyd, 2004). These authors are dedicated to studying the evolutionary causes of human capacity for culture and the interactions between genic and cultural evolution. Culture is defined as "... the transmission from one generation to the next via teaching and imitation, of knowledge, values, and other factors that influence behavior" (Boyd & Richerson, 1985, p. 2). In brief, the logic of the theory is this: For culture to emerge in the course of human evolution, it must have conferred a reproductive advantage over non-cultural ancestors, and the underlying adaptations must be the result of genic selection. Precultural ancestors were very likely equipped with a reasonable capacity for inferential and associative learning that increased individual adaptability to rapidly changing environments. However, individual learning is associated with costs of trial and error in terms of time, energy, and the risk associated with error. In addition, the individually acquired knowledge is lost with the death of the innovator. Learning by observation (imitation; Bandura, 1977)

solves these problems by simply "assuming" that the behavior of conspecifics is adaptive in the current environment. In a process of cultural inheritance innovations can be passed along from the inventors to the following generations to become a cultural trait that is eventually shared by all individuals of the population and possibly over many generations. A second effect is that innovations can accumulate over generations meaning that the process of trial and error learning is not limited to an individual's lifetime anymore, but is extended over generations generally leading to an ever better fit between a cultural trait and the population's environment (see also McDougall, 1908). As an example, consider the canoe of the Inuit "Eskimos" (Richerson & Boyd, 2004). It is a sophisticated cultural trait, which evolved in response to the arctic environment and which was almost certainly not the invention of a single early settler, but rather is the result of repeated improvements made over the generations. Each generation's innovators did not have to start from scratch, because he had already inherited from the older generation the knowledge of how to make a traditional Inuit canoe.

For this process of cultural adaptation to function, there must be specific organismic adaptations at work. The maybe most important component is a human motivation to imitate the behavior of others, that is, to learn by observation (Bandura, 1977), and to choose models whose behavior is particularly likely to confer advantages (McDougall, 1908; Henrich & Gil-White, 2001). However, like individual learning through trial and error, learning by imitation has its potential costs (Boyd & Richerson, 1985; Richerson & Boyd, 2004). As mentioned above, the adaptive value of social learning rests on the individual's "assumption" that the behaviors displayed by either a critical mass of ingroup individuals or by individuals of particular significance are advantageous to the imitator. There are strong limits to critical checks of cultural traits because this would reintroduce the costs of an individual learning process that made social learning superior, on average, in the first place. In other words, the far-reaching openness of the human individual to adopting cultural variants from ingroup conspecifics makes populations vulnerable to the adoption of cultural variants that are maladaptive. Examples for maladaptive ideas are superstitions of all kinds including ones that are downright harmful to the individual (by modern scientific standards) such as the use of highly toxic arsenic compounds or the practice of blood letting as medical treatment. Very likely maladaptive ideas have been transmitted along with adaptive ones from the very beginning of human culture, but on average the adaptive value of cultural transmission must have been higher than its maladaptive effects. During early human history the rate of innovation was low compared to modern standards so that cultural traits were transmitted predominantly between generations, that is vertically, with the consequence that cultural inheritance generally paralleled genic inheritance. Therefore, cultural transmission increased and maintained the adaptability of genically very similar human populations to ecologically very diverse environments all over the globe. However, comparatively recent developments in cultural evolution have led to an increased significance of horizontal, withingeneration cultural transmission compared to vertical transmission that facilitated the spread of maladaptive cultural traits. Among the most important steps in this development were the inventions of writing, and eventually mass printing, as well as transport and communication technologies. The virtually unlimited distribution of printed ideas creates a huge diversity and number of impersonal cultural models whose ideas can be selectively adopted and modified. As a consequence, culture's original function of increasing a genic lineage's adaptability to a particular natural environment lost importance. Through intensified cultural evolution, humans increasingly turned their predominantly natural environment into a predominantly cultural environment.

Of the two approaches to studying maladaptiveness, the approach by Tooby and Cosmides more closely reflects the prevailing view among evolutionary researchers of behavior, as indicated by the fact that only one of the five above cited textbooks (Barret et al., 2002) refers to the work of Boyd and Richerson (1985), but all refer to Tooby and Cosmides (1992). However, the two approaches are not mutually exclusive and can be integrated into one. In the current study, I will consider culture as a factor within a framework I will here refer to as "evolutionary malfunctional analysis of human behavior".

In summary, the general approach for identifying adaptations proposed by Tooby and Cosmides (1992) can be usefully applied across species to identify mismatches and maladaptive behavior. However, when applied to humans it is necessary to routinely consider culture as the process that will be almost always involved in causing the mismatches between environment and phylogenically older adaptations (Boyd & Richerson, 1985)⁹. It should be born in mind that the theory of Boyd and Richerson (1985) is itself based on an evolutionary functional analysis of adaptation, if not explicitly so. In the following paragraphs, I will apply the criteria of maladaptive behavior to contraception including induced abortion.

Contraception as maladaptive behavior

Any study of maladaptiveness must identify the mechanism-environment mismatch and then consider the possible consequences for both somatic and reproductive functioning. These consequences may differ from case to case. For example, a mismatch between mechanism and environment may remain without consequences to the functioning and longevity of the soma and without reproductive consequences. An example is the failure of the human visual system to maintain color constancy under sodium vapor lights (Shepard, 1992). In other cases, a mismatch that entails somatic costs may still be without consequences at the level of reproduction. An example may be modern nutritional behavior, which deviates strongly from that of ancestral times, such as the consumption of large amounts of carbonhydrates and fat (Nesse & Williams, 1994). Although detrimental to the longevity of the soma, unhealthy nutritional habits may – within limits - have little effect on the reproductive output, because they exert most of their harmful effects only in the post-reproductive period (Nesse & Williams, 1994). Often, however, a mismatch that entails costs at the somatic level entails consequences at the level of reproduction. For example, many addictive drugs such as alcohol have detrimental side effects at the somatic level that may frequently lead to premature death or directly interfere with reproductive functioning by causing miscarriages. Finally, there may mismatches between the human organism and the environment that entail costs at the level of reproduction but not at the level of somatic functioning and longevity. Modern contraception, I propose, is such a mismatch. Although possible detrimental effects of oral contraceptives continue to be a matter of concern (Nass & Strauss, 2004), it is clear that the very intention underlying all contraceptive efforts is to interfere temporarily with the functioning of the germ line without interfering with somatic functioning (e.g., copulatory behavior) and that human technology has come very close to reaching this goal.

Researchers studying human behavior from an evolutionary perspective disagree on the role contraception plays in human fertility behavior. There seem to be at least two different views on the subject. One group of authors denies that the widespread use of contraceptives prohibits fertility outcomes as measures of reproductive success (e.g., Essok-Vitale & McGuire, 1985, 1988; Kaplan, 1993; Voland, 1998) or even suggests that contraceptives are being used to maximize genic fitness (Dickemann, 1993; Mueller, 1993; Baker & Bellis, 1995, p. 183; Voland, 1998, p. 356; abortion: Essock-Vitale & McGuire, 1985; Hill & Low, 1992; Bereczkei & Dunbar, 1997; Tullberg & Lumaa, 2001). In contrast, the second group of authors believes that contraception makes it futile to interpret human fertility outcomes as being adaptive. Most of these authors make such statements without presenting or referring to an explicit analysis of why this should be the case (Dawkins, 1989, pp. 117, 332; Pinker, 1997; p. 207; Daly & Wilson, 1999) whereas others have proposed views that are consistent with a maladaptive interpretation (Alexander, 1988; Turke, 1989; Pérusse, 1993; Kaplan et al., 1995; Potts, 1997). Most of these proposed views on contraception remain at the level of plausibility, and there is no scientific progress in the form of systematic cumulation and revision. An exception to this rule is induced abortion, which is the research topic of several studies. However, all of them take a fitness maximization perspective rather than an adaptation execution perspective (Hill & Low, 1992; Bereczkei & Dunbar, 1997; Lycett & Dunbar, 1999; Tullberg & Lumaa, 2001).

Therefore, contraceptive behavior remains a controversial topic within evolutionary interpretations of modern human behavior. However, if the evolutionary malfunctional analysis of human behavior is generally applicable as suggested above, its application to modern contraceptive behavior should help to resolve the controversy. To characterize contraception as a case of maladaptive behavior it is necessary to apply the criteria of an evolutionary malfunctional analysis (see above). Specifically, it is necessary to 1. identify the involved adaptations, 2. identify the involved environmental input and its deviation from the ancestral environmental inputs, 3. identify the process or history that created the mismatch between adaptation and environment, and 4. show that the mismatch produces an outcome that deviates systematically from the adaptive fertility reaction norm of the study species.

Starting with the last criterion – the deviation from the adaptive fertility reaction norm – I will provide a brief description of modern

fertility behavior that characterizes Germany as well as many other industrialized countries (Kohler et al., 2002) and contrast it with the fertility behavior of preliterate human societies. The current total fertility rate is below the replacement level with currently 1.36 children per woman in Germany (Council of Europe, 2004) compared to a total fertility of four to six children in preliterate societies (Campbell & Wood, 1988). The average age at first child has increased to 29 years for German women in the year 2000 (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend, 2003) compared to about 19 years in preliterate societies (Kaplan et al., 2000). An increasing number of individuals who remain childless contribute to the very low fertility. In Germany, about 30% of the female cohort born in 1965 are predicted to remain childless (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend, 2003). The numbers are similar for males (Schmitt, 2004; Schmitt & Winkelmann, 2005). Significantly, it seems that the same processes that lead some couples to have low numbers of children lead others to remain childless (Carl et al., 2000; Kemkes-Grottenthaler, 2003). When different populations are compared, fertility is particularly low in the most affluent societies, and within populations it is often the wealthiest (e.g., Kohler et al., 2001), most highly educated (Kohler & Rodgers, 2003) or most intelligent (Lynn, 1996) fraction that has the lowest fertility. Finally, an analysis of a population in New Mexico showed that the modern low fertility rates do not maximize the number of grandchildren (Kaplan et al., 1995). Together these findings are unparalleled by anything we know from human history or of any other species' fertility reaction norms, and they are incompatible with life history theory's predictions regarding the optimal number of offspring (Barkow & Burley, 1980; Borgeroff Mulder, 1998). Assuming that these fertility trends are not the result of pollution or diseases, it must be concluded that they are maladaptive outcomes that could only be reached with the aid of modern contraceptives.
The next step in the malfunctional analysis of contraception is to ask for the involved environmental input and its deviation from the ancestral environmental inputs. The single most significant novel environmental input involved in the maladaptive fertility behavior described above is the contraceptives themselves as a cultural invention (Potts, 1997). Somewhat paradoxically, contraceptive behavior is the result of a mismatch between the human organism and a component of the environment – contraceptive methods, including induced abortion – which humans have invented exactly for creating this mismatch. This special case of maladaptiveness in relation to a cultural trait means that the analytic steps of identifying the involved adaptations (step 1) and identifying the process that created the mismatch (step 3, see above) overlap to a high degree and must consider cultural transmission as a process involved.

Many of the motivational factors underlying the demand for contraceptives can be inferred from the historic record (Chesler, 1992; Allyn, 2000; Potts & Campbell, 2002; Cook, 2004). One lesson from such a historic perspective is that the motives for using contraception may change over time and with the introduction of improved contraceptive methods. For example, in the 19th and early 20th century, contraceptives were used mostly by married couples to limit the number of children (Potts & Campbell, 2002), whereas during the sixties and seventies the pill and the possibility to abort unwanted pregnancies made premarital sexual experience and postponing parenthood possible (Allyn, 2000; Goldin & Katz, 2002; Potts & Campbell, 2002)¹⁰. In particular, the pill and the possibility of a low risk abortion enabled women to assume a stronger position in their struggle for sexual equality in carrying the costs of parental care without having to forego sex. Women were now able to approach such equality by either foregoing parenthood altogether or by forcing the male partner to assist in childcare to an extent greater than traditionally common. An equally important and closely related effect of women's nearly complete control over reproduction was that women were able to enter a prolongued educational and vocational career without the prospect of interruption because of an unintended pregnancy¹¹.

Today, the situation is this: most women and men in Germany practice contraception (75% of all adults between 20 and 30 years of age; Bundeszentrale für gesundheitliche Aufklärung, 2003) and intend to postpone childbearing until they have finished their educational career (author's unpublished data), which means that contraception and female participation in labor are two closely linked cultural traits. Accordingly, women's participation in higher education is widely believed to be the major cause of the current trend towards lowest-low fertility in industrialized countries (Kohler et al., 2002). In this situation, it is less informative to ask why individual women or men *enter* a contraception routine (Oddens, 1997; Oddens & Lehert, 1997), but why and how they decide to *(dis)continue* contraception. Here then is a possible role for individual differences in the expression of adaptations that is the topic of this study.

Motivation and reproduction in mammals and modern humans over the life course: opportunity conflicts between mating and parenting

For an evolutionary understanding of human reproductive decision-making in the age of contraception, it is useful to assume a comparative perspective. I will argue that the evolved ontogenic organization of mammalian motivational systems for mating and parenting interact maladaptively with the specifically human capability of anticipation on the one hand and with modern contraception as a cultural trait on the other to create perceived opportunity conflicts between current mating and future parenting, which are biased towards current mating motivation.

In a generalized perspective, the life course of mammals and many other taxa is divided up into three major phases: 1. the somatic phase, during which the organisms grows and builds up the potential that is later being spent into 2. the mating phase and 3. the parental phase (at least in females). The life history efforts of these life phases are named accordingly (Figure 2). In humans, there is a notable overlap between the mating and parenting phase, and in addition, extraparental nepotistic effort (e.g., grandparental care) plays a significant role (Alexander, 1987). It is the two life phases of mating and parenting that matter here.



Figure 2. Life-history efforts over the human life span (after Alexander, 1987).

During each of these life phases the organism must reach certain goals that enable it to change into the next phase and finally to reproduce successfully. In reality this generalized model of life history must be supported by corresponding motivational systems that are more or less specifically designed to reach the life phase-specific proximate goals. Motivational systems that correspond to the mating phase function to elicit behaviors such as seeking and choosing (multiple) sexual partners, copulate with and become emotionally attached to them. Motivational systems that correspond to the parental phase function to elicit nurturing behaviors and durable bonds with the offspring. Both the mating motivational system and the parental motivational systems comprise various systems of reward that guide the organism to successful execution of the adaptive behaviors (James, 1892; McDougall, 1908; Panksepp, 1998).

Two important assumptions in this study are that 1. the parental, particularly the maternal, motivational system is fully activated only when the transition to parenthood is taking place and 2. that humans can anticipate their future parental status and are aware that it is a consequence of sexual intercourse. While the second assumption is obviously correct, the first assumption needs to be buttressed by empirical evidence. What evidence is there for a functionally specific parental motivational system in women and men that develops only during the transition to parenthood?¹² First, there are all reasons to assume phylogenically old adaptations that at least women share with other female mammals. Based on the available comparative evidence, Pryce (1992) developed a mammalian model of maternal regulation and motivation, many components of which are likely to apply to humans. Indeed, the available studies on humans provide evidence for such homologies shared with other mammals (see also Numan & Insel, 2003). During the course of pregnancy hormonal changes induce the growth of maternal feelings of nurturance during pregnancy and from pregnancy to postpartum (Fleming, Steiner & Corter, 1997) and also mothers' higher (relative to nonmothers) sensitivity to infant odors (Fleming, Ruble, Krieger & Wong, 1997). Hormonal changes have also been found in expectant and new human fathers, where they are correlated with the pregnant partner's hormone changes and induce new fathers' responsiveness to infant stimuli (Storey et al., 2000). Differences between parents and nonparents have further been demonstrated at the level of brain functions. In a study that employed magnetic resonance imaging, Seifritz et al. (2003) found that parents and nonparents of both sexes responded

differently to the sounds of a human baby crying and laughing. Moreover, the hypothesis that nonparents can hardly anticipate parental feelings can be tested by looking at qualitative reports of first-time mothers. If parental feelings develop as a life-phase-specific adaptation, one would expect first-time parents, and mothers in particular, 1. to experience rewarding feelings of yet unknown intensity and/or quality and to realize in hindsight that they were unable to fully anticipate these parental feelings are specific to their own child, and 3. to perceive the cost/benefit ratio of parenthood to be pushed more to the benefit side compared to what they had anticipated. All these predictions find qualitative support in unstructured interviews that McMahon (1995) conducted with American first time mothers. Finally, the birth of a child marks the beginning of the attachment process (Bowlby, 1969; Bischof, 1985), which has only recently been studied from the caregiver's perspective (George & Solomon, 1999).

In modern humans, the fact that parental motivation develops only with the birth of the first child may contribute to the strength and direction of bias in perceived opportunity conflicts between current mating and future parenting. Opportunity conflicts between competing *current* activities are common in both humans and nonhuman species and may include conflicts between mating and parenting activities (e.g., Smith, 1995; Magrath & Elgar 1998; Marlowe, 1999; Waynforth, 1999; Székely & Cuthill, 2000; Magrath & Komdeur, 2003). However, nonhuman species are apparently unable to anticipate conflicts between current and *future* activities. Humans, in contrast, have evolved the ability to anticipate future events and longterm developments including their own, provided they have the necessary information. But although capable of anticipating future events, humans seem not to be very good at anticipating the emotional consequences of these events (Loewenstein & Schkade, 1999). This is true of predicting the future effect of emotions that an individual has already

experienced in the past (e.g., sexual desire, Loewenstein & Schkade, 1999) and should thus be even more true of future emotions that he or she has not experienced before, such as parental feelings. Women's apparent inability to predict their parental feelings is exemplified by the following statement of a first time mother:

"The actual reality of having a child in my life wasn't that much of a surprise. I think the only thing that was a surprise was the *intensity* of the emotional side. Not that I didn't expect to care about him, but there is a different level of emotional involvement than I anticipated." (McMahon, 1995, p. 134, italics in original)

The assumption of a perceived opportunity conflict between current mating and future parenting is central to the second part of the study. Modern contraception enables humans to act out these conflicts according to their individual perceptions of the costs and benefits of (not yet) becoming a parent. As a contribution to the evolutionary malfunctional analysis of contraceptive behavior, I hypothesized that both promiscuity and attractiveness, as measured in Part I of this study, will bias participants towards postponing parenthood. In addition, I predicted that a third variable, fondness for children, would have a positive effect on the willingness to become a parent, although it seems unlikely that this effect was present in the evolutionary past.

The tendency to abort an unexpected pregnancy as measure of current willingness to become a parent

The use of contraceptives and the use of induced abortion have common goals. Both are employed to postpone parenthood or to limit the number of children (Potts & Campbell, 2002; Klick & Stratman, 2003; Marston & Cleland, 2003). Furthermore, at a shorter time scale, both are employed to disconnect the pleasures of sex from the possible consequence of childbearing (Allyn, 2000; Cook, 2004). For these reasons, abortion is to be categorized as a contraceptive method. However, the decision to continue a contraception routine and the decision to abort differ in the kind of mental decision rules and their relation to an individual's willingness to become a parent. The decision to practice contraception is necessarily a conscious one¹³ and based on the desire to have sex, but not to have children yet. Once the decision to practice contraception is made, contraception soon becomes a habitual routine (James, 1892; Verplanken & Aarts, 1999) that is carried out automatically without deliberation¹⁴.

"When having children is easily avoidable, and avoided for years, it is plausible to infer that an active decision to have a child and a consequent change in contraceptive behaviour are necessary. ... there might be limits to initiate conscious decision-making associated with these behaviours. The absence of a behavioural performance does not need to be interpreted necessarily as the outcome of a negative choice. Instead of regularly evaluating one's decision and at each time concluding that it is best not to have a child at the given moment, individuals might face the absence of decisionmaking itself, that is the removal of childbearing consideration from consciousness. Individuals do not always face such a choice in terms of weighing its advantages or disadvantages, and what is considered to be a delay in a chosen behaviour could actually be a delay in the process of choosing." (Micheli & Bernardi, 2003, p. 6f)

Thus, the observation that someone is using contraceptive methods today probably reveals little about this person's positive or negative attitude towards the idea of becoming a parent (Ziebell et al., 1992), particularly if the person is young and has not completed her or his educational career. This is not the case for induced abortion. The experience of an unexpected pregnancy is a result of the failure of the contraception routine and requires an actualization and deliberation (James, 1892) of the involved persons' willingness to enter parenthood. For many women and for their male partners, induced abortion is an option in this situation, but one that, although fairly safe, is experienced at least as unpleasant and embarrassing and potentially in conflict with basic ethical values. The option to either abort an unexpected and thus currently unwanted pregnancy or to become a parent forces a woman and her partner to weigh the pros and cons before making a deliberate decision, whereby the actual criteria on which the decision is based may or may not be cognitively accessible to the individuals involved (James, 1892).

The determinants of individual willingness to become a parent, I hypothesized, should reveal themselves in a situation where practiced contraception fails unexpectedly, but where there is still an option to avoid parenthood, namely, the option of induced abortion. In the current study I exploited the fact that the option of abortion makes deliberation necessary by confronting participants with a scenario of an unexpected pregnancy, in which they were asked to rate their likely decision on a five-point scale. I call this measure "the individual tendency to abort an unexpected pregnancy" or for short "the tendency to abort". The responses to this question can then be correlated with hypothesized determinants of abortion decision. This method was used here to address two closely related

research goals, both of which rest on the assumption that the differential responses to the abortion decision scenario and their correlates reflect at least qualitatively the behavior of real abortion decisions¹⁵.

The first research goal was to test hypotheses on potential determinants of real abortion behavior that are difficult to assess by directly asking participants for their reasons for a realized abortion decision. In this, the study seeks to contribute specifically to research on abortion decisions (Torres & Forrest, 1988; Bankole et al., 1998). The second research goal is to determine (unconscious) determinants of the decision to become a first-time parent. This research goal rests on the assumption that the determinants of the decision to abort an unexpected pregnancy are the mirror image of the determinants of an individual's decision to quit contraception to become a parent. In this context, the tendency to abort is viewed as an integrating measure of individual willingness to become a parent. Again, the abortion decision scenario has the potential advantage that, if properly used, hypothesized determinants of an individual's willingness to become a parent can be investigated even if the participant has no cognitive access to or would not admit to them.

The research question was how promiscuity, physical attractiveness and attitudes towards children influence women's and men's willingness to enter parenthood. Physical attractiveness and promiscuity are relevant, because they must have been important determinants of reproductive success in the evolutionary past (at least for men in the case of promiscuity). I hypothesized that attractiveness and promiscuity would be negatively correlated with the willingness to become a parent and thus be positively correlated with the tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy. Furthermore, fondness for children was predicted to be negatively correlated with the tendency to abort. Fondness for children is relevant, because it is commonly believed to be a motivator for parenthood today, but probably did not function as such during most of human natural history.

35

Most studies on human fertility with an evolutionary perspective only use completed fertility as outcome measure, but not timing of reproduction. This is surprising, because it is the number of offspring per time relative to that of conspecific competitors that determines reproductive success, not the number of surviving offspring per se. The current study focuses on the timing of the transition to parenthood as a component of reproductive success. This focus is justified for the following reasons. First, the decision to have yet another child and the decision to postpone parenthood, respectively, are likely based on partly different motivational sources. Whereas the decision to postpone the birth of the first child will be based only on the motivational systems characterizing the mating phase, the decision not to have additional children will often be based on parental concerns, which consider the well-being of the existing children as well as on motivations related to somatic and mating effort¹⁶ (compare Figure 2). Second, since the 1970s, the primary purpose of contraception has changed from limiting the number of children within marriage to making premarital and preparental sex possible. In the current sample of university students, the median age at first sexual intercourse was 17 years for women and 18 years for men; and 65% of the women were taking the pill at the time of data collection (no other forms of contraception were asked for). According to national statistics, women's current average age at at first birth is 29 (Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend, 2003), which means that a large proportion of women and men will have nonreproductive sexual intercourse for a time span of around 10 years and longer. Third and finally, a focus on the timing of parenthood is important, because in populations with very low fertility, completed fertility is becoming ever more a function of the increasing postponement of parenthood (Kohler et al., 2002).

Independent variables and hypotheses of Part II

Maladaptive behavior is the consequence of a mismatch between evolved adaptations and the cue structure of their current environment. Therefore, it is part of any evolutionary malfunctional analysis to identify the involved behavioral traits and to analyse how accurately they represent the action of purpose-specific adaptations. This will be done here for each of the three independent variables promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children. At the end of each section, I will state the predicted relationship between the independent variable and the tendency to abort as the dependent variable.

1. The desire for multiple sex partners (promiscuity) as motivational adaptation

Sexual selection theory predicts that, compared to females, males should generally be more strongly motivated to seek sexual contact to multiple partners because male reproductive success is constrained by the number of females they inseminate (Bateman, 1948; Trivers, 1972). Another, less often noted, explanation for the relatively lower female promiscuity is based on the direct costs associated with copulation (e.g., sexually transmitted diseases), which are generally higher for females than males (Gavrilets et al., 2001). The prediction of a relatively higher male than female desire for multiple sex partners is generally supported across species (Dewsbury, 1981) including humans (Symons, 1979), as evidenced, for example, by a recent cross-cultural study (Schmitt, 2003). It thus appears that men universally have on average a stronger desire for sexual variety than women do. However, this sex difference should not be misinterpreted to mean that women, or females in general, are absolutely monogamous (Birkhead, 2000)¹⁷. To the contrary, there is now ample evidence from diverse taxa that females actively seek sexual contact with several partners including females of pair-bonding nonhumans (Eberhard,

1996; Birkhead, 2000; Jennions & Petrie, 2000; Hrdy, 2003) and humans (Thompson, 1983; Gangestad & Simpson, 1990, 2000; Greiling & Buss, 2000; Allyn, 2000; Cook, 2004; Schmitt, 2003). In addition to the mentioned sex differences, there is considerable within-sex variability in promiscuous motivation in nonhumans (Crews, 1998) and humans (Gangestad & Simpson, 2000; Schmitt, 2003). Explaining within-sex variability and female promiscuity from an evolutionary perspective has recently become a major research focus (Birkhead, 2000; Jennions & Petrie, 2000; Gangestad & Simpson, 2000).

What is the possible adaptive value, if there is any, of female promiscuity in humans? Female promiscuity is particularly striking when displayed by mated females. Why should mated females seek for additional partners? Species previously considered monogamous have been shown to engage in extra-pair copulations with variable frequencies (Birkhead & Møller, 1995), which result in extra-pair paternity (Petrie & Kempenaers, 1998). The currently favored explanation for females seeking extra-pair copulations is that they gain genic benefits by mating with males that are genically superior to the social mate (Gangestad & Thornhill, 1997a, b). The evidence for this hypothesis in vertebrate species is mounting. Females seem to prefer extra-pair partners that are more heterozygous than their social mate (Potts et al., 1991; Foerster et al., 2003) so that their young are endowed with a correspondingly increased immunocompetence (Johnsen et al., 2000). For humans there is evidence that is consistent with the good genes hypothesis of extra-pair matings. Men who acted as extra-pair partners to women are more attractive and more symmetric than men who had never acted as extra-pair partners (Gangestad & Thornhill, 1997a). Because facial attractiveness has been found to be positively correlated to heterozygosity (Roberts et al., 2005) and facial symmetry is perceived as an indicator of health (Jones et al., 2001) it is possible that women gain a genic advantage by choosing partners who are more attractive and more symmetric than their current social partner. In addition to genic benefits, females may also gain material benefits from engaging in extra-pair sex (Gray, 1997), for which there is some evidence for humans (Greiling & Buss, 2001). It must be noted, however, that human extra-pair copulations may often occur during the process of switching from one mate to the other (Greiling & Buss, 2001) and thus do not qualify as extra-pair copulations in the narrower sense.

Beyond this context-specific case of promiscuity of extra-pair mating, women are also intrinsically motivated to seek multiple sex partners and show considerable inter-individual variability in this trait (Gangestad & Simpson, 1990, 2000; Schmitt, 2003). There are several plausible explanations for women's intrinsic promiscuity as a sex-specific trait. First, it may be a result of genic correlation with male promiscuity, that is, genes that are important in the development of a promiscuous motivation were originally selected for in men, but were then transmitted to women by means of sexual recombination (Lande, 1987; Price & Langen, 1992; Rice & Chippindale, 2001). In this case, women's promiscuity may or may not be adaptive or even maladaptive. Second, women's promiscuity may serve to ensure that their children are genically diverse so that the risk of loosing all offspring is lowered (Smith, 1984). This hypothesis is difficult to test, but consistent with this view is the fact that women of hunter-gatherer societies commonly have children fathered by more than one man (Hrdy, 2001). Third, as already mentioned in the context of extrapair matings, women may offer sex in exchange for immediate resources (Symons, 1979; Greiling & Buss, 1999) or protection (Smuts, 1985).

What explains intrasexual variability in women's and men's intrinsic promiscuous tendencies? Again, there is a possible role for genic correlation, particularly as it has been shown that variability in promiscuity has a genic component in both women and men (Bailey et al., 2000; Cherkas et al., 2004). If there is a novel gene that is conducive to the sex-

39

specific reproductive strategy of one sex, but that is about equally deleterious to the reproductive strategy of the other sex, this gene would not be eliminated by selection as long as sexual recombination ensures that it is transmitted equally often to males as to females. Over time, many such "sexually antagonistic genes" (Rice, 1992) may accumulate and together may be responsible for much of the observed overlap in physical and behavioral phenotypic traits between the sexes (reviewed in Rice & Chippindale, 2001). The existence of sexually antagonistic genes has been convincingly demonstrated for Drosophila flies (Rice, 1992), and for humans there exists some preliminary evidence that is consistent with the concept (Manning et al., 2000). Whether or not sexually antagonistic genes underlie intrasexual variability in intrinsic promiscuity is currently unknown, but consistent with the model is the finding that highly promiscuous women differ from less promiscuous women in being more masculine with respect to self-reported gender identity, interviewer-rated physical and behavioral masculinity, childhood-gender noncomformity (Mikach & Bailey, 1999), blood testosterone levels (Lippa & Veira, 1995), and prenatal testosterone (Clark, 2004).

Another model based on the assumption of genic variability suggests that women's intrasexual variability may be stabilized by frequencydependent selection (Gangestad & Simpson, 1990). It assumes that women face a trade-off between two desirable mate characterisitics: good genes and parental provisioning. Finding a male partner who is willing to invest in a family takes time to test his commitment before mating, so that women will be selected to have a restrained sociosexual orientation, that is, to be of low promiscuity. In contrast, finding a partner who confers a good genes advantage is less time consuming because the indicators of good genes are reliable and can be assessed quickly based on appearance and body odor. Therefore, in the search for men of high genic quality sociosexually unrestrained, that is promiscuous, women have an advantage over restrained women. Because the success of each strategy depends on the relative frequencies in the population, frequency-dependent selection will result that maintains the variability in the population. This model of frequency-dependent selection is extremely difficult to test, and no equivalent model has been suggested to explain intrasexual variability in male promiscuity. However, in accordance with the idea of a trade-off between genic quality and parental quality of a male partner, it has been found that highly promiscuous women tend to choose partners with emphasis on mate criteria considered indicative of genic quality, whereas less promiscuous women put greater emphasis on criteria indicative of a good parent (Simpson & Gangestad, 1992; Gangestad & Simpson, 2000; Hoier, 2003).

In addition to these genic sources of variability, processes of environmentally induced variability have also been proposed (Gangestad & Simpson, 1990; Hoier, 2003 and references therein), but are not discussed here.

In summary, while men's desire for multiple partners very plausibly constitutes an adaptation, the evolution of the same phenomenon in women is more controversial and may have multiple causes. For the purpose of this study, I will assume that promiscuous motivation is either an adaptation in both sexes or that female promiscuity is derived from male promiscuity by means of genic correlation. In both these possible cases, it is parsimonious to assume that the inter-individual variability in this trait has similar genic causes in both sexes.

In the context of the willingness to become a parent, the predicted significance of the desire for multiple partners is that the perceived opportunity costs associated with becoming a parent will be higher for highly promiscuous individuals than for less promiscuous individuals. The reason for the opportunity conflict lies in the responsibilities of parenthood and parental partnership that are difficult to reconcile with a promiscuous life style. Evidence in support of this hypothesis comes from an experimental study on the effects of prolonged exposure to non-violent pornography videos on family values of male and female students and non-students (Zillmann & Bryant, 1988). In this study, male and female subjects who were exposed to daily pornography viewing for a period of six weeks showed a lower desire to have children compared to a control group. Since pornography typically depicts sexual intercourse between individuals who are not romantically involved with each other, prolonged exposure to pornographic scenes seems to enhance the desire for or imply the normality of sexual contacts of this kind.

General hypothesis: I predicted that individual variability in the desire for multiple partners would have a negative impact on individual willingness to become a parent as measured by the tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy, because of a perceived opportunity conflict between promiscuous mating and parenting (Figure 1).

2. Physical attractiveness as a moderator of mating motivation

Physical attractiveness as an adaptation to assess individual mate value was considered in the introduction of Part I. Here I will consider the possible consequences of attractiveness to the willingness to become a parent. The social significance of attractiveness is not restricted to the mating context in the sense it was investigated in Part I. Rather, it is well documented that physical attractiveness is a major predictor of individual social success both within and outside the context of mating, including educational and vocational success, social support, and mating success (reviewed in Langlois et al., 1999), including hypergamy (Elder, 1969; Udry & Eckland, 1984; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001). This differential social success depends on the perception of the social environment's responses to an individual's level of attractiveness, that is, on social feedback. Because of positive social feedback, highly attractive individuals will perceive their social

environment as supportive, cooperative, and encouraging, whereas less attractive people will enjoy much less of such positive feedback.

It could be argued that traits correlated with attractiveness mediate the increased social success of highly attractive people, such as health (Kalick et al., 1998) or intelligence (Zebrovitz et al., 2002; Kanazawa & Kovar, 2004). Accordingly, it has been found that rated (facial) attractiveness is positively associated with perceived (sic!) health, intelligence, and several other desirable characteristics (Rhodes & Zebrowitz, 2003; Kanazawa & Kovar, 2004). Furthermore, in controlled experiments with other vertebrate species, manipulations of physical attractiveness have been shown to influence the individual allocations to mating effort versus parental effort (Magrath & Komdeur, 2003), and these findings can only be explained under the assumption of social feedback from conspecifics. Thus, there can be little doubt that humans, like other species, are able to assess their mate value based on social feedback and adjust their behavior accordingly. It is this attractiveness-dependent social feedback process that I will mean to imply in this study when talking of "attractiveness". In the context of the willingness to become a parent, the predicted significance of attractiveness is that the age-specific expected opportunity costs associated with a child will be higher for highly attractive than for less attractive individuals.

General hypothesis: Because of the many social opportunities associated with attractiveness, the perceived costs of becoming a parent as a consequence of an unintended pregnancy are predicted to be higher for highly attractive people than for less attractive people. Thus, attractiveness is assumed to act as a moderator of motivational systems such as the desire for multiple partners or status striving. Hence, I predicted that individual variability in measures of physical attractiveness would have a negative impact on individual willingness to become a parent as measured by the tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy (Figure 1).

3. Fondness for children as a motivational adaptation

Evolutionary theory does not assume that humans or any other animals are endowed with a desire to produce offspring, a kind of reproduction drive (e.g., Miller, 1992; Potts, 1997; Foster, 2000), as some researchers assume¹⁸. Instead, animals are parsimoniously assumed to be endowed with motivational systems that guide animals to reach certain proximate goals (McDougall, 1908; Tooby & Cosmides, 1990; 1992). These motivational systems are concerted with each other and with the environment in such a manner that usually successful reproduction will be the result. Humans should be no exception here (but see discussion). During most of our evolutionary history, becoming a parent was very likely not dependent on a desire to have children, but on a desire to have sex (Alexander, 1988; Miller, 1992; Potts, 1997). Notwithstanding these truisms, it is an empirical fact that mature but childless humans often desire to have children (e.g., Hoffmann & Hoffmann, 1973; Miller & Pasta, 2002). The question is how this desire originated during the course of natural or cultural history.

Childless humans often respond to stranger children in ways that are in many ways similar to parental responses. Individuals and the sexes differ in their responsiveness to stranger children with women being more responsive than men (Maestripieri & Pelka, 2002 and references therein), a pattern also found in several other primate species (Hrdy, 1976) and implying a common phylogenic origin¹⁹. How is this interest in stranger children to be understood from an evolutionary perspective? In a recent article, Maestripieri and Pelka (2002) proposed that the observed changes in interest in infants between childhood and adulthood point to a sexually differentiated motivational system that has the function of preparing immature females to the future task of mothering. Again, a similar function has been ascribed to the same phenomenon in other primate species (Fairbanks, 1990). In any case, these comparative findings suggest that the sex differences and individual differences did *not* evolve to motivate humans – and women in particular – to *sire* children. Rather I will assume here that the phylogenically older interest in stranger children interacts with the phylogenically younger human capability to anticipate future developments to create a desire to have children²⁰. Whether or not individual differences in the desire to have children have had a significant fertility promoting effect during the course of human history cannot be answered empirically. However, it seems reasonable to assume that such an effect used to be weak at best and that its relative significance rose only recently in proportion to the use of effective contraception methods and with the process of individualization (Triandis, 1995). Indeed, a recent study from the USA found that attitudes towards children had a positive impact on realized fertility behavior (Barber & Axinn, 2003).

General hypothesis: I predicted that fondness for children should be negatively correlated to the tendency to abort. Trivial as this prediction may seem to be, it has rarely been tested by researchers interested in the determinants of induced abortion.

To test this hypothesis, I used a Fondness for Children Scale (FCS, see methods), a scale that measures individual differences in the responsiveness to stranger children (Rohde & Hoier, 2001, unpublished).

Methods

General procedure

Data were collected between June 2001 and March 2002 at the psychology department of the University of Kassel. Participants were recruited at university lectures, on campus by student assistants and the author, or were known as past participants of earlier studies of the psychology department. Participants were selected only with respect to the following criteria: (1) estimated age (maximum 35 years) and (2) parental status (only childless individuals). Participants were informed that they would be administered a questionnaire at the psychology department, that the total procedure would take 45 minutes to an hour and that in return they would be given either 7 Euro or course credit. Participants were told that the questions would relate to personality and behavior in diverse areas. To avoid self-selection on the basis of either preference or avoidance of particular topics such as sexual behavior and attitudes (Trivedi & Sabini, 1998), it was avoided to inform potential participants about the sexual content of the study. The response rate was not recorded and may have differed according to how and by whom the participants were approached. Individuals who agreed to participate were assigned a time to complete the survey.

The realized sample size represents a trade-off between effect size, statistical power, and resources. Considerations of effect size were based on the concept of "practical significance" (Rosenthal et al., 2000) according to which effect sizes of r = .10 (or even lower) would be considered practically important, depending on the research question. Consulting a power table for a one-tailed alpha of .05 (Cohen, 1988, p. 101) it became evident that the reliable detection of effects of r = .10 requires unrealistically (from the perspective of limited resources) large sample sizes at almost any given power level, but that effects of r = .20 may be feasible. To reach the recommended power of .80 (Cohen, 1988) an n of 153 would be required (Figure 3). Taking into account the author's

time, money, and nerves it seemed realistic to interview 125 to 150 women and men, respectively, or a total of 250 to 300 subjects. Also, beyond these numbers the marginal return in terms of power decreases ever more steeply (Figure 3). Altogether 290 subjects were interviewed, 149 women and 141 men. Based on this maximum sample size, the effective power would be .79 for the women sample, .77 for the men sample or .96 for the total sample of 290. However, because of the application of certain selection criteria (see below) and depending on the variables involved, the sample sizes in the various analyses can be considerably smaller. Women and men were always analyzed separately although for many tests the data of the two sexes could arguably be combined. This means that the maximum power for testing most hypotheses is in fact larger than the sex-specific tests indicate.



Figure 3. Required *n* and statistical power for r = .20 and alpha (one-tailed) = .05. (Data from table in Cohen, 1988, p. 101).

All interviews were conducted by the author in a department office with maximally two subjects at a time. On arrival, subjects were seated at different tables at 3 m distance with their backs turned to each other. Envelopes containing a coded questionnaire and a sheet with a photo coding number (see below) were handed out to them. Subjects were then asked to take out the questionnaire and to read a text, placed on the tables, which reminded them that participation was voluntary at all times, that they did not have to answer questions, if they didn't like and that no names had to be given. Participants were further ensured that nobody – including the author – would ever know what they as individuals had marked or written in the questionnaire (see below). After some further instructions and remarks on the purpose of the study, subjects completed the questionnaires. The author was present during the sessions, sitting behind a desk at a distance of 3 m away from the participants, ready to answer questions concerning the questionnaire. Once both subjects were finished, they put the questionnaires back into their envelopes and slipped them into a cardboard box.

Subjects were then asked to be photographed. If they displayed any signs of uneasiness in this situation, they were immediately reminded that they could always refuse and were encouraged to do so. However, most subjects seemed to be comfortable, and very few declined. Some subjects said that being photographed was fine with them – as long as the photos would not be published. Irrespective of such responses, subjects were ensured that the photographs would not be published or shown in public, but would be used only for ratings and measurements of asymmetry. Almost all subjects seemed to be satisfied with this promise; the remaining few subjects who were still skeptical were informed about the precise measures taken to protect their identity (see below). Finally, subjects were given the opportunity to answer questions concerning the questionnaire and

were given the opportunity to contact the author to ask for the results of the study. Participants then made their choice between course credit and a $7 \in$ payment.

Several measures were taken to protect the identity of the subjects' data. First, a coding system linked questionnaires and the corresponding photographs via pairs of randomly assigned code numbers (ranging between 001 and 999) that were different for the questionnaire and photographs. Second, the author entered demographic data and remaining data separately, demographic data last. This ensured that even subjects the author was familiar with would not be identified on the basis of their demographic data. Third, an assistant who was unfamiliar with both questionnaires and photographs entered code numbers of questionnaires and photographs into the data file. Fourth, at all times, the coding list was under the sole control of the author. Together, these measures ensured that not even the author himself would accidentally identify any of the data as belonging to a particular person.

Measures of attractiveness

Three measures of attractiveness were used in this study: expert-rated facial attractiveness, the bodymass index (BMI), and self-rated physical attractiveness. Expert-rated facial attractiveness is the most commonly used and most intensively studied measure of physical attractiveness (Hassebrauck & Niketta, 1993). Although people often object to the idea that there should be a high inter-individual agreement about attractiveness, the available studies show that attractiveness can be determined quite objectively with a relatively small number of experts and that very similar results are yielded (Hassebrauck & Niketta, 1993).

1. Facial attractiveness was determined as follows. Head-andshoulder portraits of subjects were taken while subjects were sitting in front of a white wall. Paper sheets with code numbers (handed out together with

49

the questionnaire, see above) were fixed on the wall close to the subject. A Nikon camera (F-601) was raised on a tripod at standard distance to the wall. A 70 mm lens and color film (Fuji, 200 ASA) were used together with the camera's frontal flash. Subjects were asked to assume a neutral facial expression. One to three photographs were taken of each subject; the one with the most neutral expression was used for ratings. The photos were digitalized onto CD-ROM. Using Photoshop 5.0 (Adobe) the faces were cut out from the original photos at approximately 400 x 583 pixels, and the resulting pictures were reduced to jpg-Format and then converted to BMP-format for presentation.

Photographs were rated for attractiveness using a computer program specially designed for that purpose. The pictures were first presented in random order for two seconds each to familiarize the rater with the task and the range of attractiveness. Then the pictures were presented in the same order as in the preview and were rated on a 7-point scale by using the cursor and mouse. Raters could view each face as long as they pleased. Ratings were automatically saved and entered manually into the data file. Male faces were rated by fourteen female raters (average interrater correlation r = .39, effective reliability of the mean of judges' ratings = .90) and female faces were rated by nine male and five female raters (average interrater correlation r = .39, effective reliability of the mean of judges' ratings = .90). The required number of raters was determined based on a table provided by Rosenthal and Rosnow (1991). This table lists the required number of raters to reach a desired effective reliability of the mean of judges' ratings with a given mean reliability (average interrater correlation). After the first seven or so ratings the mean reliability was .40 so that 14 raters would be required to reach an effective reliability of .90. Higher effective reliabilities would have required an exponential increase in the number of raters, for example, 24 raters would have been required to reach .94, 32 raters to reach .96. Not all subjects had a neutral expression on the photographs. To test for a possible influence on attractiveness ratings, degree of smiling was rated by the author on a 4-point scale. Smiling had a positive impact on the ratings of male faces, r(111) = .29, p = .002, but not female faces, r(134) = .04, p = .68). The effect of degree of smile was therefore removed from male attractiveness scores by regressing attractiveness over degree of smile and saving of the standardized residuals. In the analysis, these z-scores and the z-scores of the female face ratings were used.

2. The bodymass index (BMI) is calculated as body weight (kg)/height (m)². In this study, participant's self-reproted body weight and height were used. Only one male participant included in the study did not report both measures. The higher the BMI, the less skinny is a person. Attractiveness ratings as a function of BMI peak at intermediate BMI values, but the function is asymmetric. It falls more steeply from intermediate BMI to very low BMI than from intermediate BMI to high BMI (Maisey et al., 1999; Tovée & Cornelissen, 2001; Tovée et al., 2002). Because people with a BMI below the attractiveness maximum are much rarer than people with a BMI greater than the attractiveness maximum, it was justified to treat the BMI as a linear variable with attractiveness increasing linearly from higher to lower BMI values (Hume & Montgomerie, 2001; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001).

3. Self-rated physical attractiveness was rated on a 9-point scale, and the following instructions were given: "Many find this question difficult to answer. Please try it anyway. Here is a suggestion: Imagine a very attractive, a very unattractive, and an intermediate person of your gender, and then try to rate yourself." In women (n = 147) the median rating was 6 (SD = 1.28); in men (n = 135) the median rating was also 6 (SD = 1.30). Only 4% of the women and 12% of the men rated their attractiveness as being below average (rank 5 on the rating scale) meaning that both women and men strongly tended to overestimate their attractiveness. Compared to expert-rated attractiveness, self-rated attractiveness is of course the much less reliable measure, first, because it is typically measured with one item by just one judge, namely the subject, and second because of the selfserving bias. This measure is nevertheless valuable, because it is still positively correlated with both objective measures of attractiveness (Table 1) and because it adds the perspective of self-perception.

measure of	facial	self-rated	BMI
attractiveness			
facial		.41 ^a	47 ^b
	-	(115)	(115)
		<.001	<.001
self-rated	.21 ^a		43
	(98)	-	(127)
	.02		<.001
BMI	16 ^b	32	
	(97)	(122)	-
	.06	< .001	

Table 1. Intercorrelations between the three measures of attractiveness.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values. – Cells above the diagonal show results for women; those below the diagonal show results for men.

a, b Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: a p = .06; b p = .006.

Table 1 shows the intercorrelations between the three measures of attractiveness, expert-rated facial attractiveness, self-rated physical attractiveness, and bodymass index. All correlations have the predicted sign and are significant. Like in two other studies (Rikowski & Grammer, 1999; Hume & Montgomerie, 2001), facial attractiveness was more strongly related to the BMI in women than in men (z = 2.49, p = .006). Although the three measures of attractiveness are intercorrelated, I decided not to convert them into a single attractiveness scale, because the loss of information would be higher than the gain in reliability. As will become apparent in the

results and discussion sections analyzing the attractiveness measures separately makes possible the interpretations of seeming patterns that imply testable hypotheses for future studies.

Table 2 shows that the three measures of attractiveness were only slightly correlated with age.

e		
measure of	women	men
attractiveness		
facial	17	11
	(118)	(101)
	.03	.14
self-rated	05	05
	(130)	(126)
	.30	.31
BMI	.13	.12
	(130)	(125)
	.07	.09

Table 2. Correlations of measures of attractiveness with age.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values.

The questionnaire

Separate questionnaires were designed for women and men. Questions relevant to this study included the following groups of items:

Demographic information: Sex, age, height, weight, country of birth, marital status, religion, parental status, sexual orientation (five categories ranging from exclusively heterosexual to exclusively homosexual). Furthermore, churchgoing frequency (never, infrequently, frequently) was assessed.

In Part I of the study, two groups of variables relating to mating behavior were hypothesized to be influenced by attractiveness, namely a) mating success and promiscuity on the one hand and b) relationship stability and exclusivity on the other.

a) Mating success/promiscuity: In an introductory note at the beginning of this section of the questionnaire, sex was defined as consensual intercourse excluding sex with prostitutes. Mating success and promiscuity cannot strictly be separated from each other on the basis of behavioral measures. For example, the number of sex partners depends on the degree to which potential sex partners feel attracted to a person, but also on the person's desire to mate with multiple partners. Because of this overlap in meaning, the same measures of sexual behavior may be used as measures of mating success in the one context and as measures of promiscuity in another context. The following measures of sexual behavior were assessed: age at first sex, lifetime number of sex partners, current pairing status (with or without partner), extra-pair mating success (number of sex partners who had a partner at the time the participant had sexual relations with him/her). Further measures of promiscuity were:

Same-evening sex: This term designates the responses to an item taken from Buss and Schmitt (1993). It asks participants to rate on a 7-point scale how likely they would have sex with an attractive partner whom they have known for an evening. As expected, women rate lower on average than men (Buss & Schmitt, 1993; this study). This measure was used because it constitutes an important part of promiscuity, namely, the time that elapses between first encounter and first sex.

Sociosexual orientation (or sociosexuality): A German translation of the Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (SOI) by Simpson and Gangestad (1991) was used here as an index measure of promiscuity. This scale consists of seven items relating to both behavior and attitudes. Sample items are "Did you ever have sex with someone once and only once?" and "Sex without love is o.k.!" The data were z-transformed for men and

54

women separately, and the index was then calculated. Cronbach's alpha for the scale was .73 for women and .77 for men.

b) Partnership stability and exclusivity: Four items related to this second group of items:

Ever been unfaithful?: Subjects were asked whether they had ever had extra-pair sex. This item was used as a measure of partnership exclusivity. It is imperfect in that it allows only for a binary response format (yes or no), but does not consider the total time spent paired.

These following three items were used as measures of partnership stability.

Duration of current partnership: Paired subjects were asked how long their current relationship had lasted (in months).

Partnership asymmetry: To assess the degree of asymmetry of feelings within couples, the following item was used: "Who of the two of you, you think, feels more attached to the other?" This question was answered using a bipolar 7-point scale ranging from "I very much stronger" to "Him/her very much stronger".

Initiator of breakup: Subjects were asked who was responsible for the breakup of their last relationship. Again, this question was answered using a 7-point bipolar scale, ranging from "only me" to "only him/her".

Fondness for children: The Fondness for children Scale (FCS) was developed together with Sabine Hoier, University of Kassel (Rohde & Hoier 2001, unpublished). This scale consists of originally seven items to be rated on a 7-point scale and assesses how much a person develops feelings of caring towards stranger children (sample items: "I regularly melt away at the sight of a cute child.", "Small children are nervewracking." (inverted). In this sample, the internal consistency (Cronbach alpha) was .85 for women and .78 for men. As has been found in previous studies (Maestripieri & Pelka, 2002 and references therein), women tended



Figure 4. Participants' tendency to abort. – Shown are the percentages with which women and men rated the five-point scale (inverted).

to show a stronger fondness for children than men, $r_p(215) = .24$, p < .001. The FCS was positively correlated with desired number of children in both women, $r_p(108) = .17$, p = .03, and men, $r_p(104) = .30$, p = .001.

Current desire to have children: Two items were employed to assess participants' current desire to have children. "Do you wish to have a child in the next 12 months?" (7-point scale) and "At what age would you like to

have your first child?". In response to the latter question, some subjects gave an age range (e.g., 25-30) instead of a particular age. In these cases, the lowest age was entered into the data table.

The individual tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy: The question for unintended pregnancy had to be formulated differently for men and women. Women: "If you learned today that you are pregnant, would you decided to continue the pregnancy ("das Kind austragen") or not"? Men: "If you learned today that your partner was pregnant, would you prefer her to continue the pregnancy or not?" (5-point scale: *certainly not continue, rather not, absolutely undecided, rather continue, certainly continue pregnancy*.) The inverted ratings constitute the "individual tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy" or, for short, "the tendency to abort". Figure 4 shows the distributions of the inverted ratings on the scale for women and men. The two distributions are very similar, and a U-test confirmed that there is no sex difference in the tendency to abort, U = 5665.50, n = 110 women, 108 men, p = .53. The mean tendency to abort was 2.08 (±1.25 SD) for women and 2.22 (±1.36 SD) for men.

Social desirability: A subsample of men (n = 50) and women (n = 75) filled in a social desirability scale (Stöber 2001) to check for possible biases. Because the exclusion criteria for Part I and Part II differ slightly, the internal consistency of the scale was calculated separately for the two subsamples. Based on all 17 items Cronbach's alpha for the subsample used in Part I was .68 (n = 68) for women and .71 (n = 49) for men; Cronbach's alpha for the subsample used in Part II was .56 (n = 58) for women and .72 (n = 41) for men. Because the scale was to be used as control variable, a large alpha was desirable. To maximize alpha, I conducted an item analysis and deleted all items whose total item correlation was below .20. For men, alpha rose to .72 for Part I (6 items deleted) and to .66 for Part II (9 items deleted), and after deletion of 9

items, the alpha for women rose to .72 (Part I) and .66 (Part II), respectively. I used these sex-specific social desirability scales in the analyses. Correlations between these scales and key variables of this study are shown in the Appendix.

The questionnaire included several other measures of personality and self-reported behavior which are not relevant to this study but which probably helped to ensure that subjects were unaware of the hypotheses under test.

Validity of the tendency to abort as a measure of the willingness to become a parent

For an evaluation of the results, it is important to consider the construct validity (Cronbach & Meehl, 1955) of the measures used to determine the individual willingness to become a parent. This measure is the tendency to abort an imagined unintended pregnancy. The following hypotheses were tested primarily as cross-validations of this measure.

Hypothesis: The tendency to abort will be positively correlated with the time from now at which the participants wish to have their first child

Because the tendency to abort is used as a measure of the current willingness to become a parent it is important to show that this measure is positively correlated with the time from now at which the participants wish to have their first child. This hypothesis was confirmed for both women, $r_p(110) = .36$, p < .001, and men, $r_p(103) = .35$, p < .001. These results confirm an important assumption of this study, namely, that abortion is regarded as a means to postpone reproduction.

Hypothesis: Age will be negatively correlated with the tendency to abort among unpaired, but not among paired women.

Because future fertility decreases with age, willingness to invest in offspring should increase over lifetime (Pärt et al., 1992; Stearns, 1992). If this holds for modern humans, the effect of age on parental motivation should reveal itself in abortion behavior. However, this correlation is to be expected only or should be stronger for unpaired women, because for them the parental costs are much higher than for paired women. Data from national statistics support the hypothesis at the level of real abortion behavior. For unmarried women, the likelihood to abort a pregnancy decreases up to age 35 (Lycett & Dunbar, 1999; Tullberg & Lumaa, 2001). It is, however, not clear whether these abortion decisions are a result of conscious deliberation (James, 1892) or, as evolutionary considerations imply, whether they depend on phylogenically older adaptations that function independently of conscious reasoning.

Based on the entire sample of women, there was no correlation between the tendency to abort and age, r(110) = -.02, p = .44. However, when paired and unpaired women were analyzed separately, there was still no correlation for paired women, r(77) = .02, p = .44, but a negative correlation for unpaired women, r(31) = -.25, p = .09). For men, age was negatively correlated with the tendency to abort r(108) = .31, p = .001). This trend was independent of men's mating status (paired men: r(60) = -.36, p = .003; unpaired men: r(46) = -.25, p = .05.

Hypothesis: The tendency to abort decreases with growing age difference between women and their partners.

This hypothesis was confirmed. The older the partner was relative to the female subject, the weaker was the women's tendency to abort, $r_p(72) = -.24$, p = .02. In a US national survey, Darroch et al., (1999) had found that women younger than 18 who became pregnant, those with a partner who

was six or more years older were less likely to have an unintended pregnancy or to terminate an unintended pregnancy than were those whose partner was no more than two years older.

Hypothesis: The tendency to abort will be negatively correlated with the level of involvement with the partner.

In the questionnaire, the tendency to abort was posed as a question under the assumption that the subject had a partner. However, a large percentage of men and women in this sample (42.6 and 27.9%, respectively) were not paired at the time the study was conducted. This makes it necessary to check for a possible effect of mating status on the tendency to abort.

The tendency to abort was higher among paired than among unpaired participants, women: $r_p(105) = .18$, p = .03; men: $r_p(103) = .11$, p = .14. However, when paired subjects were divided into those staying and those not staying with their partner, a more detailed picture and larger effects sizes emerged (Figure 5). Paired women who were not living with their partner had a significantly higher abortion tendency than both unpaired women and paired women who were living with their partner (Figure 5). This quadratic effect was confirmed when the three levels of involvement were recoded as a contrast (-1, 2, -1) and correlated with the tendency to abort, $r_p(105) = .28$, p = .002. A possible interpretation is that unpaired women imagine an ideal partner while rating their choice whereas many of the paired women are not sufficiently satisfied with their partner to found a family with him (Schwab Zabin et al., 2000).

In men, the tendency to abort was less strongly correlated with mating status, but a graphic analysis points to a curvelinear relationship similar to the one in women. Indeed, a correlation of the tendency to abort with the curvelinear contrast yielded a slightly larger effect than the previous correlation with assumption of linearity and was statistically significant, $r_p(103) = .18$, p = .03.



Figure 5. The tendency to abort and level of involvement in a relationship. – Shown are means and 95%confidence intervals. Open dots indicate men, filled dots women. The numbers below the categories indicate the number of subjects in each group.

Because these results indicate a possible impact of the level of involvement on the results of this study, all correlations were repeated with the curvelinear contrast added as control variable. The curvelinear effect of the level of involvement with a partner on the tendency to abort had no substantial impact on the results of Part II and was therefore not considered in this report.

Another measure of involvement with the partner is the duration of the current relationship which was negatively correlated with the tendency to abort in women, $r_p(74) = -.18$, p = .06, but not in men, $r_p(57) = -.02$, p = .44).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS 10.1. As principal measure of effect size, I chose correlation coefficients. Specifically, I used the coefficients after Pearson, Spearman, and the standardized regression coefficients (β) as obtained from multiple regression analysis. These coefficients have been shown to be mathematically equivalent to each other (Rosenthal & Rosnow, 2000) so that they can be compared with each other without further transformation. A further advantage of the correlation coefficient is that it can easily be transformed into other measures of effect size such as the variance explained (coefficient of determination, r^2) or Cohen's effect size measure d using formula compiled in Rosenthal et al. (2000). If not otherwise indicated, partial correlation coefficients (r_p) are controlled for age.

The Tables show correlation coefficients, sample sizes (in parentheses), and *p*-values. *P*-values are all one-tailed, because specific hypotheses about the direction of covariations were made.

Hypotheses on sex differences in correlations between two variables were tested using Fisher's r to z transformation procedure. The analyses were carried out using an online-calculator provided by Richard Lowry, College, Poughkeepsie, New York, USA, at <u>http://faculty.vassar.edu/lowry/rdiff.html</u>. For this type of analysis, only results with *P*-values < .10, (one-tailed) are reported.

All correlations that were tests of hypotheses were graphically checked for outliers and recalculated excluding these outliers. Because the number of available data varies slightly for some variables and because of different selection criteria for different hypotheses (see below), samples sizes vary between analyses.

Some variables in this study are used several times to test various hypotheses. Many would argue that to avoid spurious correlations adjusting the alpha-level is necessary (e.g., Rice, 1989; Cabin & Mitchell, 2000). However, I chose not to do so for the following reasons: First, the Bonferroni method is blind to patterns in the results that make logical sense when interpreted from a theoretical perspective. Second, I think that the Bonferroni method overestimates the value of a single study (and the value
of *p*-values at that). The present study comprises a mixture of quasireplications, explorative analyses, and tests of novel hypotheses. Its aim is to point to future directions of research. None of the results reported here should be regarded as definite truth, but should be subjected to replication and refinement by other researchers. For these reasons, I agree with D. Bem's perspective on the problem:

"Yes, there is a danger. Spurious findings can emerge by chance, and we need to be cautious about anything we discover in this way. In limited cases, there are statistical techniques that correct for this danger. But there are no statistical correctives for overlooking an important discovery because we were insufficiently attentive to the data. Let us err on the side of discovery." Bem, D. J. (2002), p. 3.

Selection criteria

The data of six participants were excluded from all analyses. Two of these six participants made unrealistic or logically inconsistent self-report regarding their sexual behavior; two participants were parents; one was an observant Muslim and did not fill in the section on sexual behavior; and one participant put crosses only at the extreme ends of the rating scales and reported that he did not want to have sex at all. After the exclusion of these six participants, the sample comprised 147 women and 136 men with mean ages of 23.37 years (± 3.07 SD) and 24.68 (± 3.20 SD), respectively.

For the analyses of hypotheses regarding sexual behavior (Part I) the selection was further restricted to heterosexual participants of a maximum age of 35 years, because the theoretical background of this study is relevant only to sex with possible reproductive consequences. After applying these exclusion criteria the final subsample of Part I comprised 130 women and 126 men with mean ages of 24.40 years (\pm 3.52 SD) and 24.40 (\pm 3.52), respectively.

The selection criteria applied to the analyses of hypotheses regarding conscious reproductive decision making (Part II) include further restrictions. Because abortion is here conceptualized as a means to postpone reproduction, all individuals who did not want to have any children at all were excluded (10 women and 5 men). Also excluded were women who had been pregnant before (6 women). Finally, the maximum age of the women (not men) was restricted to 30 years (35 years in the previous chapter), because pregnancies above this age are increasingly risky for both mother and child – a fact which seems to be reflected in the rising abortion rates in this age group as reported in national statistics (e.g., Lycett & Dunbar, 1999; Tullberg & Lumaa, 2001). After applying these exclusion criteria the final subsample comprised 111 women and 108 men with mean ages of 23.02 years (± 2.63 SD) and 24.56 (± 2.91 SD), respectively.

Results of Part I: Physical attractiveness and mating behavior a) The role of attractiveness for mating success and promiscuity

Hypothesis 1.1: Physical attractiveness will be negatively related to the age at first sexual intercourse.

One component of genic fitness is timing of reproduction (Fisher, 1930). Usually, early reproduction will be favored by natural selection. In the context of mate choice, highly attractive individuals should be found to be selectively favored by mating earlier (e.g., Udry & Billy, 1987).

In tendency, this hypothesis was confirmed for women with respect to all three measures of attractiveness, but only the correlation with facial attractiveness was statistically significant (Table 3). In men, however, all three correlations coefficients were small, nonsignificant, and two of them did not have the predicted sign.

*Hypothesis 1.2: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated with the total number of sex partners*²¹.

This hypothesis was confirmed in the overall tendency (Table 3). The correlation coefficients were not generally stronger in men than in women as may be predicted on the basis of sexual selection theory. The correlation coefficient for facial attractiveness was stronger for women than for men, whereas the coefficient for self-rated attractiveness was stronger in men. A graphic analysis of the regression plot of number of sex partners over the three measures of attractiveness (controlled for age) gave no indication of an inverse U-shaped relationship as found by Pashos and Niemietz $(2003)^{22}$.

Hypothesis 1.3: Physical attractiveness will be higher among participants with a steady partner compared to participants without a partner.

This hypothesis was confirmed for both sexes and with respect to all three measures of attractiveness (Table 3).

Hypothesis 1.4: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated to the number of sexual partners for whom the participant acted as an extra-pair partner.

Pair-bonding species are known to engage in extra-pair copulations (humans: Broude & Greene, 1976; hominoid primates: Reichard, 1995; birds: Birkhead & Møller, 1995). For males, this is only to be expected because the number of mates is critical to male mating success. For females, however, it is more difficult to explain how reproductive success should benefit from copulating with partners other than their social partner. Recent evidence on humans and other vertebrates is consistent with the idea that females gain a genic fitness advantage when their extra-pair partner is of superior genic quality relative to the social partner (Potts et al., 1991; Gangestad & Thornhill, 1997a; Johnsen et al., 2000). It follows that if physical attractive traits signal underlying genic quality, then highly attractive individuals should tend to be preferred as extra-pair copulation partners. These hypotheses are, however, not mutually exclusive, and this study is not designed to differentiate between the two. Gangestad and Thornhill (1997a) carried out the first test of this hypothesis in humans and found it supported, but only for men's extra-pair mating success as the theory of sex-specific mating strategies predicts. Such a sex difference is to be expected when one considers sex-specific mating strategies 23 .

In men, this hypothesis was confirmed with respect to facial and selfrated attractiveness (Table 3). In women, however, none of the three measures of attractiveness predicted the number of paired sex partners (Table 3). The fact that the objective measures of attractiveness are better predictors for extra-pair mating success in men than in women is consistent with the idea that women, as the choosier sex, should engage in extra-pair copulations only when the extra-pair partner is of particularly high attractiveness (Jennions & Petrie, 2000).

Hypothesis 1.5: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated to the Sociosexual Orientation Inventory.

The Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (SOI) by Simpson and Gangestad (1991; 1992) is a personality scale that includes both behavioral and attitudinal measures. Sociosexual orientation, or sociosexuality, refers to individual differences in willingness to engage in sexual relations without closeness, commitment, and other indicators of emotional bonding. Individuals who have demonstrated an unrestricted sociosexual orientation tend to engage in sex in the absence of such indicators, whereas those who have demonstrated a restricted sociosexual orientation typically do not (Gangestad & Simpson, 1990). Simpson and Gangestad (1992) predicted that the SOI should be positively correlated to physical attractiveness, because of the mating opportunities highly attractive people enjoy. These mating opportunities are assumed to affect mating behavior directly and through an adjustment of attitudes to these opportunities that is mediated by attractiveness. Again, considering sex-specific mating strategies one might expect this hypothesis to be supported for men rather than for women. But current evidence does not show such sex difference in the relationship between attractiveness and the SOI (Simpson & Gangestad, 1992).

This hypothesis was confirmed, in tendency, for both sexes (Table 3). Because in men sociosexuality was highly correlated with social desirability (see Appendix, Table 1), the analysis was repeated for all three measures of attractiveness with age and social desirability as control variables. The resulting correlations were $r_p(36) = .09$, p = .29; $r_p(40) = .34$, p = .01; and $r_p(40) = -.07$, p = .33. Table 4 shows the correlations between the single items of the SOI and the three measures of attractiveness.

	women				men			
	facial	self- rated	BMI	_	facial	self- rated	BMI	
age at first sex	19	15	.14		.10	08	09	
	(105)	(117)	(117)		(80)	(100)	(99)	
	.03	.06	.07		.20	.22	.18	
number of sex	.27	.06 ^a	05		.11	.29 ^a	02	
partners	(113)	(125)	(125)		(95)	(118)	(117)	
	.002	.25	.29		.14	.001	.40	
current pairing	.27	.18	21		.23	.27	16	
status ¹	(112)	(124)	(124)		(97)	(121)	(120)	
	.002	.02	.009		.01	.001	.04	
extra-pair	.01	.04	04		.17	.18	04	
mating success ²	(114)	(126)	(126)		(95)	(120)	(119)	
	.47	.32	.33		.05	.02	.33	
SOI ³	.13	$.00^{b}$.06		.24	.19 ^b	05	
	(112)	(124)	(124)		(88)	(107)	(106)	
	.08	.49	.28		.01	.02	.30	
same evening	04 ^c	14 ^d	.12 ^e		.16 ^c	.17 ^d	14 ^e	
sex	(115)	(127)	(127)		(98)	(123)	(122)	
	.35	.06	.08		.06	.03	.05	

Table 3. The role of attractiveness in mating behavior.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values. – The definition of sex excluded sex with prostitutes and coercive sex.

1 Unpaired subjects were coded with 0, paired subjects with 1.

2 Number of sex partners who were mated at the time the subject had sex with them.

3 Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (Simpson & Gangestad, 1991).

a to e Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: a p = .03; b p = .07; c p = .07; d p = .007; e p = .02.

Hypothesis 1.6: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated to the readiness to have sex with an attractive person one has only known for an evening.

One component of promiscuity is how quickly a person engages in sexual relations with a new acquaintance. The reasons why attractiveness should promote this aspect of promiscuity are the same as for sociosexuality.

This hypothesis was supported for men, but not for women (Table 3). In men, all three measures of attractiveness were at least marginally significantly correlated in the predicted direction. The seeming sex difference in the readiness for same evening sex is noteworthy, because sexual selection theory implies that males in particular should allocate their sexual effort according to their mate value.

	women				men		
SOI ¹ items	facial	self- rated	BMI	facial	self- rated	BMI	
number of sex partners in past year	.23 (97) .01	.19 (127) .02	03 (127) .38	.20 (83) .03	.27 (122) .001	11 (121) .11	
number of partners with whom only one sexual encounter	.17 (96) .05	.25 (125) .002	.06 (125) .26	.12 (82) .13	.17 (119) .03	.03 (118) .37	
estimated number of sex partners in the next five years	.09 (97) .18	.02 (126) .40	.03 (126) .36	.15 (78) .09	.15 (114) .05	08 (113) .21	
"Sex without love is okay."	.08 ^a (97) .21	01 (127) .46	.02 (127) .41	.30 ^a (83) .003	.13 (123) .07	06 (122) .26	
"I can imagine having sex with many partners."	.12 (97) .11	08 (127) .18	.07 (127) .22	.19 (83) .04	.08 (123) .17	05 (122) .30	
"I have to feel close to the person " (reverse coded)	.13 (97) .10	.10 (127) .12	.02 (127) .39	.00 (83) .50	.05 (123) .29	02 (122) .41	
frequency of extra- pair sex fantasies	02 ^b (97) .41	00 (126) .49	.08 (126) .19	.22 ^b (79) .02	.15 (116) .05	.08 (115) .21	

Table 4. Correlations between the items of the SOI and the three measures of attractiveness in women and men.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed p-values. – The definition of sex excluded sex with prostitutes and coercive sex.

a, b Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: a p = .07; b p = .06.

1 Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (Simpson & Gangestad, 1991).

b) The role of attractiveness in romantic relationships

Hypothesis 1.7: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated to having been unfaithful.

This may be because a) highly attractive people are exposed to a larger number of opportunities for extra-pair copulations or b) highly attractive people are more strongly motivated to seek extra-pair copulations, because due to imperfect assortative mating (Vandenberg, 1972; Grammer, 1995; Alvarez, 2004) they are more likely to be of higher mate value than their partner. Gangestad and Thornhill (1997a) found that men's, but not women's, numbers of extra-pair partners were positively correlated with their facial attractiveness.

The hypothesis was confirmed, at least in tendency, with respect to facial and self-rated attractiveness. The BMI did not predict men's nor women's infidelity (Table 5).

Hypothesis 1.8: Physical attractiveness will be related to the duration of the current romantic relationship.

This hypothesis may apply particularly to men, because they are predicted to use their attractiveness to achieve short-term mating goals. That is, although highly attractive men easily attract a female partner, they should also be more inclined to leave them in favor of other women. Highly attractive people of both sexes should also be exposed to more mating opportunities than less attractive people, so that for them breaking up with a partner would be associated with smaller opportunity costs than for less attractive people.

This hypothesis was confirmed for both sexes (Table 5). However, a graphical analysis of the data revealed an outlier in the female sample. Repeating the analysis under exclusion of this outlier yielded slightly weaker correlations with facial attractiveness and self-rated attractiveness (Table 5, note 2.).

	women				men			
	facial	self- rated	BMI	facial	self- rated	BMI		
ever been	.25	.15	04	.20	.19	05		
unfaithful?	.004	.05	(123)	(94) .03	.02	.28		
duration of current partnership ²	27 (80) .006	14 (90) .09	.05 (90) .30	20 (53) .07	24 (63) .03	.20 (62) .05		
partnership asymmetry ³	10 81 .19	.02 91 .41	09 91 .19	.11 53 .22	.16 63 .11	.08 62 .28		
initiator of breakup ⁴	10 96 .15	.03 ^a 106 .36	12 106 .12	15 81 .08	23 ^a 102 .01	.02 101 .42		

Table 5. The role of attractiveness in romantic relationships.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values.

1 Coded as 0 never and 1 at least once.

2 After the exclusion of an outlier the correlations for men were: $r_p(79) = -.17$, p = .07; $r_p(89) = -.09$, p = .19; and $r_p(89) = -.05$, p = .33.

3 Shown are the correlations with the original 7-point scale for partnership asymmetry, in which low values mean that the subject is more in love with the partner than vice versa and high values mean that the partner is more in love with the subject than vice versa. In women, the correlation with facial attractiveness was repeated with a quadratic contrast: subjects whose partnerships are balanced are contrasted with the two unbalanced groups, coded as 2 versus -1, -1. This correlation yielded $r_p(81) = .17$, p = .07. In men, the correlation with facial attractiveness was repeated with a twogroup contrast: subject is more strongly or equally attached versus partner is more strongly attached, coded as 0 and 1, respectively. This correlation yielded $r_p(53) = .26$, p = .03.

4 Shown are the correlations with the original 7-point scale for break-up initiation. In women, the correlation with facial attractiveness was repeated with a quadratic contrast: subjects who broke up with their partner consensually are contrasted with the two other groups, coded as -2 versus 1, 1. This correlation yielded $r_p(96) = .26$, p = .005. In men, the correlation with facial attractiveness was repeated with a two-group contrast: break-up was predominantly initiated by subject versus the combined two other categories, coded as 0, 1. This correlation yielded $r_p(81) = ..17$, p = .06. a Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: p = .03.

Hypothesis 1.9: Attractiveness will be related to partnership asymmetry such that highly attractive participants will tend to feel less attached to their partner than their partner feels towards them.

Although there is a tendency for assortative mating with respect to attractiveness (Vandenberg, 1972; Grammer, 1995; Alvarez, 2004), assortative mating is not always perfect. That is, a certain proportion of highly attractive people will be mated to relatively less attractive partners. The resulting imbalance in relative mate value may lead to an equivalent imbalance in the relative level of attachment between the partners in which the more attractive partner feels less attached to the partner than vice versa. Accordingly, Critelli and Waid (1980) found that men and women in dating relationships who described their partner as more attractive than themselves also tended to profess greater love for and submissiveness to their partners than did men and women who described their partners as less attractive than themselves.

This hypothesis was confirmed, in tendency, only for men. In women, none of the three measures of attractiveness correlated meaningfully with partnership asymmetry (Table 5). In men, however, facial and self-rated attractiveness was correlated with partnership asymmetry in the predicted direction (Table 5).

After these tests with the assumption of linearity, the data from all three measures of attractiveness were graphically checked for possible nonlinear relationships with partnership asymmetry. In Figure 6, the facial attractiveness of both sexes is plotted over the trichotomized variable "partnership asymmetry". In women, the plotted data indicate a quadratic relationship (Figure 6). It would appear that women living in asymmetric relationships are of average attractiveness, but women in perfectly balanced relationships are the most attractive group – significantly more attractive than average. Indeed, if the three categories are coded as a quadratic contrast (-1, 2, -1) and correlated with female facial attractiveness, the coefficient becomes slightly larger than in the linear correlation and close to significance (Table 5). In men, too, it would appear that there is a nonlinear relationship between facial attractiveness and the three categories. When the category "partner is more strongly attached" was contrasted with the combined two other categories the difference became more pronounced and significant (Table 5).



Figure 6. Facial attractiveness (*z*-values) and partnership asymmetry (trichotomized). – Shown are means and 95%-confidence intervals. Open dots indicate men, filled dots indicate women. The numbers below the categories indicate the number of subjects in each group.

In summary, the hypothesis was partly confirmed for men, but not for women. Future replications will have to show whether the quadratic effects can be repeated and deserve further investigation. It should be noted that because the partner's attractiveness is not known, the approach used here bears a relatively high risk of committing a Type II error (that is, a risk of failing to find an effect where there really is one) and that any positive findings will likely underestimate the true effect size. Hypothesis 1.10: Participants who initiated the break-up of the last relationship will tend to be more attractive than participants whose partner was the initiator of the last relationship.

This hypothesis follows the same logic as the previous one. When there is an imbalance in mate value in a couple, the more attractive one is more



Figure 7. Facial attractiveness (*z*-values) and initiator of break-up of last relationship (trichotomized). – Shown are means and 95%confidence intervals. Open dots indicate men, filled dots indicate women. The numbers below the categories indicate the number of subjects in each group.

likely to initiate break-up than his or her partner (Bechinie, 1998).

When the original 7-point scale of the break-up question was correlated with the three measures of attractiveness, the hypothesis was supported, in tendency, for men with respect to facial and self-rated attractiveness. In women, facial attractiveness correlated negatively with initiation of break-up, as predicted, but the correlation with the BMI was opposite to prediction (Table 5). In men, however, facial and self-rated attractiveness were correlated with partnership asymmetry in the predicted direction (Table 5).

After these tests with the assumption of linearity, the data from all three measures of attractiveness were graphically checked for possible nonlinear relationships with initiation of break-up. In Figure 7, the facial attractiveness of both sexes is plotted over the trichotomized variable "initiator of break-up". It appears that in women there is a non-linear relationship between facial attractiveness and the three categories in which women who had broken up consensually were of lowest facial attractiveness whereas the other two groups were equally attractive. When the category "consensual break-up" was contrasted with the combined two other categories the correlation became stronger and significant for women (Table 5).

In summary, the hypothesis was confirmed for men, but not for women. As in the case of partnership asymmetry, the partner's attractiveness is not known, so that the approach used to test the break-up hypothesis bears a relatively high risk of committing a Type II error and that any positive findings will likely underestimate the true effect size.

Discussion of Part I:

In Part I, it was generally found that, as predicted, the three measures of physical attractiveness were 1. positively correlated to measures of mating success and 2. negatively correlated with measures of exclusivity and stability of romantic relationships in both men and women. The association between attractiveness and mating success was most consistent with respect to pairing status. In both men and women, all three measures of attractiveness were significantly correlated and with similar effect sizes: Participants with a partner tended to be more attractive than participants without partner. Pairing status as a component of mating success is important in the theoretical context of this study because the likelihood of conception increases with the duration of a sexual partnership (Wood, 1994; Linton et al., 2001). Self-rated attractiveness was more often a significant predictor of mating success for men than for women. It was correlated to only one measure of mating success in women (pairing status), but to five of the altogether six measures in men. Extra-pair mating success was positively related to facial attractiveness, but only for men, implying that women, being the choosier sex in shortterm-mating contexts (Buss & Schmitt, 1993; Buss, 2003), tend to have sex with paired men only when they are particularly attractive.

There was also evidence in support of the hypothesis that attractiveness has a disruptive impact on romantic relationships. First, compared to their less attractive counterparts highly attractive participants tended to be less faithful. It must be noted, however, that this effect may be explained solely by the fact that more attractive individuals are more likely to have a partner, so that this fact alone may give them more opportunities to be unfaithful than less attractive individuals. Second, the duration of the current relationship tended to be negatively correlated with attractiveness. Considered together with the finding that paired participants tended to be more attractive than unpaired ones, this suggests that highly attractive

people change partners at a higher rate than less attractive people. Less attractive people on the other hand find it somewhat more difficult to find a partner, but tend to have relationships that last longer than those of their more attractive counterparts do. Third, there was some evidence that compared to less attractive men, highly attractive men 1. are more likely to have initiated the break-up of the previous relationship and 2. to see themselves less attached to their partner than their partner feels attached to them. However, among women it was found that those participants who perceived the initiation of the last break-up as balanced between the partners tended to be less attractive than women who reported that the break-up was initiated by one of the couple. On the other hand, women who perceived their current relationship relationship as balanced between the partners, tended to be facially *more* attractive than women who perceived an imbalance towards either side. It may be speculated that highly attractive women use the power associated with their attractiveness to create stable relationships, whereas highly attractive men use their mate value to create relationships in which they have the power to opt for a change of partners. From the perspective of current evolutionary theory (Trivers, 1972), both strategies would be in the respective reproductive interest of the sexes. Future studies must show whether the seeming sex differences found here are repeatable before these speculations deserve further scrutiny.

The bodymass index (BMI) is much less studied than facial attractiveness, both as a component of overall physical attractiveness (Rikowski & Grammer, 1999; Thornhill & Grammer, 1999; Tovée et al., 1999; Maisey et al., 1999; Kurzban & Weeden, 2005) and with respect to its sexual consequences (Halpern et al., 1999; Hume & Montgomerie, 2001; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001). Compared to the similarly objective but more complex trait of facial attractiveness, the BMI yielded fewer significant results. Only paring status (both sexes) and the duration of the

77

current relationship (only in men) were significantly correlated. This may be because the BMI is a less important component of overall attractiveness or because of low variability in the BMI data. The distribution of the BMI is highly skewed towards the lower, more attractive group so that individuals with high BMI will tend to be underrepresented in samples of limited size. Nevertheless, the result that BMI was negatively correlated to the likelihood of currently having a steady partner corresponds to the study by Halpern et al. (1999) who found that the amount of body fat in adolescent girls was negatively related to the likelihood of dating. The direction of causation underlying the positive correlation between male BMI and the duration of the relationship cannot be determined with certainty. Perhaps, men gain weight as a consequence of a lasting relationship. A study from Poland (Lipowicz et al., 2002) found that married men and women had higher BMIs compared to unmarried men and women of the same age. However, since in this study male and female facial attractiveness were similarly related to the duration of the current relationship, it seems more plausible that overall attractiveness causes partnerships to break up sooner.

Based on current theory of mating strategies (Trivers, 1972), one would predict sex differences for some of the correlations between attractiveness and measures of mating success. Compared to female reproductive success, male reproductive success is much more limited by the number of sex partners than by their genic quality. One would thus expect male physical attractiveness to translate into larger numbers of sex partners. On the other hand, women may use their attractiveness to obtain partners of particularly high quality in terms of attractiveness, devotion, resources, etc. It is thus possible that female attractiveness is not or is less strongly correlated with quantitative measures of mating success. However, the pattern of correlation coefficients displayed in Table 3 is not entirely consistent with this theory. On the one hand, age at first sex was negatively correlated with attractiveness in women but not in men. In addition, the correlation between number of sex partners and the most objective and complex measure of attractiveness, facial attractiveness, was higher in women than in men. The reverse patterns would have been implied by theory. On the other hand, consistent with the theory of sex-specific mating strategies, extra-pair mating success depended on attractiveness only in men, but not in women (Table 3). This result suggests that paired women have particularly high attractiveness standards for extra-pair partners, and may have extra-pair copulations only with partners who are at least as attractiveness signals genic quality, then female preferences for extra-pair partners may be ultimately designed to endow their offspring with the best available genes.

However, does sexual selection theory necessarily predict that the correlation between attractiveness and mating success is stronger in men than in women? Maybe this is not so. The interpretation of the results is limited by the fact that the results are based on outcome measures, which permit only limited conclusions as to the underlying social processes. It is possible that the correlation between attractiveness and mating success in men is largely a consequence of female mate choice, whereas in women it is a consequence of men's strong sexual interest, which may rise disproportionately with women's attractiveness. In other words, the number of actual sex partners must be considered in relation to the number of sexual opportunities offered by individuals of the opposite sex. From this perspective, it may be that highly attractive women are intrinsically still less promiscuous than less attractive women are²⁴.

In conclusion, Part I contributes to a still small number of studies addressing the relationship between attractiveness and measures of mating success or promiscuity (references in Langlois et al., 2000; Hughes & Gallup, 2003; Pashos & Niemitz, 2003; Rhodes et al., 2005). Overall, the predictions were met, but the results varied according to which measures of attractiveness and mating behavior were used.

Results of Part II: Promiscuity, attractiveness, and willingness to become a parent

a) Bivariate analyses

Hypothesis 2.1: Promiscuity will be positively correlated with the tendency to abort.

Promiscuity, measured as the lifetime sex partners, was positively correlated with the tendency to abort in women, but the same correlation was very low and not significant in men (Table 6).

The two other measures of promiscuity, the SOI and same evening sex, were both positively related to the tendency to abort in both women and men (Table 6). Table 7 shows the correlations between the seven items of the SOI and the tendency to abort.

Table 6. Correlations between measures of promiscuity and the tendency to abort in women and men.

measures of promiscuity	women	men
number of sex	.27	.09
partners ^a	(105)	(100)
	.002	.19
SOI^1	.31	.34
	(106)	(91)
	.001	<.001
same evening	.17	.18
sex	(107)	(105)
	.04	.03

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*values. a Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: p = .09. 1 Sociosexual Orientation Inventory

(Simpson & Gangestad, 1991).

SOI ¹ items	women	men		
number of sex partners in past year	.09 (107) .18	.15 (104) .07		
number of partners with whom participant had only one sexual encounter	.17 (106) .04	.01 (101) .46		
estimated number of sex partners in the next five years	.18 (107) .03	.23 (97) .01		
"Sex without love is okay."	.28 (107) .002	.26 (105) .004		
"I can imagine having sex with many partners." ^a	.30 (107) .001	16 (105) .05		
"I have to feel close to the person I have sex with." (reverse coded)	.16 (107) .04	.18 (105) .03		
How often do you fantasize about having sex with someone else than your partner?	.19 (107) .03	.37 (99) <.001		
<i>Note</i> . Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed <i>p</i> -values. a Fisher's <i>r</i> to <i>z</i> transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: $p < .001$. 1 Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (Simpson & Gangestad, 1991).				

Table 7. Correlations between the items of the SOI and the tendency to abort in women and men.

Hypothesis 2.2: Physical attractiveness will be positively correlated with the tendency to abort.

With respect to expert-rated facial attractiveness, this hypothesis was confirmed for women (Table 8). I consider now some potentially confounding factors. Earlier it was found that the tendency to abort was lower in women who had no partner compared to women who had a partner, but did not live with him. On the other hand, paired women were more facially attractive compared to unpaired ones. It may therefore be possible that the positive correlation between attractiveness and abortion tendency is caused by differences between women of different pairing status. To test this hypothesis, the analysis was repeated, now restricted to women who were either unpaired or did not live with their partner. In this subsample of women, the partial correlation between facial attractiveness and abortion tendency was $r_p(75) = .30$, p = .004. When I added mating status as a control variable, the size of the correlation coefficient was only slightly smaller, $r_p(74) = .24$, p = .02. Finally, I examined the whole sample of women for a possible social desirability bias, but found no evidence for this, $r_p(49) = .28$, p = .02. I conclude that the correlation between facial attractiveness and the tendency to abort is not substantially confounded by the variables considered above.

In men, too, a positive correlation between facial attractiveness and the tendency to opt for abortion was found (Table 8). As in the analysis of women, confounding factors have to be considered. Restricting the analysis to men who do not live with a partner, the effect size is almost the same, $r_p(67) = .22$, p = .03, and adding mating status as a control variable had little influence, $r_p(66) = .19$, p = .06. I also did a partial correlation that controlled for social desirability. The resulting effect size was lower in this subsample, $r_p(29) = .11$, p = .28. Note, however, that the size of the sample for which the necessary variables are available is particularly small in this analysis, so that the estimation of the correlation coefficient may be highly unreliable.

Self-rated physical attractiveness was not correlated with the tendency to abort for either sex (Table 8), indicating that subjects were not consciously opting for abortion, *because* they perceived themselves to be highly attractive.

Table 8. Correlations between measures of physical attractiveness and the tendency to abort in women and men.

measure of	women	men
attractiveness		
facial	.28	.21
	(96)	(83)
	.002	.03
self-rated	.09	.01
	(107)	(105)
	.19	.45
BMI	13	14
	(107)	(104)
	.09	.08

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values.

The third measure of physical attractiveness was the BMI. As predicted, in both men and women there was a negative, though small, correlation between the BMI and the tendency to abort (Table 8).

In summary then, the hypothesis that highly attractive participants would show a higher tendency to abort than less attractive ones was supported – not only for women, but also for men.

Hypothesis 2.3 Subjects' tendency to abort will be negatively related to their fondness for children.

As predicted, the FCS was negatively related to the tendency to abort in both women, $r_p(107) = -.31$, p < .001, and men, $r_p(104) = -.27$, p = .002. Because the FCS was positively correlated with social desirability in both men and women (see Appendix, Table 3), the analysis was repeated with social desirability as a control variable. For women, the correlation between tendency to abort and the childcare scale remained nearly unchanged, $r_p(53) = -.29$, p = .02, and for men it was lower, but still in the predicted direction, $r_p(36) = -.15$, p = .18.²⁵

b) Multiple regression analysis

In the preceeding correlational analyses, three major predictors of the tendency to abort were identified: promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children²⁶. Here I will subject these variables to a simultaneous analysis in a multiple regression²⁷. The purpose of this analysis is threefold. First, the standardized regression coefficients of the three variables can be compared with each other to draw preliminary conclusions about the variables' relative significance. Second, the analysis tested the interaction hypothesis that individuals who are both highly attractive and highly promiscuous will show the highest tendency to abort. Third, it serves to determine in how far the effect of attractiveness on the tendency to abort is mediated by promiscuity (Baron & Kenny, 1986).

Table 9. Intercorrelations between the three predictors of the tendency to abort: SOI, facial attractiveness, FCS, and age for the subsamples entering the multiple regression analysis.

	1	2	3	4	5
1. tendency to abort	-	.35 <.001	.30 .001	30 .001	.02 .41
2. SOI ¹	.47 <.001	-	.17 .04	23 .01	.04 .33
3. facial attractiveness	.23 .02	.31 .003	-	.01 .47	11 .15
4. FCS^2	28 .007	02 .44	.03 .39	-	06 .28
5. age	24 .02	01 .47	10 .18	03 .42	-

Note. Shown are Pearson correlation coefficients and one-tailed *p*-values. – Cells above the diagonal show results for women (n = 98); those below the diagonal show results for men (n = 77). 1 Sociosexual Orientation Inventory (Simpson & Gangestad, 1991). 2 Fondness for Children Scale.

First, I ran a multiple regression in which SOI, facial attractiveness, the FCS, and age were simultaneously entered as independent variables. The bivariate correlations for all variables involved in the analysis are shown in Table 9, and the results of the regression analysis are shown in Table 10. Apart from men's facial attractiveness, all predictors that were significant at the bivariate level remained significant in the multiple regressions. This means that they all contribute independently to explaining the variance in the tendency to abort.

1	•		
a) women ^a	β	t	p^1
constant	-	3.27	.008
SOI ²	.25	2.6	.009
facial attractiveness	.26	2.79	.006
FCS ³	25	-2.63	.01
age	.02	.24	.81
b) men ^b			
constant	-	5.23	<.001
SOI ²	.43	4.34	<.001
facial attractiveness	.09	.85	.40
FCS ³	28	-2.93	.005
age	23	-2.46	.02

Table 10. Multiple regression analyses. Promiscuity, facial attractiveness, fondness for children, and age as predictors of the tendency to abort.

Note. Independent variables were entered simultaneously. a corrected $R^2 = .21$, df = 97, F = 7.36, p(two-tailed) < .001. b corrected $R^2 = .32$, df = 77, F = 9.86, p(two-tailed) < .001.

1 two-tailed.

2 Sociosexual Orientation Index.

3 Fondness for children Scale.

Next, I looked for a possible interaction effect between the SOI and facial attractiveness. The expectation here was that individuals who are both high on promiscuity and attractiveness have a disproportionately higher tendency to abort compared to individuals who are high on only either variable. An interaction term was calculated as the product of the *z*-standardized SOI and facial attractiveness data. Then, a hierarchic multiple regression was run in which SOI and facial attractiveness were entered in step one and the interaction term was added in step two. However, no significant change in the variance explained was found for either women, p = .34, or men, p = .63.

Finally, I conducted a mediational analysis. The multiple regression analysis (Table 10) indicated that in men, the effect of facial attractiveness on the tendency to abort might be mediated by promiscuity. The necessary preconditions for a mediational analysis were met with the finding that 1. the predictor (facial attractiveness) was correlated with the hypothesized mediator (promiscuity), 2. that the latter was correlated with the criterion (the tendency to abort) and 3. that the predictor was correlated with the criterion (Baron & Kenny, 1986, see Table 9). Mediation would be established if it were found that the relation between the predictor and the criterion were eliminated or significantly reduced when the criterion was regressed simultaneously on the predictor and the mediator. Consequently, the next step in the mediational analysis was to regress SOI and facial attractiveness simultaneously on the tendency to abort. If it were found that the SOI suppresses the effect of facial attractiveness on the tendency to abort relative to the bivariate correlation between facial attractiveness and the tendency to abort, it could be concluded that the SOI is a significant mediator of the effect of attractiveness on the tendency to abort.

For women, in a multiple regression including the SOI and facial attractiveness, there was no evidence for a mediational effect of the SOI. Both SOI and facial attractiveness remained significant predictors, and the β -weights were similar to the bivariate correlation coefficients, SOI: $\beta = .31$, p = .001; facial attractiveness: $\beta = .24$, p = .01. For men, however, there was seeming evidence for mediation, SOI: $\beta = .44$, p < .001; facial attractiveness: $\beta = .10$, p = .36. To test whether the effect is significant, the

bivariate coefficient of the correlation between facial attractiveness and tendency to abort (.23, see Table 9) has to be compared to the β -weight of the SOI in the multiple regression by means of Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients. However, it was found that the difference between the two coefficients was not significant, p = .21.

Discussion of Part II:

The second part of this study tested some hypotheses relating to childless women's and men's willingness to become a parent as measured by the tendency to abort. It was predicted that the tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy would be positively correlated with promiscuity and attractiveness and negatively correlated with fondness for children. These hypotheses were tested to reach two research goals. The first research goal was to find evidence for determinants of the decision to abort that are difficult to assess in face-to-face interviews. The second research goal was to contribute to an evolutionary malfunctional analysis (see introduction of Part II) of modern humans' contraceptive behavior. Generally, the hypotheses were supported by the results.

The current study is one of very few studies to investigate male abortion attitudes (Betzig & Lombardo, 1991; Walzer, 1994; Holmberg & Wahlberg, 2000). Here, it was generally found that that the predictors of abortion attitudes were the same and of similar magnitude for women and men. In addition, there was no sex difference in the tendency to abort. This is surprising as far as one might have expected men to be less emotionally affected by a dilemma that would affect them only indirectly through their partner. It also means that the tendency to abort as a measure for the willingness to become a parent can be fruitfully used to study men as well as women, at least in modern Germany.

Promiscuity and the tendency to abort

As predicted, promiscuity was positively correlated with the tendency to abort in both sexes. For women, comparable findings have been reported in earlier studies (Niemelä et al., 1981; Granberg, 1982; Costa et al., 1987; Helferich and Küppers-Chinnow, 1996). For example, Niemelä et al., (2003) found that the likelihood of repeated abortion was positively correlated with the number of past romantic relationships. Helferich and Küppers-Chinnow (1996) reported that first-time aborters were characterized by an unwillingness to commit to the current partner. Furthermore, one study of intentionally childless couples in Germany found that these were characterized by a larger number of previous partners, by relatively relaxed attitudes towards faithfulness, and by viewing sexuality as something hedonic rather than emotional (Rost & Schneider, 1996). All these findings are consistent with the hypothesis that highly promiscuous individuals have a stronger tendency to abort because they anticipate a future conflict between a hedonic desire to mate with multiple partners on the one hand and parenting on the other (introduction of Part II). However, alternative interpretations have to be considered. First, it has been proposed that the correlation between promiscuity and (attitudes towards) abortion is simply revealing of generally permissive attitudes (Niemelä et al., 1981; Granberg, 1982; Costa et al., 1987). This is different from the hypothesis offered in the current study that abortion is not seen as being caused by promiscuity. Here both promiscuity and positive attitudes towards abortion were shown to represent two independent expressions of a general permissiveness. Unfortunately, neither the current study nor any of the above-mentioned studies were designed to differentiate between the two interpretations. Possibly, promiscuity really does cause women and men to opt for abortion, but not via a hedonic preference of mating to parenting as was assumed here. Instead, highly promiscuous individuals may be unable to become emotionally attached to a partner strongly enough to form long-lasting relationships (e.g., Simpson, 1990). Consequently, they may anticipate that they will not be able to live out the parental role as required by their own or by prevailing standards. Again, the current data do not allow for a critical test here. However, this alternative interpretation, if true, would only constitute yet another maladaptive case of anticipation that can become effective only in times of effective contraception. The results of one study

imply that the significance of attachment style as a cause of promiscuity may differ between women and men. Gangestad and Thornhill, (1997a) found that attachment style predicted the number of partners for whom participants acted as extra-pair mating only in women, but not in men.

Physical attractiveness and the tendency to abort

An important result of this study was that both women and men of high physical attractiveness showed a higher tendency to abort than their less attractive counterparts did. This was true for facial attractiveness as well as for the BMI, though not significantly so when each sex was considered separately. In contrast, self-rated attractiveness was not correlated with the tendency to abort, indicating that participants did not base their rating on an awareness of their level of attractiveness. Instead, it seems that participants' attractiveness becomes relevant to their tendency to abort via a self-concept of social opportunity, which builds up over time through social feedback. If this interpretation is correct, it should apply to determinants of social opportunity other than attractiveness as well. A plausible candidate is intelligence (Jensen, 1998). Indeed, intelligence is a predictor of educational success (Jensen, 1998; Rowe et al., 1999; Deary et al., 2004) and is currently negatively correlated with fertility in Western industrialized countries (Vining, 1986; Lynn, 1996; Rodgers et al., 2000). Furthermore, there is some evidence that women's level of education is positively correlated with abortion rates (Krishnan & Krotki, 1999). Like high levels of promiscuity and attractiveness, a high level of intelligence may create perceived opportunity conflicts between future educational or vocational success and future parenting. That this latter opportunity conflict really exists and constitutes a major cause of the recent fertility decline is generally accepted, at least for women (Shaumann & Xie, 1996; Kemkes-Grottenthaler, 2003; Kohler and Rodgers, 2003). Hence, the evidence for the negative effect of intelligence on fertility corresponds well to the

evidence and proposed causal processes related here with respect to promiscuity and attractiveness²⁸.

However, should one really expect promiscuity and physical attractiveness to have a negative effect on fertility at the population level as the results of this study seem to imply? After all, promiscuity should raise the risk of conception, and so should attractiveness by raising the likelihood of being currently sexually active (Kohler and Rodgers, 2003). Indeed, it is possible that the net effect of promiscuity and attractiveness on fertility is still positive, but the results of the current study imply that both promiscuity and attractiveness may simultaneously have a negative influence on fertility. In other words, there are two opposed processes involved - one adaptive, the other maladaptive - through which promiscuity and attractiveness may influence the age at first child, namely, 1. conception risk and 2. the desire to postpone parenthood because of perceived opportunity conflicts. The relative strength of these processes remains to be determined and will depend much on the effectiveness of the contraceptive methods used, as well as on the opportunity structure of the environment.

In a multiple regression analysis with the tendency to abort as dependent variable, women's facial attractiveness turned out as a significant predictor independent of promiscuity and fondness for children. This implies that highly attractive women experience advantages in social contexts other than mating that they seek to protect by abortion and that were not assessed in this study. Possibly, these women have a higher tendency to abort because they perceive their future career chances as more favorable than their less attractive counterparts do. In male participants, in contrast, prosmicuity reduced the effect of facial attractiveness in a multiple regression analysis, implying that highly attractive men favor abortion mainly because the perceived loss in mating opportunities is largely predicted by their attractiveness. However, a mediational analysis revealed that this conclusion is not supported by statistical criteria.

To my knowledge, attractiveness has not been described as a predictor of abortion attitudes or abortion behavior before. However, one other study claimed to have found a positive correlation between a component of female mate value and induced abortion. In their study of national statistics of England and Wales, Lycett and Dunbar (1999) found that among unmarried women in the age between 16 and 40 years, the agespecific probability of abortion was strongly and positively correlated with women's age-specific probability of future marriage. The authors concluded that with increasing age, women's mate value decreases so that their acceptance of single motherhood rises with the decreasing likelihood to find a long-term partner. However, the risk of falsely inferring causation from correlation is particularly high when the correlated variables are themselves correlated with age, as is the case with age-specific probabilities of abortion and future marriage. In other words, any variables that vary linearly with age classes will necessarily be correlated with each other, making conclusions on causation impossible²⁹. This problem was circumvented in the present study by using physical attractiveness as a measure of mate value while controlling for age in all correlations. In this way, it was possible to support the conclusion of Lycett and Dunbar (1999) - unsupported by their data - that women's mate value is positively correlated with their tendency to abort. However, Lycett and Dunbar frame their study – although only implicitely so – within the FMA, implying that the negative correlation between women's mate value and abortion decisions represents an adaptive life-history trade-off. Based on the theory presented in the introduction to this study, this interpretation is not necessarily to be agreed with.

Fondness for children and the tendency to abort

The third general hypothesis of this second part was that the tendency to abort should be negatively correlated with the Fondness for Children Scale (FCS), a scale that measures the liking of and responsiveness to stranger children (Rohde & Hoier, 2001, unpublished). Although it is known that individual women and men differ in their responsiveness to children (Rohde & Hoier, 2001; Maestripieri & Pelka, 2002; Seyfritz et al., 2003; this study), this personality component has, to my knowledge, never been considered before as a predictor of abortion³⁰. The finding of a positive correlation between the FCS and the tendency to abort may come as no surprise, but it is important for two reasons. First, it fills an empirical gap within research on the determinants of abortion. When women who had an abortion are asked in open questions for their reasons, they are unlikely to admit to or may not be aware of their low fondness for children playing a role. Hence, a low fondness for children is not listed in two frequently cited large-scale studies on women's reasons to abort (Torres & Forrest, 1988; Bankole et al., 1998). Second, this result was predicted within an evolutionary malfunctional analysis of contraceptive behavior. As explained in the introduction to Part II, fondness for children very likely played no role as a determinant of conception during the greater part of human natural history. However, with the development and widespread use of increasingly effective contraceptives this personality trait is predicted to be of increasing importance to human fertility behavior. This novel significance of the fondness for children as a possible adaptation thus represents a mismatch in the sense outlined above (Introduction of Part II); if one that has a positive effect on reproductive success rather than a negative one. Third, as revealed in the multiple regression analysis, the predictive value of the FCS, as measured by β , was similar to that of promiscuity and facial attractiveness, thereby putting the latter two predictors into scale. If one considers attitudes towards children an

important predictor of abortion behavior, as would seem plausible to most, then promiscuity and attractiveness as the maybe less intuitive predictors are to be considered as equally important and as deserving of equal attention in future research. On the other hand, the similarity in effect size of the three measures shows that a liking of children is not paramount to a motivation to reproduce (compare Miller, 1995), as further, unrelated traits play an equally strong role in determining willingness to become a parent.

Implications for research on abortion and fertility behavior

The current study used an abortion scenario to assess women's (and men's) tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy. Although the results presented here imply that the scenario is likely to reflect at least qualitatively real abortion decisions (of women), it remains to be shown that this is really the case. If the tendency to abort could be validated by a sufficiently high correlation with real abortion behavior, it would provide a valuable means for studying abortion decisions. First, it can be easily administered to larger samples and circumvents the problems of social desirability (Stöber, 2001) and limited cognitive access to one's own motives (McClelland et al., 1989). Such limitations are clearly implied in the existing research on women's reasons to abort. These reasons are generally studied using standardized or open question format. In an off-cited study from the USA of women who had an abortion (Torres & Forrest, 1988), one of the most common reasons women mentioned was "I can't afford a baby now.", implying that women share a minimum financial threshold, above which they are all equally likely to give birth to a child. Of course, a minimum financial standard is needed to raise a child. However, the current finding of a positive correlation between attractiveness and the tendency to abort implies that even above this minimum standard, women do not necessarily decide against abortion. Rather it appears that women may base their abortion decisions on their expected future social mobility and thus future

financial gains, which partly depend on their level of attractiveness (Elder, 1969; Udry & Eckland, 1984; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001). Consistent with this view, it has been found in earlier studies that the likelihood of abortion was positively associated with women's level of education (Krishnan & Krotki, 1999) and income (Costa et al., 1987)³¹. But why then are financial reasons named so often by women who had an abortion? Maybe social desirability is the answer. By naming financial reasons, women attribute the abortion decision to external factors, thereby directing the attention away from intrinsic motives, while at the same time signalling concern about the welfare of their future children. Furthermore, the plausibility of a financial shortage as a reason to abort is hard to prove by outsiders and is unlikely to be seriously questioned. Constistent with this view is the finding that couples who have decided to remain childless report that of all possible reasons financial ones are best accepted by the social environment (Faux, 1984; Lang, 1992). However, this explanation should be regarded with reservations, as it requires further investigation.

Another direction for future research is the role individual (and cultural) differences in hedonism may play in the decision (not yet) to become a parent. An important assumption in this part of the study was that adaptations organized as reward systems related to the mating phase should make people wish to postpone parenthood. The desire for multiple sex partners, for example, constitutes such a reward system, whereas attractiveness acts as a moderator determining the frequency and level of expected rewarding social feedbacks. If this logic were generalized, one would predict that in a contracepting world, individual differences in the ability to enjoy hedonic pleasures generally should have an effect on the willingness to become a parent. Hedonism (Kahnemann et al., 1999) is capable of interfering with reproduction because of an evolutionary constraint. Sexual intercourse – the final behavioral act of a longer sequence of behaviors introducing reproduction – is designed as a hedonic

reward system (Panksepp, 1998), but the actual sexual act, the merging of sex cells, is not – and cannot be, because germ cells are not part of the soma, but are distinct organisms.

The suggestion that hedonism is opposed to the willingness to become a parent is by no means novel. For example, Boone and Kessler (1999) cite several references dealing with the fertility decline among the elites of the Roman Empire. The Romans saw children as costly and burdensome, and contemporary critiques saw the cause of declining fertility in greed, vanity, desire for material wealth and the habit of indolence. Furthermore, William McDougall, in his book from 1908, concluded that with the rise of human intelligence "egoistic impulses must have tended to suppress the working of the parental instinct", so that continued reproduction could only be ensured by imposing culturally inherited social sanctions (see endnote 27)³². Later, in the 1970s, when induced abortion was hotly debated in Germany and other Western countries, hedonic attitudes were proposed as a major cause of declining fertility rates (e.g., Münz & Pelikan, 1978). And recently it has been proposed that a modern "runaway consumption" (Frank, 1999) may be partly responsible for the current fertility decline far below the replacement level (Kaplan et al., 2002; see also Becker, 1983). However, few studies have investigated the role of hedonism at the individual level, although the results of some studies are consistent with the idea that people sometimes forego parenthood for hedonic reasons (Carl et al., 2000; Hobcraft, 1996). The hedonistic interpretation of the current results is further supported by the following post-hoc tests. For purposes not relevant to this study, the questionnaire contained the Zuckerman's Sensation Seeking Scale (Zuckerman et al., 1964). The two items that – by the author's judgement – most directly reflect a hedonistic attitude were from the disinhibition subscale: "I like wild parties." and "At parties I like to get drunk". The hedonism hypothesis of reproductive restraint predicts that the tendency to

abort should be positively correlated with hedonism. Indeed, the two hedonism items were positively correlated with the tendency to abort in women, $r_p(107) = .22$, p = .009 and $r_p(107) = .18$, p = .03, respectively. In men, the coefficients were positive, too, but did not reach significance, $r_p(105) = .12$, p = .07 and $r_p(105) = .13$, p = .10, respectively. This explorative analysis is encouraging with respect to more focused future tests of the hedonism hypothesis³³.

This part of the study also has implications for research on current population decline. Based on the results of this and previous studies, I propose that the following runaway process may provide a partial explanation for the ever-increasing age at first child and ever-lower numbers of children per woman (Rohde, 2003). Consider the following as given: First, because attractiveness is highly valued (and possibly because it is positively correlated with intelligence; Zebrovitz et al., 2002), highly attractive people tend to be socially more successful in the contexts of mating, vocation (Langlois et al., 2000; Saporta & Halpern, 2002), and social mobility (Elder, 1969; Udry & Eckland, 1984; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001) than less attractive people are. Second, the current study suggests that the more attractive people are, the more they tend to postpone reproduction for hedonic reasons or to ensure upward social mobility (Banks, 1954). Third, humans imitate each other's behavior (McDougall, 1908; Bandura, 1977; Cavalli-Sforza & Feldman, 1981; Rogers, 2003) including fertility behavior (Bongaarts & Watkins, 1996; Kohler, 2000, 2001; Bernardi, 2003, overview in Casterline, 2001). Fourth, humans preferentially imitate the behavior of high status individuals (Veblen, 1899; McDougall, 1908; Cavalli-Sforza & Feldman, 1981; Henrich & Gil-White, 2001; Rogers, 2003). Given these preconditions, a runaway process may be set in motion. The correlation between attractiveness and social success would lead people to adopt the lifestyle of the most attractive individuals in the population. Since this lifestyle is also characterized by postponed
parenthood, the average age at birth of the first child would rise in this population. When the next cohort reaches this age, its most attractive individuals will again postpone parenthood a bit longer than the average population does, thereby setting the new standards. After repeated iterations, this process would lead to an ever-increasing age at reproduction and as a consequence to ever-smaller numbers of children per woman. Hence, the effect sizes reported in the results section of Part II may appear small when interpreted as the percentage of explained variance within a static system. However, their potential practical significance as driving factors in the hypothesized dynamic runaway process is anything but small.

General discussion

The current study was divided into two parts. First, in Part I some hypotheses regarding the influence of physical attractiveness on mating behavior and promiscuous attitudes were tested to contribute to a still small number of studies on that topic. The results showed that attractiveness and mating were qualitatively associated with each other as predicted by theory under the assumption of an adaptive linkage between organism and the environment. Second, in Part II I applied the criteria of an evolutionary (mal)functional analysis (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992) that considers the cultural process (Boyd & Richerson, 1985; Richerson & Boyd, 2004) to modern human reproductive decision making. Three hypotheses of maladaptiveness were derived and tested and involved promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children. In this general discussion, I will evaluate the merits and limits of the study as well as some of its implications for the study of human fertility behavior in an evolutionary perspective.

At the center of the argument that modern humans' fertility behavior is maladaptive lies modern contraception as a maladaptive cultural trait (Introduction of Part II). Its effectiveness and widespread use made the current below-replacement fertility possible. In fact, contraception virtually created the option of deliberate "fertility *decisions*". However, as was argued in the introduction of Part II, the malfunctional analysis of reproductive behavior is not complete with this observation. The contraception routine turns parenthood from being an inevitable consequence of sexual intercourse into the deliberate decision to discontinue this routine or, in the case of an unintended pregnancy, into the deliberate decision to have an abortion. Hence, in an analysis of modern reproductive behavior that includes an evolutionary perspective the following questions must be answered to make the picture complete: What motivational adaptations are involved in the decision (not yet) to become a parent and how are they involved? In particular, what role, if any, do adaptations related to mating effort play in the decision to become a parent? How does the deliberate transition to parenthood differ from the cognitively uncontrolled transition to parenthood? What role do cultural traits play in the decision-making process and what are the motivational roots that drove their cultural evolution?

The current study provides some answers to these questions. It was shown that physical attractiveness, a trait that probably conferred a reproductive advantage in the evolutionary past, still confers a mating advantage in a modern society (Part I). However, in Part II it was predicted and found that promiscuity has a potentially negative effect on the willingness to become a parent – a trait whose effectiveness depends very much on the availability of contraceptives and induced abortion. Similarly, physical attractiveness was positively related to the tendency to abort an imagined unintended pregnancy. Finally, it was found, as predicted, that fondness for children was negatively correlated with the tendency to abort, implying that – like promiscuity and attractiveness – fondness for children plays a historically novel role for fertility decisions, but one that has a *positive* effect on the willingness to become a parent.

The general theme underlying the predictions concerning the effect of promiscuity and attractiveness on the tendency to abort is that of perceived opportunity conflicts between current mating and future parenting. In this, the evolutionary malfunctional analysis of modern fertility behavior converges with the theory and findings of nonevolutionary researchers. For example, perhaps the most famous example of an opportunity conflict as a cause of fertility decline is the one many women face between becoming a mother and pursuing an extended educational or vocational career (Kemkes-Grottenthaler, 2003; Kohler and Rodgers, 2003). Furthermore, Becker (1983) proposed an opportunity conflict between earning money, spending money, and parenting. Because money creates opportunities to consume spare-time luxuries, those who work longer earn more and hence have more opportunities in terms of money – but not in terms of time needed to consume these luxuries. In this situation, the time necessary for rearing children is paradoxically scarcest for wealthier couples, who consequently will tend to have fewer children than less-affluent couples. Further examples for opportunity conflicts have been listed in the section on hedonism (see Discussion of Part II).

Such explanations, although they have long been with us, have not aroused much interest among evolutionary researchers of human fertility behavior. On the one hand, researchers following the "Fitness Maximization Approach" (FMA) would consider them too proximate in nature or regard them as irrelevant rationalizations of an unconsciously fitness-maximizing organism. On the other hand, researchers following the "Adaptation Executer Approach" (AEA), so far, have not shown any interest in explaining human fertility behavior at all. Possibly, since they have expended much effort in rejecting the significance of reproductive success as a relevant measure for testing evolutionary hypotheses (see General introduction), studying fertility behavior in general became taboo to them. However, as I hope to have demonstrated with this study, modern human fertility behavior has more aspects worth studying than just "counting offspring".

For how much of human natural history could the opportunity conflict between current mating desires and future parenting activities have existed? Several authors think that at least for women the anticipation of parturition and parenthood has aroused negative feelings ever since humans became aware of the causal relationship between sex and childbearing (e.g., McDougall, 1908; von Reitzenstein, 1923; Burley, 1979; Hobcraft, 2003). Surely, there are reasons to assume that the perceived opportunity conflict between mating and parenting was not nearly as pervasive and intense as it is today. In the absence of effective contraceptives postponing or forgoing parenthood for hedonic reasons probably was a thinkable, but not a realistic option and thus hardly worth considering. However, the assumption made so far that preliterate human cultures have (had) no sufficiently effective means of contraception is correct only in disregard of infanticide. The most efficient and apparently most widely used means of "contraception" in preliterate hunter-gatherer or horticultural societies is, and probably has always been, the killing of newborn babies by their mothers immediately after parturition (Daly & Wilson, 1984). Van Reitzenstein (1923) reports that in some traditional cultures abortions have been induced because of the couples desire to continue sexual intercourse, because of laziness or because women wanted to avoid the loss of beauty. Considering this case in conjunction with the reported results of this and earlier studies, it appears that the seemingly unrelated behavioral phenomena of infanticide (Daly & Wilson, 1984), postponment of parenthood (this study), induced abortion in yet childless women (Niemelä et al., 1981; Granberg, 1982; Costa et al., 1987; Helferich and Küppers-Chinnow, 1996; this study), and the decision to remain childless (Carl et al., 2000) all share a common hedonic motivational component.

The predictions tested in this study were derived within the "adaptation execution approach" to organisms (Tooby & Cosmides, 1990; 1992), and the results regarding abortion decisions were interpreted as being maladaptive. But are the findings regarding abortion decision really maladaptive or would they also be compatible with models of current fitness maximization? The most important argument against a fitness maximizer interpretation is that it is hard to see why, in the same data set, those individuals who showed all signs of fertility at the level of mating (in terms of promiscuity and attractiveness) should be the ones who would refrain from reproduction at the level of abortion. For example, highly attractive women tended to have their first sexual intercourse earlier than less attractive women did, but at the same time, as a group they showed a

stronger tendency to abort, that is, to postpone parenthood. It might be possible to propose a plausible FMA explanation for either finding, but the FMA is incapable of integrating both findings when they appear in the same study. In comparison, then, the AEA is the relatively more potent approach to account for these results. This is not to say that people do not postpone reproduction in the hope to find a maximally attractive mate (e.g., Lycett & Dunbar, 1999). There is some evidence that such a "trade-off" is really taking place. For example, Gould and Paserman (2003) found that single women of all age groups wait longer to get married when faced with a higher local level of male income inequality. However, to conclude that this waiting strategy is currently adaptive (as implied by Lycett & Dunbar, 1999) would be precipitate, because individual compromises cannot automatically count as adaptive life history trade-offs. First, the early onset of reproduction is a component of reproductive success and has been found to be associated with physical attractiveness in nonhuman species (e.g., Møller, 1990). Significantly, in several studies on humans, early onset of reproduction has been identified as the most important component of female reproductive success (Gubhaju, 1983; Borgeroff Mulder, 1989; Low, 1990, 1991; Käär et al., 1996). Second, it appears that in modern humans postponing parenthood is not compensated by a larger number of children. To the contrary, age at first child and completed fertility are negatively correlated, and many economically successful individuals remain childless (see introduction of Part II for references). Third, once again, the waiting game in mating is made possible only by modern contraception, which was identified as maladaptive per se (see Introduction of Part II). In conclusion then, the idea that postponing reproduction maximizes individual fitness returns seems highly implausible. The apparent lack of any nonhuman case of adaptive postponement of reproduction in face of generally favorable conditions suggests that the whole

idea is a post hoc response to the special case of modern humans and of the intrinsic problems associated with the FMA.

At the end of this general discussion, I will consider the merits and limits of the current study. First, one obvious limitation of the study is that instead of realized abortion behavior I used an abortion scenario. Even though the tendency to abort had a reasonably good internal validity, it remains unknown whether promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children demonstrably affect real abortion behavior in German students or their partners, respectively. Second, the study is based on a sample that consisted overwhelmingly of university students. Whether the same effects would be found in less-educated groups remains unknown. Third, the cross-sectional perspective taken here puts limits to the interpretation of a postponement of parenthood. All participants included in Part II said that they eventually wanted to have children. In addition, it can be assumed that a large proportion of the sample still childless individuals will finally become parents. However, the data cannot tell us what factors will at what time eventually override the postponing effects of high promiscuity, high attractiveness, and low fondness for children. Therefore, it seems desirable that future studies exchange the cross-sectional perspective of the current study for a developmental, that is, longitudinal perspective.

Among the merits of this study are, I think, the following: First, to my knowledge this is the first explicit application of the evolutionary functional analysis of behavior (Tooby & Cosmides, 1992) to fertility decision making in a contracepting society. Although the analysis is far from complete, I hope to have succeeded in generating a framework for future studies on human fertility behavior that apply the AEA. Second, with the application of the AEA I hope to have argued convincingly that the low fertility rates displayed by post-war human populations are compatible with evolutionary theory, but only if a maladaptive explanation is invoked. Future research can be expected to identify further adaptations that produce maladaptive behavior in the context of fertility decisions.

Conclusion

In current research on human fertility behavior, there are relatively few studies taking an evolutionary perspective. Of these, virtually all follow the FMA, while I know of none explicitly employing the AEA. One reason for this bias may be that the FMA is methodologically very similar to – or actually represents a variety of – the so-called "rational choice" approach (Becker, 1960; 1981;1983), which currently plays an important role in the study of human populations. Both evolutionary and non-evolutionary rational choice models assume that humans optimize certain outcomes fitness in the case of the FMA – by rationally considering environmental factors. In this situation, the current study may be seen as one of the first attempts to apply the AEA to human fertility behavior. By strictly following criteria derived from Tooby's and Cosmides' (1992) evolutionary functional analysis and by considering culture as a relevant process (Boyd & Richerson, 1985; Richerson & Boyd, 2004), this study characterized contraception (including induced abortion) as a maladaptive cultural trait and predicted and found evidence for maladaptive reproductive decisions. Reproductive success is a highly aggregated measure with potentially many causes, some of which may be adaptive, some maladaptive; some may be positive, some negative, and some neutral predictors. Only the decomposition of reproductive outcome into its potentially manifold proximate determinants will enable us to fully understand human reproductive behavior.

References

- Alexander, R. D. (1987). *The biology of moral systems*. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine.
- Alexander, R. D. (1988). Evolutionary approaches to human behaviour: What does the future hold? In L. Betzig, M. Borgeroff Mulder, & P. Turke (Eds.), *Human reproductive behaviour. A Darwinian perspective* (pp. 317-341). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Allyn, D. (2000). *Make love not war. The sexual revolution: an unfettered history*. New York: Little, Brown, and Company
- Alvarez, L. (2004). Narcissism guides mate selection: Humans mate assortatively, as revealed by facial resemblance, following an algorithm of "self seeking like". *Evolutionary Psychology*, *2*, 177-194.
- Anderson, K. G., Kaplan, H., Lam, D., & Lancaster, J. (1999a). Paternal care by genetic fathers and stepfathers I: Reports from Albuquerque men. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 405-432.
- Anderson, K. G., Kaplan, H., Lam, D., & Lancaster, J. (1999b). Paternal care by genetic fathers and stepfathers II: Reports by Xhosa high school students. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 433-452.
- Andersson, M. (1994). *Sexual selection*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Andrews, P. W., Gangestad, S. W., & Matthews, D. (2002). Adaptationism
 how to carry out an exaptationist program. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 25, 489-553.
- Bailey, J. M., Kirk, K. M., Zhu, G., Dunne, M. P., & Martin, N. G. (2000). Do individual differences in sociosexuality represent genetic or environmentally-contingent strategies? Evidence from the Australian Twin Registry. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 537-545.
- Baker, R. R., & Bellis, M. A. (1995). *Human sperm competition. Copulation, masturbation and infidelity*. London: Chapman & Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1977). *Social learning theory*. Englewood-Cliffs, N J: Prentice-Hall.
- Bankole, A., Singh, S., & Haas, T. (1998). Reasons why women have induced abortions: evidence from 27 countries. *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 24, 117-127.
- Banks, J. A. (1954). *Prosperity and parenthood: A study of family planning among the Victorian middle classes*. London, UK: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

- Barber, J. S., & Axinn, W. G. (in press). How do attitudes shape childbearing in the United States. In A. Booth & A. C. Crouter (Eds.), *Creating the next generation*. Mahwah, N J: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Barber, N. (1995). The evolutionary psychology of physical attractiveness: sexual selection and human morphology. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *16*, 395-424.
- Barkow, J. H., & Burley, N. (1980). Human fertility, evolutionary biology, and the demographic transition. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 1, 163-180.
- Baron, M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51, 1173-1182.
- Barret, L., Dunbar, R., & Lycett, J. (2002). *Human evolutionary psychology*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bateman, A. J. (1948). Intra-sexual selection in *Drosophila*. *Heredity*, 2, 349-368.
- Bechinie, M. (1998). BHS The "broken heart syndrome". Ethological aspects of lovesickness. Unpublished Masters Thesis, University of Vienna, Vienna.
- Becker, G. (1960). An economic analysis of fertility. In: *Demographic and economic change in developed countries* (pp. 209-231). Princeton, N J: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Becker, G. (1981). *A treatise on the family* (Enlarged Edition ed.). Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Becker, G. (1983). Family economics and macro behavior. *American Economic Review*, 78, 1-13.
- Bem, D. J. (2002). Writing the empirical journal article. In J. M. Darley, M.
 P. Zanna, & H. L. Roediger III (Eds.), *The complete academic: a career guide* (pp. 2-26). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Bereczkei, T., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (1997). Female-biased reproductive strategies in a Hungarian Gypsy population. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B, 264*, 17-22.
- Bernardi, L. (2003). Channels of social influence on reproduction. *MPIDR Working Paper, wp 2003-019.*
- Betzig, L., & Lombardo, L. H. (1991). Who's pro-choice and why. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 13, 49-71.
- Birkhead, T. (2000). Promiscuity. An evolutionary history of sperm competition and sexual conflict. London: Faber & Faber.

- Birkhead, T. R., & Møller, A. P. (1995). Extra-pair copulation and extrapair paternity in birds. *Animal Behaviour*, 49, 843-848.
- Bischof, N. (1985). Das Rätsel Ödipus. Die biologischen Wurzeln des Urkonfliktes von Intimität und Autonomie. Munich: Piper.
- Bongaarts, J., & Watkins, S. C. (1996). Social interactions and contemporary fertility transitions. *Population and Development Review*, 22(4), 639-682.
- Boone, J. L., & Kessler, K. L. (1999). More status or more children? Social status, fertility reduction, and long-term fitness. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 257-277.
- Borgeroff Mulder, M. (1989). Early maturing Kipsigis women have higher reproductive success than late maturing women and cost more to marry. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 24, 145-153.
- Borgeroff Mulder, M. (1998). Demographic transition: Are we any closer to an evolutionary explanation? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 13(7), 266-270.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: 1. Attachment. New York: Basic Books.
- Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1982). Cultural transmission and the evolution of cooperative behavior. *Human Ecology*, *10*, 325-351.
- Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1985). *Culture and the evolutionary process*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Broude, G. J., & Greene, S. J. (1976). Cross-cultural codes on twenty sexual attitudes and practices. *Ethnology*, 15, 409-429.
- Brown, D. E. (1991). Human universals. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc.
- Brown, J. L. (1997). A theory of mate choice based on heterozygosity, *Behavioral Ecology*, 8(1), 60-65.
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend (2003). Die Familie im Spiegel der amtlichen Statistik. Lebensformen, Familienstrukturen, wirtschaftliche Situation der Familien und familiendemographische Entwicklung in Deutschland³⁴.
- Bundeszentrale für gesundheitliche Aufklärung (2003). Verhütungsverhalten Erwachsener. Ergebnisse der repräsentativen Befragung 20bis 44-jähriger. Köln³⁵.
- Burley, N. T. (1979). The evolution of concealed ovulation. American Naturalist, 114, 835-858.
- Buss, D. M. (1989). Sex differences in human mate differences: Evolutionary hypothesis testing in 37 cultures. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 12, 1-14.

- Buss, D. M. (1999). *Evolutionary psychology. The new science of the mind.* Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Buss, D. M. (2003). *The evolution of desire: Strategies of human mating* (revised edition). New York: Basic Books.
- Buss, D. M., & Malamuth, M. M. (1996). Sex, power, conflict: evolutionary and feminist perspectives. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Buss, D. M., & Schmitt, D. P. (1993). Sexual strategies theory: An evolutionary perspective on human mating. *Psychological Review*, 100, 204-232.
- Buston, P. M., & Emlen, S. T. (2003). Cognitive processes underlying human mate choice: The relationship between self-perception and mate preference in Western society. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 100*(15), 8805-8810.
- Cabin, R. J., & Mitchell, T. J. (2000). To Bonferroni or not to Bonferroni: when and how are the questions. *ESA Bulletin*, *81*, 246-248.
- Campbell, K. L., & Wood, J. W. (1988). Fertility in traditional societies. InP. Diggory, M. Potts, & S. Teper (Eds.), *Natural human fertility* (pp. 39-69). London: McMillan Press.
- Carl, C., Bengel, J., & Strauß, B. (2000). Gewollte Kinderlosigkeit aus psychologischer Perspektive. *Reproduktionsmedizin*, 16, 28-36
- Cartwright, J. (2000). *Evolution and human behavior: Darwinian perspectives on human nature*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Casterline, J. B. (Ed.). (2001). *Diffusion process and fertility transition*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Cavalli-Sforza, L. L., & Feldman, M. W. (1981). *Cultural transmission and evolution: A quantitative approach*. Princeton, N J: Princeton University Press.
- Cherkas, L. F., Oelsner, E. C., Mak, Y. T., Valdes, A., & Spector, T. D. (2004). Genetic Influences on Female Infidelity and Number of Sexual Partners in Humans: A Linkage and Association Study of the Role of the Vasopressin Receptor Gene (*AVPR1A*). *Twin Research*, 7, 649-658.
- Chesler, E. (1992). Woman of valor: Margaret Sanger and the birth control movement in America. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Clark, A. P. (2004). Self-perceived attractiveness and masculinization predict women's sociosexuality. *Evolution and Human Behavior, 25*, 113-124.

- Clutton-Brock, T. H. (1994). The costs of sex. In R. V. Short & E. Balaban (Eds.), *The differences between the sexes* (pp. 347-362). Camebridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence-Erlbaum.
- Cook, H. (2004). *The long sexual revolution: Women, sex, and contraception in England 1800-1975.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Corter, C., & Fleming, A. S. (1995). Psychobiology of maternal behavior in human beings. In M. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting* (Vol. 2, Biology and ecology of parenting, pp. 87-116). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Costa, F., Jessor, R., & Donovan, J. E. (1987). Psychological correlates and antecedents of abortion: An exploratory study. *Population and Environment*, 9(1), 3-22.
- Council of Europe (2004). Recent demographic developments in Europe 2003.
- Crawford, C. (1997). Environments and adaptations: then and now. In C. Crawford & D. L. Krebs (Eds.), *Handbook of evolutionary psychology. Ideas, Issues, and applications* (pp. 275-302). Mawah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum
- Crews, D. (1998). On the organization of individual differences in sexual behavior. *American Zoologist, 38*, 118-132
- Critelli, J. W., & Waid, L. R. (1980). Physical attractiveness, romantic love, and equity restoration in dating relationships. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 44, 624-629.
- Cronbach, L. J., & Meehl, P. E. (1955). Construct validity in psychological tests. Psychological Bulletin, 52, 281-302.
- Cunningham, M. R., Barbee, A. P., & Pike, C. L. (1990). What do women want? Facialmetric assessment of multiple motives in the perception of male physical attractiveness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59, 61-72.
- Cunningham, M. R., Roberts, R., Barbee, A., Druen, P. B., & Wu, C. (1995). "Their ideas of beauty are, on the whole, the same as ours": Consistency and variability in the cross-cultural perception of female physical attractiveness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68, 261-279.
- Daly, M. (1993). Beyond reproductive success differentials. *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 16, 289-290.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1983). *Sex, evolution and behavior,* (2nd ed.). Belmont, California: Prindle Weber & Schmidt.

- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1984). A sociobiological analysis of human infanticide. In G. Hausfater & S. B. Hrdy (Eds.), *Infanticide:* evolutionary and comparative perspectives (pp. 487-502). New York: Aldine.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (1999). Human evolutionary psychology and animal behavior. *Animal Behaviour*, 57, 509-519.
- Daly, M., & Wilson, M. (2000). Reply to Smith et al. *Animal Behaviour*, 60(4), F27-F29.
- Darroch, J. E., Landry, D. J., & Oslak, S. (1999). Age differences between sexual partners in the United States. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 31, 160-167.
- Darwin, C. (1859). *The origin of species*. London: Murray.
- Darwin, C. (1871). *The descent of man and selection in relation to sex*. London: John Murray.
- Darwin, C. R., & Wallace, A. R. (1858). On the tendency of species to form varieties; and on the perpetuation of varieties and species by natural means of selection. *Journal of the Proeedings of the Linnean Society (Zool.)*, *3*(45-62).
- Dawkins, R. (1989). The selfish gene. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Deary, I. J., Whiteman, M. C., Starr, J. M., Whalley, L. J., & Fox, H. C. (2004). The impact of childhood intelligence on later life: following up the Scottish Mental Surveys of 1932 and 1947. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86, 130-147.
- Dewsbury, D. A. (1981). Effects of novelty on copulatory behavior: The coolidge effect and related phenomena. *Psychological Bulletin*, 89(464-482).
- Dickemann, M. (1993). Human reproductive plasticity. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *16*(2), 290-291.
- Eberhard, W. G. (1996). *Female control. Sexual selection by cryptic female choice*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Eggert, F., Muller Ruchholtz, W., & Ferstl, R. (1998). Olfactory cues associated with the major histocompatibility complex. *Genetica*, 104(3), 191-197.
- Elder, G. H., Jr. (1969). Appearance and education in marriage mobility. *American Sociological Review, 34*, 519-533.
- Essock-Vitale, S. M., & McGuire, M. T. (1985). Women's lives viewed from an evolutionary perspective, I. Sexual histories, reproductive success, and demographic characteristics of a random sample of American women. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *6*, 137-154.

- Essock-Vitale, S. M., & McGuire, M. T. (1988). What 70 million years hath wrought: sexual histories and reproductive success of a random sample of American women. In L. Betzig, M. Borgeroff Mulder, & P. Turke (Eds.), *Human reproductive behaviour. A Darwinian perspective* (pp. 221-236). Camebridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fairbanks, L. A. (1990). Reciprocal benefits of allomothering for female vervet monkeys. *Animal Behaviour*, 39, 425-441.
- Faux, M. (1984). *Childless by choice*. New York: Anchor Press and Doubleday.
- Fink, B., & Penton-Voak, I. (2002). Evolutionary psychology of facial attractiveness. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 11, 154-158.
- Fischman, S. H. (1977). Delivery or abortion in inner-city adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 47, 127-133.
- Fisher, R. A. (1930). *The genetical theory of natural selection*. Oxford: Clarendon.
- Fleming, A. S., Ruble, D., Krieger, H., & Wong, P. Y. (1997). Hormonal and experiential correlates of maternal responsiveness during pregnancy and the puerperium in human mothers. *Hormones and Behavior, 31*, 145-158.
- Fleming, A. S., Steiner, M., & Corter, C. (1997). Cortisol, hedonics, and maternal responsiveness in human mothers. *Hormones and Behavior*, 32, 85-98.
- Foerster, K., Delhey, K., Johnsen, A., Lifjeld, J. T., & Kempenaers, B. (2003). Females increase offspring heterozygosity and fitness through extra-pair matings. *Nature*, 425, 714-717.
- Foster, C. (2000). The limits to low fertility: A biosocial approach. *Population and Development Review*, 26(2), 206-234.
- Frank, R. H. (1999). Luxury fever. Why money fails to satisfy in an era of excess. New York: The Free Press.
- Franzen, A., & Hartmann, J. (2001). Die Partnerwahl zwischen Wunsch und Wirklichkeit: Eine empirische Studie zum Austausch von physischer Attraktivität und sozialem Status. In T. Klein (Ed.), Partnerwahl und Heiratsmuster. Sozialstrukturelle Voraussetzungen der Liebe (pp. 183-206). Opladen: Leske & Budrich.
- Frisch, R. (2002). *Female fertility and the body fat connection*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Gangestad, S. W., & Buss, D. M. (1993). Pathogen prevalence and human mate preferences. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 14, 89-96.

- Gangestad, S. W., & Simpson, J. A. (1990). Toward an evolutionary history of female sociosexual variation. *Journal of Personality*, 58(1), 69-96.
- Gangestad, S., & Simpson, J. A. (2000). The evolution of human mating: trade-offs and strategic pluralism. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 23*, 573-587.
- Gangestad, S. W., & Thornhill, R. (1997a). The evolutionary psychology of extra-pair sex: the role of fluctuating asymmetry. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 18, 69-88.
- Gangestad, S. W., & Thornhill, R. (1997b). Human sexual selection and developmental stability. In J. A. Simpson & D. T. Kenrick (Eds.), *Evolutionary social psychology* (pp. 169-196). Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Ass. Publ.
- Gaulin, S. J. C., & McBurney, D. H. (2001). *Psychology. An evolutionary approach*. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall. Inc.
- Gavrilets, S., Arnqvist, G., & Friberg, U. (2001). The evolution of female mate choice by sexual conflict. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 268,* 531-539.
- George, C., & Solomon, J. (1999). Attachment and caregiving: The caregiving behavioral system. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment* (pp. 649-670). New York: Guilford Press.
- Goldin, C., & Katz, L. F. (2002). The power of the pill: Oral contraceptives and women's career and marriage decisions. *Journal of Political Economy*, 110, 730-770.
- Gould, E. D., & Paserman, M. D. (2003). Waiting for Mr. Right: Rising inequality and declining marriage rates. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 53, 257-281.
- Grammer, K. (1995). Signale der Liebe. Die biologischen Gesetze der Partnerschaft. Hamburg: Hoffmann und Campe.
- Grammer, K., & Thornhill, R. (1994). Human (*Homo sapiens*) facial attractiveness and sexual selection: The role of symmetry and averageness. *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 108, 233-242.
- Grammer, K., Fink, B., Møller, A. P., & Thornhill, R. (2003). Darwinian aesthetics: sexual selection and the biology of beauty. *Biological Review*, 78, 385-407.
- Granberg, D. (1982). Family size preferences and sexual permissiveness as factors differentiating abortion activists. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 45, 15-23.
- Gray, E. M. (1997). Female red-winged blackbirds accrue material benefits from copulating with extra-pair males. *Animal Behaviour, 53*, 625-639.

- Greiling, H., & Buss, D. M. (2000). Women's sexual strategies: the hidden dimension of extrapair mating. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28, 929-963.
- Gubhaju, B. (1983). Fertility differential in Nepal. Journal of Biosocial Sciences, 15, 325-331.
- Halpern, C. T., Udry, J. R., Campbell, B. C., & Suchindran, C. (1999). Effects of body fat on weight concerns, dating and sexual activity: A longitudinal analysis of black and white females. *Developmental Psychology*, 35, 721-726.
- Hamilton, W. D. (1963). The evolution of altruistic behavior. *American Naturalist*, 97, 354-356.
- Hassebrauck, M., & Niketta, R. (Eds.). (1993). *Physische Attraktivität*. Göttingen: Hofgrefe.
- Hawkes, K. (1991). Showing off: Tests of another hypothesis about men's foraging goals. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *12*, 29-54.
- Helferich, C., & Küppers-Chinnow, M. (1996). Verarbeitung von und Umgang mit Schwangerschaftsabbrüchen. *Forschung und Praxis der Sexualaufklärung und Familienplanung*, 6, 113-136.
- Henderson, J. J. A., & Anglin, J. M. (2003). Facial attractiveness predicts longevity. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 24, 351-356.
- Henrich, J., & Gil-White, F. (2001). The Evolution of Prestige: freely conferred deference as a mechanism for enhancing the benefits of cultural transmission. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 22, 165-196.
- Hill, E. M., & Low, B. (1992). Contemporary abortion patterns: a life history approach. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 13, 35-48.
- Hill, K., & Hurtado, A. M. (1996). *Ache life history. The ecology and demography of a foraging people*. Hawthorne, N. Y.: Aldine-de Gruyter.
- Hobcraft, J. N. (2003). Reflections on demographic, evolutionary, and genetic approaches to the study of human reproductive behavior. In N. R. Council (Ed.), *Offspring. Human fertility behavior in biodemographic perspective* (pp. 339-357). Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- Hoffmann, L. W., & Hoffmann, M. L. (1973). The value of children to parents. In J. T. Fawcett (Ed.), *Psychological perspectives on population* (pp. 19-76). New York: Basic Books.
- Hoier, S. (2003). Father absence and age at menarche: A test of four evolutionary models. *Human Nature*, 14, 209-233.
- Holcomb III, H. R. (1995). *Sociobiology, Sex, and Science*. New York: State University of New York Press.

- Holcomb III, H. R. (1996). Just so stories and inference to the best explanation in evolutionary psychology. *Minds and Machines*, *6*, 525-540.
- Holcomb III, H. R. (Ed.). (2001). Conceptual challenges in evolutionary psychology: Innovative research strategies. Dodrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publ.
- Holmberg, L. I., & Wahlberg, V. (2000). The process of decision-making on abortion: A grounded theory study of young men in Sweden. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 26(3), 230-234.
- Hrdy, S. B. (1976). The care and exploitation of nonhuman primate infants by conspecifics other than the mother. *Advances in the Study of Behavior*, *6*, 101-158.
- Hrdy, S. B. (2003). The optimal number of fathers: Evolution, demography, and history in the shaping of female mate preferences. In S. J. Sher & F. Rauscher (Eds.), *Evolutionary psychology: Alternative approaches* (pp. 111-133). Boston: Kluwer.
- Hughes, S. M., & Gallup, G. G., Jr. (2003). Sex differences in morphological predictiors of sexual behavior: Shoulder to hip and waist to hip ratios. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 24, 173-178.
- Hume, D. K., & Montgomerie, R. (2001). Facial attractiveness signals different aspects of "quality" in women and men. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 22, 93-112.
- James, W. (1892). The principles of psychology. London: MacMillan.
- Jennions, M. D., & Petrie, M. (2000). Why do females mate multiply? A review of the genetic benefits. *Biological Review*, 75, 21-64.
- Jensen, A. R. (1998). *The g factor. The science of mental ability*. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.
- Jones, I. L., & Hunter, F. M. (1993). Mutual sexual selection in a monogamous seabird. *Nature*, 362, 238-239.
- Jones, B. C., Little, A. C., Penton-Voak, I., Tiddemann, B. P., Burt, D. M., & Perrett, D. I. (2001). Facial symmetry and judgements of apparent health: support for a "good genes" explanation of the attractivenesssymmetry relationship. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 22, 417-429.
- Käär, P., Jokela, J., Helle, T., & Kojola, I. (1996). Direct and correlative phenotypic selection on life-history traits in three pre-industrial human populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 263*, 1475-1480.
- Kalick, S. M., Zebrowitz, L. A., Langlois, J. H., & Johnson, R. M. (1998).Does human facial attractiveness honestly advertise health? *Psychological Science*, 9, 8-13.

- Kanazawa, S. (2003). Can evolutionary psychology explain reproductive behavior in the contemporary United States? *Sociological Quarterly*, 44, 291-302.
- Kanazawa, S., & Kovar, J. L. (2004). Why beautiful people are more intelligent. *Intelligence*, *32*, 227-243.
- Kaplan, H. (1993). The problem of resource accrual and reproduction in modern human populations remains an unsolved evolutionary puzzle. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 16(2), 297-298.
- Kaplan, H., Hill, K., Lancaster, J., & Hurtado, A. (2000). A theory of human life History evolution: Diet, intelligence, and longevity. *Evolutionary Anthropology*, 9, 156-185.
- Kaplan, H. S., & Lancaster, J. (2003). An evolutionary and ecological analysis of human fertility, mating patterns, and parental investment. In N. R. Council (Ed.), *Offspring. Human fertility behavior in biodemographic perspective* (pp. 170-223). Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- Kaplan, H., Lancaster, J. B., Bock, J. A., & Johnson, S. E. (1995). Does observed fertility maximize fitness among New Mexican men? A test of an optimality model and a new theory of parental investment in the embodied capital of offspring. *Human Nature*, 6, 325-360.
- Kemkes-Grottenthaler, A. (2003). Postponing or rejecting parenthood? Results of a survey among female academic professionals. *Journal of biosocial Science*, 34, 213-226.
- Klick, J., & Stratmann, T. (2003). The effect of abortion legalization on sexual behavior: evidence from sexually transmitted diseases. *Journal* of Legal Studies, 27, 407-434
- Kohler, H.-P. (2000). Social interaction and fluctuations in birth rates. *Population Studies*, 54(2), 223-237.
- Kohler, H.-P. (2001). *Fertility and social interaction: An economic perspective*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kohler, H.-P., Billari, F. C., & Ortega, J. A. (2002). The emergence of lowest-low fertility in europe during the 1990s. *Population and Development Review*, 28(4), 641-680.
- Kohler, H.-P., & Rodgers, J. L. (2003). Education, fertility, and heritability: Explaining a paradox. In N. R. Council (Ed.), *Offspring. Human fertility behavior in biodemographic perspective* (pp. 46-90). Washington DC: The National Academies Press.
- Kreyenfeld, M. (2004). Politikdiskussion fehlt verlässliche statistische Grundlage. *Demografische Forschung Aus Erster Hand*, 1(3), 4.
- Krishnan, V., & Krotki, K. J. (1999). Impact of abortion on Canadian fertility rates. *Canadian Studies in Population*, *26*, 67-81.

- Kurzban, R., & Weeden, J. (2005). HurryDate: Mate preferences in action. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *26*, 227-244.
- Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, J., & Feldman, M. W. (2001). Cultural niche construction and human evolution. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 14, 22-33.
- Lande, R. (1987). Genetic correlations between the sexes in the evolution of sexual dimorphism and mating preferences. In J. W. Bradbury & M. Anderson (Eds.), *Sexual selection: testing the alternatives* (pp. 83-95). Chichester: Wiley.
- Lang, S. (1992). Wir Frauen ohne Kinder. Frankfurt a.M.: Eichborn.
- Langlois, J. H., Kalakanis, L., Rubenstein, A. J., Larson, A., Hallam, M., & Smoot, M. (2000). Maxims or myths of beauty? A meta-analytic and theoretic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126, 390-423.
- Langlois, J. H., & Roggman, L. A. (1990). Attractive faces are only average. *Psychological Science*, 1, 115-121.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (1975). Female preferences for male physiques. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *9*, 324-334.
- Lindqvist Forsberg, A. J., & Tullberg, B. S. (1995). The relationship between cumultative number of cohabiting partners and number of children for men and women. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *16*, 221-232.
- Linton, D. K., & Wiener, N. I. (2001). Personality and potential conceptions: mating success in a modern Western male sample. *Personality and Individual Differences, 31*, 675-688.
- Lipowicz, A., Gronkiewicz, S., & Malina, R. M. (2002). Body mass index, overweight and obesity in married and never married men and women in Poland. *American Journal of Human Biology*, *14*, 468-475.
- Lippa, R., & Veira, R. M. (1995). *Testosterone and cortisol and their relation to personality and sociosexuality*. Paper presented at the Western Psychological Assoc., Los Angeles, CA.
- Loewenstein, G., & Schkade, D. (1999). Wouldn't it be nice? Predicting future feelings. In D. Kahnemann, E. Diener, & N. Schwarz (Eds.), *Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology* (pp. 85-105). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Low, B. S. (1990). Occupational status, landownership, and reproductive behavior in 19th-century Sweden: Tuna parish. *American Anthropologist*, 92, 457-468.
- Low, B. S. (1991). Reproductive life in nineteenth century Sweden: an evolutionary perspective on demographic phenomena. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *12*, 411-448.

- Lycett, J. E., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (1999). Abortion rates reflect the optimization of parental investment strategies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B, 266, 2355-2358.*
- Lynn, R. (1996). *Dysgenics. Genetic Deterioration in Modern Populations*. Westport, Connecticut: Praeger.
- Maestripieri, D., & Pelka, S. (2002). Sex differences in interest in infants across the lifespan: A biological adaptation for parenting? *Human Nature*, *13*, 327-344.
- Magrath, M. J. L., & Elgar, M. A. (1998). Paternal care declines with increased opportunity for extra-pair matings in fairy martins. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 264*, 1731-1736.
- Magrath, M. J. L., & Komdeur, J. (2003). Is male care compromised by additional mating opportunity? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 18, 424-430.
- Maisey, D. S., Vale, E. L. E., Corneliessen, P. L., & Tovée, M. J. (1999). Characteristics of male attractiveness for women. *The Lancet*, 353, 1500.
- Manning, J. T., Barley, L., Walton, J., Lewis-Jones, D. I., Trivers, R. L., Singh, D., Thornhill, R., Rohde, P., Bereczkei, T., Henzi, P., Soler, M., & Sved, A. (2000). The 2nd:4th digit ratio, sexual dimorphism, population differences and reproductive success: Evidence for sexually antagonistic genes? *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 21(3), 163-183.
- Marlowe, F. (1999). Male care and mating effort among Hadza foragers. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology.*, 46, 57-64.
- Marlowe, F. (2001). Male contribution to diet and female reproductive success among foragers. *Current Anthropology*, 42, 755-760.
- Marston, C., & Cleland, J. (2003). Relationships between contraception and abortion: a review of the evidence. *International Family Planning Perspectives*, 29(1), 6-13.
- Maynard Smith, J. (1978). *The evolution of sex*. Camebridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mayr, E. (2001). What evolution is. New York: Basic Books.
- McClelland, D. C., Koestner, R., & Weinberger, J. (1989). How do selfattributed and implicit motives differ? Psychological *Review*, *96*, 690-702.
- McDougall, W. (1908). An introduction to social psychology. London: Methuen.
- McMahon, M. (1995). *Engendering motherhood*. New York: Guilford Press

- Micheli, G. A., & Bernardi, L. (2003). Two interpretations of the dissonance between fertility intentions and behaviour. *MPIDR Working paper, WP 2003-009*.
- Mikach, S. M., & Bailey, J. M. (1999). What distinguishes women with unusual high numbers of sex partners? *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 141-150.
- Miller, W. B. (1992). Personality traits and developmental experiences as antecedents of childbearing motivation. *Demography*, 29, 265-285.
- Miller, W. B. (1994a). The relationship between willingness to become a parents and attitude toward abortion among married men and women. *Family Planning Perspectives*, *26*, 165-168.
- Miller, W. B. (1995). Childbearing motivation and its measurement. Journal of biosocial Science, 27, 473-487.
- Miller, W. B., & Pasta, D. J. (2002). The motivational substrate of unintended and unwanted pregnancy. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, 7(1), 1-29.
- Møller, A. P. (1990). Male tail length and female mate choice in the monogamous barn swallow *Hirundo rustica*. *Animal Behavior, 39*, 458-465.
- Mueller, U. (1993). Actual and potential reproduction: There is no substitute victory. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *16*(2), 301-303.
- Mueller, U., & Mazur, A. (2001). Evidence of unconstrained directional selection for male tallness. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, *50*, 302-311.
- Münz, R., & Pelikan, J. M. (1978). Geburt oder Abtreibung? Eine soziologische Analyse von Schwangerschaftskarrieren. Wien: Jugend und Volk.
- Nass, S. J., & Strauss, F. J. (Eds.). (2004). *New frontiers in contraceptive research: a blueprint for action*. Institute of Medicine of the National Academies: National Academy Press.
- Nesse, R. M., & Berridge, K. C. (1997). Psychoactive drug use in evolutionary perspective. *Science*, 278, 63-66.
- Nesse, R. M., & Williams, G. C. (1994). Why we get sick: the new science of Darwinian medicine. New York: Randomhouse Inc.
- Nettle, D. (2002). Height and reproductive success in a cohort of British men. *Human Nature*, 13, 473-491.
- Niemelä, P., Lethinen, P., Rauramo, L., Hermansson, R., Karjalainen, R., Mäki, H., & Storå, C.-Å. (1981). The first abortion – and the last? A study of the personality factors underlying repeated failure of

contraception. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, 19, 193-200.

- Numan, M., & Insel, T. R. (2003). *The neurobiology of parental behavior*. New York: Springer.
- Oda, R. (2002). Sexually dimorphic mate preferences in Japan: an analysis of lonely hearts advertisements. *Human Nature*, *12*, 191-206.
- Oddens, B. J. (1997). Determinants of contraceptive use among women of reproductive age in Great Britain and Germany II: Psychological factors. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 29, 437-470.
- Oddens, B. J., & Lehert, P. (1997). Determinants of contraceptive use among women of reproductive age in Great Britain and Germany I: Demographic factors. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 29, 415-435.
- Odling-Smee, F. J., Laland, K. N., & Feldman, M. W. (2003). *Niche construction. The neglected process in evolution.* Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Palmer, J. A., & Palmer, L. K. (2002). *Evolutionary psychology. The ultimate origins of human behavior*. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Panksepp, J. (1998). Affective neuroscience. The foundations of human and animal emotions. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Pärt, T., Gustafsson, L., & Moreno, J. (1992). "Terminal investment" and a sexual conflict in the collared flycatcher (*Ficedula albicollis*). *American Naturalist*, 140(5), 868-882.
- Pashos, A., & Niemitz, C. (2003). Results of an explorative empirical study on human mating in Germany: Handsome men, not high-status men, succeed in courtship. *Anthropologischer Anzeiger*, *61*(3), 331-341.
- Penn, D. J., Damjanovich, K., & Potts, W. K. (2002). MHC heterozygosity confers a selective advantage against multiple-strain infections. *Proceedings of the National Acadamy of Sciences, USA, 99*, 11260-11264.
- Penn, D. J., & Potts, W. K. (1999). The evolution of mating preferences and major histocompatibility complex genes. *American Naturalist*, 153, 145-164.
- Perrett, D. I., Burt, D. M., Penton-Voak, I. S., Lee, K. J., Rowland, D. A., & R., E. (1999). Symmetry and human facial attractiveness. *Evolution* and Human Behavior, 20, 295-307.
- Pérusse, D. (1993). Cultural and reproductive success in industrial societies: Testing the relationship at proximate and ultimate levels. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *16*, 267-322.

- Peterson, B. E., & Stewart, A. J. (1993). Generativity and social motives in young adults. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65, 186-198.
- Petrie, M., & Kempenaers, B. (1998). Extra-pair paternity in birds: explaining variation between species and populations. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 13*, 52-57.
- Pinker, S. (1997). How the mind works. New York: W. W. Norton & Co.
- Potts, M. (1997). Sex and the birth rate: human biology, demographic change and access to fertility-regulation methods. *Population and Development Review*, 23(1), 1-39.
- Potts, M., & Campbell, M. (2002). History of contraception. *Gynecology* and Obstetrics, 6, 1-27.
- Potts, W. K., Manning, C. J., & Wakeland, E. K. (1991). Mating patterns in seminatural populations of mice influenced by MHC genotype. *Nature*, *352*, 619-621.
- Preston, B. T., Stevenson, A., Pemberton, J. M., Coltman, D. W., & Wilson, K. (2005). Male mate choice influences female promiscuity in Soay sheep. *Proceedings: Biological Sciences*, 272, 365 - 373.
- Price, T. D., & Langen, T. (1992). Evolution of correlated characters. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 307-310.
- Pryce, C. R. (1992). A comparative systems model of the regulation of maternal motivation in mammals. *Animal Behaviour*, 43, 417-441.
- Reichard, U. (1995). Extra-pair copulations in a monogamous gibbon (*Hylobates lar*). *Ethology*, 100, 99-112.
- Rhodes, G., & Zebrowitz, L. A. (Eds.). (2003). *Facial attractiveness: Evolutionary, cognitive, and social perspectives*. Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Rhodes, G., Simmons, L. W., & Peters, M. (2005). Attractiveness and sexual behavior: Does attractiveness enhance mating success? *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *26*, 186-201.
- Rhodes, G., Chan, J., Zebrowitz, L. A., & Simmons, L. A. (2003). Does sexual dimorphism in human faces signal health? *Proceedings of the Royal Society London, Series B, 270 (suppl.)*, 93-95.
- Rhodes, G., & Zebrowitz, L. A. (Eds.). (2003). *Facial attractiveness: Evolutionary, cognitive, and social perspectives*. Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Rice, W. R. (1989). Analyzing tables of statistical tests. *Evolution*, 43, 223-225.
- Rice, W. R. (1992). Sexually antagonistic genes: experimental evidence. *Science*, 256, 1436-1439.
- Rice, W. R., & Chippindale, A. K. (2001). Intersexual ontogenetic conflict. Journal of Evolutionary Biology., 14, 685-693.

- Richerson, P. J., & Boyd, R. (2004). Not by genes alone. How culture transformed human evolution. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Rikowski, A., & Grammer, K. (1999). Human body odour, symmetry and attractiveness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B*, 266, 869-74.
- Roberts, S. C., Little, A. C., Gosling, L. M., Perrett, D. I., Carter, V., Jones,
 B. C., et al. (2005). MHC-heterozygosity and human facial attractiveness. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *26*, 213-226.
- Rodgers, J. L., Cleveland, H. H., van den Oord, E., & Rowe, D. C. (2000). Resolving the debate over birth order, family size, and intelligence. *American Psychologist*, 55, 599-612.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations. New York: Free Press.
- Rohde, P. A. (2003). *Attractiveness, mating success, and abortion decision.* Paper presented at the 15th Conference of the Human Behavior and Evolution Society, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, June 4th to 8th.
- Rohde, P. A., & Hoier, S. (2001). Determinanten elterlicher Fürsorge in evolutionärer Perspektive: Geschlecht, Alter, Soziosexualität, Attraktivität und genetische Verwandtschaft. Paper presented at the 15. Fachtagung Entwicklungspsychologie, University of Potsdam, Germany, September 2nd to 5th.
- Rohde, P. A., Johnsen, A., & Lifjeld, J. T. (1999). Female plumage coloration in the bluethroat: No evidence of an indicator of maternal quality. *Condor*, *101*, 96-104.
- Rohde, P. A., & Schmitt, D. S. (2004). *Sexual inequality and its correlates: testing evolutionary hypotheses at the cross-national level.* Poster presented at the 16th annual meeting of the Human Behavior and Evolution Society, Berlin, Germany, July 21st to 25th.
- Rosenthal, R., & Rosnow, R. L. (1991). *Essentials of behavioral research: Methods and data analysis*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Rosenthal, R., Rosnow, R. L., & Rubin, D. B. (2000). Constrasts and effect sizes in behavioral research. A correlational approach. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Rost, H., & Schneider, N. F. (1996). Kinderlose Ehen. In H. Buba & N. F. Schneider (Eds.), *Familie* (pp. 245-259). München: Beck.
- Rowe, D. C., Versterdal, W. J., & Rodgers, J. L. (1999). Herrnstein's syllogism: genetic and shared environmental influences on IQ, education, and income. *Intelligence*, *26*(4), 405-423.
- Rubenstein, A. J., Kalakanis, L., & Langlois, J. H. (1999). Infant preferences for attractive faces: A cognitive explanation. *Developmental Psychology*, 35, 848-855.

- Rubenstein, A. J., Langlois, J. H., & Roggman, L. A. (2003). What makes a face attractive and why? In G. Rhodes & L. A. Zebrowitz (Eds.), *Facial attractiveness. Evolutionary, cognitive, and social perspectives* (pp. 1-33). Westport, CT: Ablex.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2002). A Primate's Memoir. A Neuroscientist's Unconventional Life Among the Baboons. New York: Touchstone Books.
- Saporta, I., & Halpern, J. J. (2002). Being different can hurt: Effects of deviation from physical norms on lawyers' salaries. *Industrial Relations*, 41(3), 442-466.
- Schlichting, C. D., & Pigliucci, M. (1998). *Phenotypic evolution. A reaction norm perspective*. Sunderland, Mass.: Sinauer Ass., Inc., Publishers.
- Schmitt, C. (2004). Kinderlose Männer in Deutschland: eine sozialstrukturelle Bestimmung des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels (SOEP). DIW-Berlin, *Materialien*, 34.³⁶
- Schmitt, C., & Winkelmann, U. (2005). Wer bleibt kinderlos? Sozialstrukturelle Daten zur Kinderlosigkeit von M\u00e4nnern und Frauen. diw, German Institute for Economic Research, Berlin, discussion papers, 473.³⁷
- Schmitt, D. P. (2003). Universal sex differences in the desire for sexual variety: tests from 52 nations, 6 continents, and 13 Islands. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85, 85-104.
- Schwab Zabin, L., Huggins, G. R., Emerson, M. R., & Cullins, V. E. (2000). Partner effects on a woman's intention to conceive: "Not with this partner". *Family Planning Perspectives*, 32, 39-45.
- Seddon, N., Amos, W., Mulder, R. A., & Tobias, J. A. (2004). Male heterozygosity predicts territory size, song structure and reproductive success. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B*, 271, 1823-1829.
- Segerstråle, U. (2000). Defenders of the truth. The battle for science in the sociobiology debate and beyond. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Seifritz, E., Esposito, F., Neuhoff, J. G., Lüthi, A., Mustovic, H., Dammann, G., von Bardeleben, U., Radue, E. W., Cirillo, S., Tedeschi, G., & De Salle, F. (2003). Differential sex-independent amygdala response to infant crying and laughing in parents versus non-parents. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54, 1367 – 1375.
- Shackleford, T. D., & Larsen, R. J. (1999). Facial attractiveness and physical health. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 71-76.
- Shaumann, K. A., & Xie, Y. (1996). Geographic mobility of scientists: sex differences and family contraints. *Demography*, *33*, 455-468.

- Shepard, R. N. (1992). The perceptual organization of colors: an adaptation to regularities to the terrestial world. In J. H. Barkow, L. Cosmides, & J. Tooby (Eds.), *The Adapted Mind* (pp. 495-532). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Simpson, J., & Gangestad, S. (1991). Individual differences in sociosexuality: Evidence for convergent and discriminant validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60, 870-883.
- Simpson, J. A., & Gangestad, S. W. (1992). Sociosexuality and romantic partner choice. *Journal of Personality*, 60, 31-51.
- Singh, D. (2002). Female mate value at a glance: relationship of waist-tohip ratio to health, fecundity and attractiveness. *Neuroendocrinological Letters, 23 (suppl. 4)*, 81-91.
- Singh, D., & Young, R. K. (1995). Body weight, waist-to-hip ratio, breasts, and hips: Role in judgments of female attractiveness and desirability for relationships. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 16(6), 483-507.
- Smith, E. A., Borgeroff Mulder, M., & Hill, K. (2000). Evolutionary analyses of human behaviour: a commentary on Daly & Wilson. *Animal Behaviour*, 60(4), F21-F26.
- Smith, E. A., Borgeroff Mulder, M., & Hill, K. (2001). Controversies in the evolutionary social sciences: a guide for the perplexed. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 16, 128-135.
- Smith, H. G. (1995). Experimental demonstration of a trade-off between mate attraction and paternal care. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 260,* 45-51.
- Smith, R. L. (1984). Human sperm competition. In R. L. Smith (Ed.), Sperm competition and the evolution of animal mating systems. London: Academic Press.
- Smuts, B. (1985). Sex and friendship in baboons. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Sober, E., & Wilson, D. S. (1998). Unto others. The evolution and psychology of unselfish behavior. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Soltis, J., Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1995). Can group-functional behaviors evolve by cultural group selection? An empirical test. *Current Anthropology*, *36*, 473-494.
- Statistisches Bundesamt Deutschland (2003). Bevölkerung Deutschlands bis 2050. (Press information)³⁸.
- Stearns, S. C. (1992). *The evolution of life histories*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- Stöber, J. (2001). The Social Desirability Scale-17 (SDS-17): Convergent validity, discriminant validity, and relationship with age. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 17, 222-232.
- Storey, A. E., Walsh, C. J., Quinton, R. L., & Wynne-Edwards, K. E. (2000). Hormonal correlates of paternal responsiveness in new and expectant fathers. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 21, 79-95.
- Streeter, S. A., & McBurney, D. H. (2003). Waist-to-hip ratio and attractiveness: New evidence and a critique of a "critical test". *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 24, 88-98.
- Symons, D. (1979). *The evolution of human sexuality*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Székely, T., & Cuthill, I. C. (2000). Trade-off between mating opportunities and parental care: brood desertion by female Kentish plovers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 267, 2087-2092.*
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (1996). Using Multivariate Statistics: Harpercollins College Div.
- Thompson, A. P. (1983). Extramarital sex: a review of the research literature. *Journal of Sex Research*, 19, 1-22.
- Thornhill, R., Gangestad, S. W., Miller, R., Scheyb, G., McCollough, J. K., & Franklin, M. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex genes, symmetry, and body scent attractiveness in men and women. *Behavioral Ecology*, 14(5), 668-678.
- Thornhill, R., & Grammer, K. (1999). The body and face of woman: One ornament that signals quality? *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 105-120.
- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (1990). The past explains the present: Emotional adaptations and the structure of ancestral environments. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *11*, 375-424.
- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (1992). The psychological foundations of culture. In J. H. Barkow, L. Cosmides, & J. Tooby (Eds.), *The Adapted Mind* (pp. 19-136). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Torres, A., & Forrest, J. S. (1988). Why do women have abortions? *Family Planning Perspectives*, 20, 169-176.
- Tovée, M. J., & Cornelissen, P. L. (2001). Female and male perceptions of female physical attractiveness in front-view and profile. *British Journal of Psychology*, 92(391-402).
- Tovée, M. J., Hancock, P. J., Mahmoodi, S., Singleton, B. R. R., & Cornelissen, P. L. (2002). Human female attractiveness: waveform analysis of body shape. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, published online*.

- Tovée, M. J., Maisey, D., Emery, J. L., & Cornelissen, P. (1999). Visual cues to female physical attractiveness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 266*, 211-218.
- Triandis, H. C. (1995). *Individualism and collectivism*. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Trivedi, N., & Sabini, J. (1998). Volunteer Bias, Sexuality, and Personality. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 27, 181-195.
- Trivers, R. L. (1972). Parental investment and sexual selection. In B. G. Campbell (Ed.), Sexual selection and the descent of man, 1871-1971 (pp. 136-179). Chicago: Aldine press. (Reprinted in: Trivers, R. (2002). Natural selection and social theory. Selected papers of Robert Trivers. New York: Oxford University Press, p. 65-109).
- Trivers, R. L. (1983). The evolution of sex. *Quaterly Review of Biology* 58, 62-67.
- Tullberg, B. S., & Lumaa, V. (2001). Induced abortion rate in modern Sweden falls with age, but rises again before menopause. *Evolution* and Human Behavior, 22, 1-10.
- Turke, P. W. (1989). Evolution and the demand for children. *Population* and *Development Review*, 15, 61-90.
- Udry, J. R., & Billy, J. O. (1987). Initiation of coitus in early adolescence. *American Sociological Review*, 52, 841-854.
- Udry, J. R., & Eckland, B. K. (1984). Benefits of being attractive: Differential payoffs for men and women. *Psychological Reports*, 54(47-56).
- Vandenberg, S. G. (1972). Assortative mating, or who marries whom? *Behavior Genetics*, 2, 127-157.
- Veblen, T. B. (1899). *The theory of the leisure class*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Verplanken, B., & Aarts, H. (1999). Habit, attitudes, and planned behaviour: Is habit an empty construct or an interesting case of goaldirected automaticity? *European Review of Social Psychology*, 10, 101-134.
- Vining, D. R. (1986). Social versus reproductive success: the central theoretical problem of human sociobiology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 9, 167-216.
- Voland, E. (1998). Evolutionary ecology of human reproduction. *Annual Review in Anthropology*, 27, 347-374.
- von Reitzenstein, F. F. (1923). *Das Weib bei den Naturvölkern*. Berlin: Neufeld & Henius.

- Walsh, A. (1993). Love styles, masculinity/feminity, physical attractiveness, and sexual behavior: a test of evolutionary theory. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 14, 25-38.
- Walzer, S. (1994). The role of gender in determining abortion attitudes. *Social Science Quarterly*, 75(3), 687-693.
- Watkins, E. S. (1998). On the pill. A social history of oral contraception. Baltimore, Maryland: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Waynforth, D. (1999). Differences in time use for mating and nepotistic effort as a function of male attractiveness in rural Belize. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 20, 19-28.
- Weaver, W., & Shannon, C. E. (1949). *The mathematical theory of communication*. Urbana, IL: Illinois University Press.
- Wedekind, C., & Füri, S. (1997). Body odour preferences in men and women: do they aim for specific MHC combinations or simply heterozygosity? *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B*, 264, 1471-1479.
- Wedekind, C., Seebeck, T., Bettens, F., & Paepke, A. J. (1995). MHCdependent mate preferences in humans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, Series B, 260,* 245-249.
- Westermarck, E. (1929). *Marriage*. New York: Jonathan Cape and harrison Smith.
- Whittingham, L. A., & Lifjeld, J. T. (1995). Extra-pair fertilizations increase the opportunity for sexual selection in the monogamous house martin *Delichon urbica*. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *26*, 283-288.
- Williams, G. C. (1966). *Adaptation and natural selection*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Wilson, E. O. (1975). *Sociobiology. The new synthesis*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Winkelgren, I. (1998). Obesity: How big a problem. *Science*, 280, 1364-1367.
- Wittenberger, J. F., & Tilson, R. L. (1980). The evolution of monogamy: hypotheses and evidence. *Annual Review in Ecology and Systematics*, *11*, 50-68.
- Wood, J. W. (1994). *Dynamics of human reproduction: Biology, biometry, demography*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Woodroffe, R., & Vincent, A. (1994). Mother's little helpers: Patterns of male care in mammals. *Trends Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 294-297.
- Zebrowitz, L. A., Hall, J. A., Murphy, N. A., & Rhodes, G. (2002). Looking smart and looking good: Facial cues to intelligence and their origins. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*, 238-249.

- Ziebell, L., Schmerl, C., & Queisser, H. (1992). *Lebensplanung ohne Kinder*. Frankfurt a.M.: Fischer.
- Zillmann, D., & Bryant, J. (1988). Effects of prolonged consumption of pornography on family values. *Journal of Family Issues*, *9*, 518-544.
- Zuckerman, M., Kolin, E. A., Price, L., & Zoob, I. (1964). Development of a sensation-seeking scale. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 28(6), 477-482.

Summary

Recent advances in the theory of evolution by natural selection have caused a new research impetus in the study of animal behavior, including human behavior, from an evolutionary perspective. Among researchers of human behavior, a controversy developed over what constitutes an evolutionary analysis of behavior. Two major approaches can be distinguished. The first approach, here referred to as the "fitness maximization approach" (FMA), holds that testing evolutionary hypotheses involves predicting differential reproductive success from a rational choice perspective that maximizes genic fitness. The second approach is here called the "adaptation executer approach" (AEA). It holds that reproductive success is of theoretical importance only with respect to the selective forces of the past and to the effect they are assumed to have had on the current design of adaptations. One important difference between the two approaches lies in their implications for the study of maladaptive behavior. Whereas the FMA assumes that behavioral dispositions are acted out adaptively under all environmental conditions, the AEA acknowledges that extreme novel environments may cause mismatches between the environment and organism, which may in turn cause organisms to behave maladaptively.

Contraception behavior has not been subjected to an evolutionary analysis. However, doing so is important for understanding current human reproductive behavior and constitutes a test case for the relative heuristic value of AEA and FMA. In the current study, I argued that contraception is maladaptive and therefore should be studied within the AEA.

Although the study of maladaptive behavior is strongly implied in the principles of the AEA (conceptualized by Tooby & Cosmides, 1992, and referred to as "evolutionary functional analysis"), the published evolutionary studies are almost completely dedicated to identifying adaptive mechanisms and adaptive behavior. In addition, an important theoretical framework for the genesis of maladaptive behavior in humans

130

has not been widely received by evolutionary researchers. This theory, proposed by Boyd and Richerson (1985), considers the evolutionary causes of human capacity for culture and the interactions between genic and cultural evolution. The authors define culture as "... the transmission from one generation to the next via teaching and imitation, of knowledge, values, and other factors that influence behavior" (Boyd & Richerson, 1985, p. 2). The capacity for culture evolved to increase the adaptability of populations to diverse environments. However, the indiscriminate openness with which cultural traits are adopted also made it possible for maladaptive traits to spread within a population. For example, certain superstitions may be harmful to survival and reproduction. Based on these theoretical considerations, I conclude that for studying maladaptive behavior, the AEA can be usefully applied to animal behavior in general. However, when applied to humans, one must consider culture as the process that will almost always be involved in creating mismatches between current environment and adaptations. I called this extended AEA "evolutionary malfunctional analysis" (after Tooby & Cosmides, 1992) and applied it to contraception behavior.

Contraception behavior arguably qualifies as a maladaptive cultural trait because it has detrimental effects on reproductive success as evidenced by birth rate data from countries with unrestricted access to contraceptives Furthermore, (including abortion). contraception is potentionally maladaptive because it shifts reproductive decision-making from the immediate context of partner choice and sexual intercourse to conscious decision-making based on deliberation. The two major research questions then become 1. why humans enter a contraception routine and 2. why they ever (or never) decide to quit contraception in order to become parents. Answers for the first questions can be partly inferred from the historic record of, for example, the contraception movement. Providing some

answers to the second question was one major aim of the current study, which consists of two parts.

In Part I of the study, I looked at the relationship between three measures of physical attractiveness (facial, self-rated, and the bodymass index, BMI) as independent variables and a) various measures of sexual behavior and attitudes (age at first sex, number of sex partners, current mating status, Sociosexual Orientation Inventory, extra-pair mating success) and b) measures of partnership exclusivity and stability (duration of current partnership, extra-pair sex, partnership asymmetry, initiation of break-up) as dependent variables. Part I can be regarded as a self-contained study on the relationship between physical attractiveness and mating behavior, but at the same time, it serves as a contrast to the hypotheses and results of Part II (see below). In Part I, I predicted that a) the three measures of physical attractiveness would be positively correlated with measures of mating success and promiscuity, and b) within romantic relationships attractiveness would have a disruptive effect on the stability and exclusiveness of romantic relationships. These hypotheses assume a generally adaptive link between organism and current environment.

In general, the hypotheses were supported by the data for both women and men. Current mating status was the only measure of mating success that yielded significant correlations with all three measures of attractiveness in both sexes. All other correlations varied by measures of mating success and measure of attractiveness and between the sexes. For example, age at first sex was negatively correlated with attractiveness only in women, but not in men, whereas attractiveness predicted extra-pair mating success and sociosexual orientation only in men. With respect to exclusiveness and stability of relationship, it was found that attractiveness has a negative impact on the duration of relationships and on faithfulness. Furthermore, the more facially attractive men were more likely to indicate that their partner was more in love with them than vice versa. Similarly, the more facially attractive men were, the more likely they had initiated the last break-up. These effects were not found for women.

In Part II, I asked how the measures of promiscuity and attractiveness of Part I and a measure of fondness for children related to the participants' willingness to become a parent. As a measure of the willingness to become a parent, I assessed the participant's tendency to abort an unintended pregnancy. This measure is the rating on a 5-point scale in response to the question, "What would you prefer to do if you (or your partner) became pregnant today?" The tendency to abort was employed, because, like contraception, abortion is used to postpone parenthood or to limit the number of children. An unexpected pregnancy is often a result of the failure of the contraception routine and forces a woman and her partner to weigh the pros and cons of a transition to parenthood before they decide. The actual criteria for the decision (not) to become a parent may or may not be cognitively accessible to the individuals involved, but should reveal themselves in being correlated with the tendency to abort.

In the introduction to Part II, I argued that the three independent variables promiscuity, attractiveness, and fondness for children reflect individual variability in species-specific adaptations. The following three hypotheses were proposed. First, I predicted that promiscuity would be positively correlated with the tendency to abort. Although promiscuity may have enhanced the reproductive success at least of men, it is difficult to reconcile with family life and thus acts to enhance a perceived opportunity conflict. Second, I predicted that attractiveness would be positively correlated to the tendency to abort. Because attractiveness is a strong determinant of all kinds of social success including vocational success, mating success, and social mobility, individuals of high attractiveness will perceive a stonger opportunity conflict between current social success and future parenting than less attractive individuals. Third, I predicted that

fondness for children (measured with a Fondness for Children Scale, FCS), would be negatively correlated to the tendency to abort. While this relationship may seem obvious, it has not previously been considered in abortion research. Fondness for children probably evolved as a sexually differentiated motivational system that prepares immature females for the future task of mothering, but in the evolutionary past is unlikely to have had a positive effect on reproductive success at the level of conception and age at first child.

All three hypotheses were supported by the data for both women and men in partial correlations that controlled for age. Of the three measures of attractiveness, facial attractiveness yielded the strongest correlations, followed by marginally significant correlations with the BMI and very low and nonsignificant correlations with self-rated attractiveness. A multiple regression analysis with promiscuity (Sociosexual Orientation Inventory), facial attractiveness, FCS, and age as independent variables and the tendency to abort as dependent variable was run for women and men, respectively. Apart from men's facial attractiveness, all predictors that were found to be significant in bivariate correlations remained significant in the multiple regression. However, a mediational analysis showed that the effect attractiveness had on the tendency to abort was not significantly mediated by promiscuity. No interaction effect between promiscuity and facial attractiveness was found.

The discussion considers some of the implications of the results for research on attractiveness and mating on the one hand and reproductive decision-making on the other. However, the major aim of the current study was to make a case for an analysis of maladaptive behavior within the AEA. The hypothesis of maladaptive reproductive decision-making was supported in two ways. First, it was shown in Part II that attributes that in our evolutionary past would have promoted reproductive success (mating success and attractiveness) seem to have the opposite effect in the modern
context of conscious decision-making. Furthermore, fondness for children – as a disposition that in the evolutionary past was probably neutral with respect to onset of reproduction – had a negative effect on the tendency to abort. Second, the argument for maladaptive reproductive decision-making was further supported by the finding that, in the same sample (Part I), attractiveness was positively and thus adaptively related to mating success. This suggests a breakdown of the species-specific behavioral sequence that leads to successful reproduction and makes an adaptive explanation highly unlikely. I conclude that the low fertility rates displayed by post-war human populations are compatible with evolutionary theory, but only if a maladaptive explanation is invoked that considers cultural transmission. Future research may identify further adaptations that produce maladaptive behavior in the context of fertility decisions.

Zusammenfassung

In jüngster Zeit haben Fortentwicklungen in der Evolutionstheorie die Forschung zu einer Vielzahl von Studien angeregt, in denen das Verhalten von Tieren – den Menschen eingeschlossen – aus evolutionärer Perspektive betrachtet wird. Unter den Forschern, die sich speziell mit menschlichem Verhalten beschäftigen, herrscht jedoch bis heute Uneinigkeit darüber, was genau eine evolutionäre Verhaltensanalyse ausmacht. Hierbei stehen sich zwei Ansätze gegenüber. Der erste Ansatz wird hier als "Fitness Maximization Approach" (FMA, deutsch: Ansatz der Fitness-Maximierung) bezeichnet. Er geht davon aus, dass die Überprüfung evolutionärer Hypothesen die Voraussage differenziellen Fortpflanzungserfolges beinhaltet, wobei eine "rational choice"-Perspektive zugrunde gelegt wird, in der genische Fitness maximiert wird. Der zweite Ansatz wird hier als "adaptation execution approach" (AEA, deutsch: Ansatz der Anpassungsausübung) bezeichnet. Diesem Ansatz zufolge besteht die theoretische Relevanz des Fortpflanzungserfolges nur in den Selektionskräften der naturgeschichtlichen Vergangenheit und nur insofern diese zur Herausbildung des Designs heute beobachtbarer Anpassungen beigetragen haben. Ein wichtiger Unterschied zwischen diesen beiden Ansätzen besteht in ihren Implikationen für die Betrachtung maladaptiven Verhaltens. Während der FMA unterstellt, dass evolvierte Verhaltensdispositionen unter allen möglichen Umweltbedingungen adaptiv sind, geht man beim AEA davon aus, das extreme, neuartige Umwelten zu Fehlkopplungen zwischen Umwelt und Organismus führen, und damit maladaptives Verhalten bewirken können.

Kontrazeptionsverhalten ist bislang nicht Gegenstand einer gezielten evolutionären Analyse gewesen. Ein solches Unterfangen ist jedoch wichtig für das Verständnis heutigen menschlichen Fortpflanzungsverhaltens und stellt einen Testfall dar, in dem der relative heuristische Wert von FMA und AEA deutlich werde sollte. In der vorliegenden Studie führe ich Argumente für die These an, dass Kontrazeption maladaptiv ist und daher mit dem AEA erforscht werden sollte.

Obwohl die Betrachtung maladaptiven Verhaltens durch die Prinzipien des AEA nahe gelegt wird (konzepualisiert von Tooby & Cosmides, 1992, und dort bezeichnet als "evolutionary functional analysis"), so befassen sich doch fast alle publizierten evolutionären Studien mit dem Nachweis adaptiver Mechanismen und adaptiven Verhaltens. Dazu kommt, dass ein wichtiger theoretischer Ansatz für die Genese maladaptiven Verhaltens von evolutionär arbeitenden Forschern bislang kaum rezipiert worden ist. Diese Theorie, vorgestellt von Boyd und Richerson (1985), betrachtet den evolutionären Ursprung menschlicher Kulturfähigkeit und die Interaktionen zwischen genischer und kultureller Evolution. Die Autoren definieren Kultur als "... die Weitergabe von Wissen, Werten und anderen Faktoren, die Verhalten beeinflussen, von einer Generation zur nächsten durch Lehren und Imitation" (Boyd & Richerson, 1985, p. 2). Die Kapazität für Kulturfähigkeit konnte diesen Autoren zufolge deshalb evolvieren, weil sie die Anpassungsfähigkeit menschlicher Populationen an verschiedenartigste Umwelten gestattete. Doch die relativ indiskriminative Offenheit, mit der kulturelle Information aufgenommen wird, brachte unweigerlich die Möglichkeit mit sich, dass auch maladaptive Information übermittelt und innerhalb einer Population weitergegeben wird. Ein Beispiel stellen manche Formen des Aberglaubens dar, die dem Überleben und der Fortpflanzung abträglich sind.

Aufgrund dieser theoretischen Überlegungen schlussfolgere ich, dass der AEA in der Erforschung aller Tierarten von Nutzen ist, dass er aber im Spezialfall Mensch der Faktor Kulturfähigkeit besonderer Berücksichtigung bedarf, weil dieser fast immer an der Entstehung von Fehlkopplungen zwischen Gegenwartsumwelt und Anpassungen beteiligt sein dürfte. Diesen um den Faktor Kulturfähigkeit erweiterten AEA bezeichne ich hier als "evolutionary malfunctional analysis" (nach Tooby

137

& Cosmides, 1992, deutsch: evolutionäre Dysfunktionsanalyse"), und wende ihn auf Kontrazeptionsverhalten an.

Dass Kontrazeption ein maladaptives Kulturprodukt ist, wird bereits durch seine negativen Auswirkungen auf den Fortpflanzungserfolg nahegelegt, die sich aus den Geburtenraten all jener Länder ablesen lassen, in denen uneingeschränkter Zugang zu Kontrazeptiva (induzierte Abortion eingeschlossen) besteht. Darüberhinaus ist Kontrazeption auch deshalb potentiell maladaptiv, weil durch sie die Fortpflanzungsentscheidung vom Kontext der Partnerwahl und des Sexualkontaktes verschoben wird hin zu einem Kontext bewusster Abwägung. Daraus ergeben sich folgende zwei Forschungsfragen: 1. Warum entscheiden sich Menschen für eine Kontrazeptionsroutine? 2. Warum entscheiden sie sich jemals (bzw. niemals) für den Bruch mit dieser Routine, um Eltern zu werden? Für die erste Frage liefern historische Studien Antworten, die beispielsweise die Motivation der Kontrazeptionsbewegung behandeln. Antworten auf die zweite Frage zu finden, war vorrangiges Ziel der vorliegenden Studie, die aus zwei aufeinander aufbauenden Teilen besteht.

Im Teil I der Studie betrachtete ich den Zusammenhang zwischen drei Maßen körperlicher Attraktivität (Gesichtsattraktivität, selbsteingeschätzte Attraktivität, Bodymass-Index) als unabhängige Variablen einerseits und zweier Gruppen unabhängiger Variablen andererseits: a) verschiedene Maße sexuellen Verhaltens und sexueller Einstellungen (Alter Sex, Anzahl Sexpartner, derzeitiger Paarungsstatus, beim ersten Soziosexueller Orientierungs-Index, "extra-pair mating success"), b) Maße der Partnerschaftsexklusivität und -stabilität (Dauer der bestehenden Partnershaft, Untreue, Partnerschaftsasymmetrie, Initiation der letzten Trennung). Teil I kann als eigenständige Studie über den Zusammenhang zwischen Attraktivität und Paarungsverhalten betrachtet werden. Gleichzeitig aber dient er dem Vergleich mit den Resultaten von Teil II (siehe unten). In Teil I sagte ich voraus, dass a) die drei Attraktivitätsmaße

positiv mit den Maßen des Paarungserfolgs bzw. der Promiskuität korreliert sein würden, b) sich Attraktivität negativ auf die Stabilität und Exklusivität von Partnerschaften auswirken würden. In den Hypothesen dieses ersten Teils unterstellte ich eine adaptive Kopplung zwischen Organismus und Umwelt.

Die Hypothesen wurden im Allgemeinen bestätigt, sowohl für Frauen als auch Männer. Der derzeitige Paarungsstatus (also das Bestehen einer heterosexuellen Beziehung) war das einzige Maß von Paarungserfolg, das für beide Geschlechter signifikant mit allen drei Attraktivtätsmaßen korreliert war. Alle anderen Korrelationen variierten mit dem Maß der Attraktivität oder des Paarungserfolges sowie mit dem Geschlecht. Zum Beispiel war das Alter beim ersten Sex nur bei Frauen negativ mit Attraktivität korreliert, nicht aber bei Männern, wohingegen Attraktivität nur bei Männern positiv mit "extra-pair mating success" und soziosexueller Orientierung korreliert war. Hinsichtlich der Exklusivität und Stabilität der Partnerschaft wurde der erwartete negative Effekt der Attraktivität auf die Dauer der bestehenden Partnerschaft sowie auf die Untreue bestätigt. Darüberhinaus tendierten Männer - nicht aber Frauen - mit hoher Gesichtsattraktivität mehr als weniger attraktive Männer dazu, anzugeben, dass ihr Partner stärkere Gefühle für sie hegt, als umgekehrt. Entsprechend wurde die Trennung der vorherigen Partnerschaft umso wahrscheinlicher von Männern eingeleitet, je attraktiver deren Gesicht war.

Im zweiten Teil der Studie untersuchte ich, wie Promiskuität, Attraktivität und – als neu hinzukommende Variable – Kinderliebe mit der Bereitschaft in Zusammenhang stehen, Mutter bzw. Vater zu werden. Als Maß für die Bereitschaft zur Elternschaft wählte ich die Tendenz, eine ungewollte Schwangerschaft abzutreiben. Diese "tendency to abort" (deutsch: Abtreibungstendenz) besteht aus den Ratings auf einer bipolaren 5-Punkte-Skala, die den Teilnehmern zur Beantwortung der Frage diente, wie sie reagieren würden, wenn sie selbst bzw. ihre Partner heute eine Schwangerschaft feststellten. Die Abtreibungstendenz wurde gewählt, weil Abtreibung – ähnlich wie andere Formen der Kontrazeption – für den Aufschub der Elternschaft bzw. zur Limitierung der Anzahl der Kinder eingesetzt wird. Eine ungewollte Schwangerschaft ist häufig die Folge des Versagens einer Verhütungsroutine und zwingt die schwangere Frau und ihren Partner dazu, die Vor- und Nachteile eines Eintritts in die Elternschaft abzuwägen, bevor eine Abtreibungsentscheidung getroffen wird. Die dieser Entscheidung zugrunde liegenden Kriterien können, müssen aber nicht den betroffenen Personen kognitiv zugänglich sein, sollten aber – so die Annahme – in einer messbaren Beziehung zur Abtreibungsneigung stehen.

In der Einleitung zum Teil II argumentiere ich, dass die drei unabhängigen Variablen - Promiskuität, Attraktivität und Kinderliebe individuelle Unterschiede in artspezifischen Anpassungen darstellen. Folgende drei Hypothesen wurden getestet: 1. Promiskuität sollte positiv mit der Abtreibungsneigung zusammenhängen. - Obwohl Promiskuität in der naturgeschichtlichen Vergangenheit wohl den Fortpflanzungserfolg zumindest von Männern erhöht haben durfte, so ist eine promiske Neigung heute doch schwer mit einem Familienleben vereinbar, sodass sie den mit der Elternschaft verbundenen Opportunitätskonflikt verstärkt. 2. Attraktivität sollte positiv mit der Abtreibungstendenz korreliert sein. -Attraktivität ist eine wichtige Determinante von sozialem Erfolg wie z.B. in den Bereichen Beruf, Sexualität oder soziale Mobilität. Sie sollte daher bewirken, dass hochattraktive Individuen sich in einem stärkeren Opportunitätskonflikt zwischen gegenwärtigem sozialen Erfolg und zukünftiger Elternschaft befinden, als weniger attraktive Individuen. 3. Kinderliebe (erfasst mit einer Kinderliebe-Skala) sollte negativ mit der Abtreibungsneigung zusammen hängen. – Obwohl dies offensichtlich erscheint, so wurde diese Frage in der Abtreibungsforschung bislang so nicht gestellt. Kinderliebe evolvierte wahrscheinlich als geschlechtlich

differenziertes Motivationssystem, das Mädchen auf ihre zukünftige Mutterschaft vorbereiten soll. Es scheint jedoch unwahrscheinlich, dass Kinderliebe in der evolutionären Vergangenheit den individuellen Fortpflanzungserfolg auf der Ebene der Konzeption und des Alters beim ersten Kind jemals positiv beeinflusst hat.

Alle drei Hypothesen wurden bestätigt, sowohl für Frauen als auch für Männer. Von den drei Attraktivitätsmaßen erzielte die Gesichtsattraktivität die höchsten Korrelationskoeffizienten, gefolgt von marginal signifikanten Korrelationen mit dem BMI und sehr kleinen, nicht signifikanten Korrelationen mit der selbsteingeschätzten Attraktivität. Schließlich wurde für Frauen und Männer je eine multiple Regression berechnet, in die Promiskuität, Gesichtsattraktivität, Kinderliebe und Alter als unabhängige Variablen und Abtreibungsneigung als abhängige Variable eingingen. Mit der Ausnahme der Gesichtsattraktivität bei Männern blieben all jene Variablen signifikante Prädiktoren, die auch auf bivariater Ebene signifikant mit Abtreibungsneigung korreliert waren. Eine Mediationsanalyse zeigte, dass der Effekt der Attraktivität auf die Abtreibungsneigung nicht signifikant von der Promiskuität mediiert wurde. Ein Interaktionseffekt zwischen Promiskuität und Attraktivität wurde nicht gefunden.

In der Diskussion werden einige Implikationen der Untersuchungsergebnisse für die Forschung im Bereich Attraktivität und Sexualität einerseits und im Bereich Fortpflanzungsentscheidungen andererseits aufgezeigt. Allerdings bestand das vorrangige Ziel der Untersuchung darin, ein Fallbeispiel für eine Analyse maladaptiven Verhaltens innerhalb des AEA zu liefern. Die Hypothese maladaptiver Fortpflanzungsentscheidungen wurde in zweierlei Hinsicht gestützt. Erstens wurde in Teil II gezeigt, dass Eigenschaften, die sich in der evolutionären Vergangenheit fortpflanzungsfördernd ausgewirkt haben müssen (nämlich Promiskuität und Attraktivität), im heutigen Kontext einer bewussten Fortpflanzungsentscheidung scheinbar einen gegenteiligen Effekt haben. Daneben hatte Kinderliebe – als eine Disposition, die früher hinsichtlich des Alters beim ersten Kind neutral war - eine negative Auswirkung auf die Abtreibungsneigung und bekommt so in moderner Zeit eine neue Bedeutung. Zweitens wird die Annahme einer maladaptiven Fortpflanzungsentscheidung ebenso gestützt von dem Befund, dass in derselben Stichprobe in Teil I der Untersuchung Attraktivität positiv mit Paarungserfolg korreliert war und damit mit ihm in einem adaptiven Verhältnis stand. Zusammengenommen suggerieren die Befunde von Teil I und Teil II die Entkopplung einer artspezifischen Verhaltenssequenz, die zu einer erfolgreichen Fortpflanzung hinführt und lassen damit eine adaptive Erklärung kaum haltbar erscheinen. Schlussfolgernd wird festgestellt, dass die derzeitig vorherrschenden geringen Fertilitätsraten vieler Länder zwar mit der Evolutionstheorie vereinbar sind, jedoch nur dann, wenn eine maladaptive Erklärung herangezogen wird, die kulturelle Transmission als einen wichtigen Faktor berücksichtigt. Zukünftige Studien mögen weitere Anpassungen identifizieren, die sich im Kontext bewusster Fortpflanzungsentscheidungen maladaptiv auswirken.

Appendix

Correlations of key variables with social desirability

The tables below show the bivariate correlations between the key variables

of Part I and II and social desirability and agreeableness, respectively.

	women	men
age at first sex	06	.19
-	(61)	(38)
	.31	.12
number of sex	03	23^{1}
partners	(64)	(45)
	.42	.06
current pairing	04	08
status	(62)	(44)
	.38	.30
extra-pair mating	13	05
success	(64)	(46)
	.14	.36
unfaithful	.02	06
	(63)	(43)
	.43	.34
SOI	27^{2}	61
	(63)	(41)
	.01	<.001
partnership	18	25
asymmetry	(46)	(27)
	.11	.09
initiator of break-	16	.06
up	(59)	(38)
	.11	.35

Appendix Table 1: Correlations of selected variables of Part I with the Social Desirability Scale.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values.

1 A graphic plot of the data revealed an outlier. After exclusion of the outlier the correlation is r(44) = -.16, p = .14.

2 A graphic plot of the data revealed three outliers. After exclusion of these outliers the correlation is r(60) = -.09, p = .24.

	women	men
facial	15	29
attractiveness	(60)	(37)
	.13	.04
self-rated	02	.12
attractiveness	(65)	(46)
	.41	.22
BMI	.03	00
	(65)	(46)
	.41	.49

Appendix Table 2: Correlations of measures of attractiveness with the Social Desirability Scale.

Note. Shown are partial correlation coefficients (controlled for age), degrees of freedom, and one-tailed *p*-values.

Appendix Table 3: Correlations of key variables of Part II with the Social Desirability Scale.

	women	men
tendency to abort	20	32
	(57)	(41)
	.07	.02
FCS	.20	.34
	(55)	(37)
	.07	.02
desired number of	.25	.26
children	(58)	(41)
	.03	.05
ideal time from	27	08
now to have first	(58)	(39)
child	.02	.31

Note. Shown are Pearson coefficients from bivariate correlations, sample sizes, and one-tailed *p*-values.

Attractiveness and parents' socioeconomic status

An important assumption made in Part II was that the advantage attractiveness confers in the mating context should generalize to other social contexts. A large number of studies confirm that attractiveness is positively correlated to all kinds of social benefits (see Langlois et al., 2000 for a review). As a result one would expect highly attractive people to accumulate in the upper classes of a stratified, but permeable society. Available evidence supports this view (Elder, 1969; Udry & Eckland, 1984; Franzen & Hartmann, 2001). Assuming that facial attractiveness and the BMI are both heritable components of individual attractiveness, I hypothesized that participants' attractiveness would be positively correlated to the educational and socioeconomic status of their parents. In Appendix Table 3 the correlations between the three measures of attractiveness and the three measures of parental social status are shown. For men, all correlations are in the predicted direction. Of the three measures of social status, social class consistently yields correlations in the predicted direction, and of the three measures of attractiveness BMI yields the highest correlation coefficients, all of which have the predicted sign. Some of the correlations become significant when the sexes are combined while statistically controlling for sex: facial attractiveness and social class: $r_p(240) = .10$, p = .05; self-rated attractiveness and father's education: $r_p(273) = .12, p = .02$; BMI and social class: $r_p(275) = -.15, p = .006$; BMI and mother's education: $r_p(273) = -.11$, p = .04.

Appendix Table	: 4. Attrac	tiveness and	l parents' soc	ial status.		
measure of		women			men	
attractiveness	social	mother's	father's	social	mother's	father's
	class	education	education	class	education	education
facial	.15	.08	02	.12	05	11
	(118)	(116)	(115)	(101)	(101)	(101)
	.05	.21	.43	.11	.31	.14
self-rated	90.	.02	80.	.04	15	01
	(147)	(144)	(143)	(133)	(134)	(134)
	.25	.43	.19	.33	.04	.45
BMI	12	03	01	17	19	14
	(147)	(144)	(143)	(132)	(133)	(133)
	.08	.38	.46	.03	.02	.05
Note. Shown are S	pearman co	orrelation coeff	icients, sample	sizes, and	one-tailed <i>p</i> -v	alues. The

measures of attractiveness are controlled for age. – Social class was rated on a nine-point scale. Education is the highest educational level reached. N_{c}

Hedonism and attractiveness

The assumption that opportunity costs in hedonism are higher for highly attractive than for less attractive people (discussion Part II) is supported by the following explorative correlations between the three measures of attractiveness and the ratings of two hedonism items (Zuckerman et al., 1964).

Appendix Table 5. Correlations between hedonism
items (from Zuckerman et al., 1964) and the three
measures of physical attractiveness.

	women		men	
magura of	lilzag	likes	likog	likes
attractiveness	wild	drunk	wild	drunk
attractiveness	parties	at	parties	at
		parties		parties
facial	.14	.16	.22	.26
	(97)	(97)	(83)	(83)
	.08	.06	.02	.009
self-rated	.29 ^a	.25 ^c	.06 ^a	$05^{\rm c}$
	(108)	(108)	(105)	(105)
	.001	.005	.25	.29
BMI	27 ^b	12	.03 ^b	.04
	(108)	(108)	(104)	(104)
	.002	.10	.37	.34

Note. a to c Fisher's *r* to *z* transformation and test for difference of coefficients between the sexes: a p = .04; b p = .01; c p = .07.

Pill use, religion and the tendency to abort

Of the 118 women in this sample for whom the information is available, 70 (63.1 %) were using oral contraceptives at the time the study was conducted. Pill use did not influence women's tendency to abort, $r_p(107) = .10$, p = .16.

Attitudes towards abortion have often been found to be linked to religious affiliation (e.g., Granberg, 1982; Costa et al., 1987). The following analysis is restricted to the religious groups that were represented by a statistically reasonable number of subjects; these were non-religious persons, Protestants, and Catholics. I further reduced the originally three levels of religious attendance (never, occasionally, and regularly), to two levels ("non-churchgoers" and "churchgoers"), because only very few subjects attended religious services regularly. Across the groups of nonreligious subjects, Protestants and Catholics, the frequency of church-going was negatively correlated with the tendency to abort, but not strongly so, women: $r_p(106) = -.10$, p = .16; men: $r_p(104) = -.15$, p = .07. Appendix Figure 1 shows the abortion tendency of non-religious, protestant, and catholic subjects by frequency of churchgoing. It would seem that in the group of catholic subjects, non-church-goers were not different from church-goers, whereas in the larger group of Protestants there is a significant difference.



Appendix Figure 1. Religious affiliation, church going and the tendency to abort. – Shown are means and 95%-confidence intervals. Open dots indicate participants who never go to church, filled dots participants who go to church sometimes or regularly. The numbers below the categories indicate the numbers of subjects in each group.

Glossary

adaptation (German: Adaptation, die; Anpassung, die): Any trait that in the evolutionary past promoted reproduction and was therefore preserved by natural selection. The design of adaptations may be of relatively simple (e.g., skin pigmentation as a response to solar uv-radiation) or complex (e.g., the vertebrate eye) design. – It is important to note that the term *adaptation* is here used to mean a structural feature of an organismic design, whereas the related terms *adaptive* and *maladaptive* refer to the quality of the current linkage between organisms and environment and its effects at the level of reproduction.

adaptive (German: adaptiv, angepasst): 1. Currently promoting reproductive success. 2. Currently functioning in the context in which an adaptation evolved. – The first meaning is emphasizes outcome, the second emphasizes the linkage between organism and environment.

assortative mating (German: selektive Paarung, die): In a population in which the sexual partners are similar with respect to certain variable traits, positive assortative mating has taken place. Assortative mating may be the results of preferences for particular traits or the indirect result of processes other than preference. For example, the arrival date at a common mating site of a bird species may depend on body size, so that earlier arriving larger males tend to pair up with larger females and later arriving smaller males with smaller females.

BMI: See bodymass index.

bodymass index (BMI): A measure of obesity that is calculated as BMI = body weight (kg)/height (m)². The higher the BMI, the more obese a person is. In this study, the BMI is used because obesity affects attractiveness. Attractiveness ratings as a function of BMI peak at intermediate BMI values, but the function is asymmetric; it falls more steeply from intermediate BMI to very low BMI than from intermediate BMI to high BMI (see introduction of Part I and Methods).

contraception (Kontrazeption, die; Verhütung, die): Contraception is the *soma's* ingratitude towards the *germ line*. – Modern contraception is here used to include the use of the pill and other modern contraceptives as well as induced abortion.

developmental reaction norm (German: Entwicklungsreaktionsnorm, die): The set of *ontogenies* that can be produced by a single *phenotype* when it is exposed to internal or external environmental variation (Schlichting & Pigliucci, 1998).

evolutionary functional analysis: A system of heuristic tools proposed by Tooby and Cosmides (1992) to study presumed adaptations from an evolutionary perspective. According to the authors, an evolutionary functional analysis involves the following steps:

- 1. *An adaptive target*: a description of what counts as a biologically successful outcome in a given situation. Out of the infinite set of potential behavioral sequences, which small subset would count as a solution to the adaptive problem? Here, one wants to know which behavioral outcomes will have the property of enhancing the propagation of the psychological designs that gave rise to them. For example, out of all the substances in the world, which should the organism eat and which should it avoid? With whom should the organism join a coalition? What inferences should be drawn on the basis of the retinal display about the location of various surfaces? In defining an adaptive target, the goal is to ascertain whether the proposed behavioral outcome, in combination with all the other activities and outcomes produced by the organism, will enhance design propagation under ancestral conditions.
- 2. Background conditions: a description of the recurrent structure of the ancestral world that is relevant to the adaptive problem. One wants to know what features of the ancestral world were sufficiently stable to support the evolution of a design that could produce an adaptive target. This could be a part of the external environment, another part of the standard design of the organism, or a combination of the two. This includes the information available to solve the problem, the environmental and endogenous obstacles to solving the problem, and so on. So for example, the regular spatial orientation of human eyes with respect to each other, the face, and the ground constitute background conditions for the evolution of the face recognition mechanisms in infants. Often, but not always, the ancestral world will be similar to the modern world (e.g., the properties of light and the laws of optics have not changed). However, one needs to know something about huntergatherer studies and paleoanthropology to know when ancestral conditions germane to the adaptive problem diverge from modern conditions. Of course, when there is a difference between the two, ancestral conditions are the applicable ones for the purpose of analyzing the functional design of an adaptation because they are the cause of that design. Modern environments are relevant to the analysis of the ontogeny of mechanisms and their calibration. It is important to keep in mind that a mechanism that was capable of producing an adaptive target under ancestral conditions may not be capable of doing so under modern ones. Our visual system fails to maintain color constancy under sodium vapor lamps in modern parking lots ..., and attempting to understand color constancy mechanisms under such unnatural illumination would have been a major impediment to progress.
- 3. *A design*: a description of the articulated organization of recurrent features in the organism that together comprise the adaptation or suspected adaptation. A design description of the eye, for example,

would include a specification of its species-typical parts and the manner in which they interact to produce an adaptive target.

The design – or even the existence – of a proposed informationprocessing mechanism is frequently unknown. Indeed, an appropriate functional description of a design is often what one is trying to discover. When this is the case, this step in an evolutionary functional analysis would be the construction of a hypothesis about the existence and design features of a psychological adaptation. This might include what environmental cues the mechanism monitors, what information it draws from other mechanisms, how it categorizes and represents this information, what procedures or behaviors it produces as output, which mechanisms is its output for further processing, how its output is used by other mechanisms to generate behavior, and so on. The more causally explicit one can make the design description at the cognitive level, the better. Eventually, one hopes to have a description of the neurobiological implementation of the adaptation as well.

- 4. A performance examination: a description of what happens when the proposed adaptation mechanistically interacts with the world. What range of outcomes does the design actually produce? Like putting a new aircraft prototype in a wind tunnel, what one is looking for is a good causal or "engineering" analysis of how the proposed design routinely faced, and how it performs under present conditions as well. For a proposed language acquisition device, for example, one wants to model how its information processing procedures perform when they encounter normal linguistic environments, in order to see whether the interaction of procedures and environment assembles an increasingly elaborated computational system capable of producing intelligible and grammatical sentences. Similarly, one wants to model how psychological mechanisms in women or men interact with their social and informational environments to produce mating preferences. We want to emphasize that we are looking here for a mechanistic or causal description of how the system generates output given input. Statements like, "the human child learns its culture through imitation and generalization" are not models of how input generates output. They are too unspecified to qualify as hypotheses or explanations; we should have ceased treating them as such a long time ago.
- 5. *A performance evaluation*: a description or analysis of how well (or how poorly) the design, under circumstances paralleling ancestral conditions, managed to produce the adaptive target (the set of biologically successful outcomes). The better the mechanism performs, the more likely it is that one has identified an adaptation.

It is just as important, however, to see whether the proposed mechanism produces the behaviors one actually observes from real organisms under modern condition. If it does, this suggests that the researcher is converging on a correct description of the design of the mechanism involved, whether they are producing behavior that is currently adaptive or not. The Westermarck incest avoidance mechanism, for example, passes both tests. It produces adaptive outcomes under ancestral (and many modern) conditions (e.g., distaste for sex between siblings who co-resided as children), and it also explains the nonadaptive outcomes that are observed under certain modern conditions (e.g., distaste for sex between kibbutz crèche mates who co-resided as children ...; distaste for sex with spouses who were adopted into one's family at a young age and with whom one was raised ...).

In short, an evolutionary functional analysis consists of asking a series of engineering questions: Would the proposed design have interacted with properties of the ancestral world to produce target adaptive outcomes? Does the proposed design interact with properties of the modern world to produce outcomes that one actually observes in real organisms, whether these outcomes are adaptive or not? Is there an alternative design that is better able to generate adaptive targets under ancestral conditions? If so, then are there any background conditions that one has overlooked that would have prevented the alternative design from evolving? And so on. (Transcription from: Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (1992). The psychological foundations of culture. In J. H. Barkow, L. Cosmides, & J. Tooby (Eds.), *The Adapted Mind* (pp. 19-136). New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 73-75.)

fitness, genic (German: Fitness, genische, die): 1. Relative prevalence of gene variants in a population. 2. The ability of an individual organism to pass along alleles to the next generation relative to conspecifics competitors of the same population.

gamete (German: Gamet, der; Geschlechtszelle, die): Sex cell. Specialized haploid cell that fuses with another gamete to form a diploid zygote. In most species, gametes are differentiated into two different kinds: sperms (small and *motile*) and eggs (large and immotile). In sexually reproducing higher animals, the gametes are the only type of cells that are potentially immortal and who will pass their genes on to future generations. Compare *soma*.

genic (German: genisch): Related to genes (as opposed to "genetic" which refers to the science of genes).

genome (German: Genom, das): The total genic information an individual inherits from its parents.

genotype (German: Genotyp, der): The genic constitution of an organism, with respect to either particular gene variants or to the genome as a whole.

germ line (German: Keimbahn, die): Cells (belonging to a multicellular species) from which *gametes* are derived. The word *germ line* highlights

the fact that its cells are potentially immortal as they are passed along from generation to generation while their carrying *somas* are bound to die.

homology (German: Homologie, die): Evolved similarity due to common descent. A trait found in various taxa is homologous if it evolved from the same trait of a common ancestor taxon. Examples for homologous organs are the forelimbs of bats and whales, which both evolved from the forelimbs of terrestrial mammals. Because behaviors are ultimately expressions of nervous systems, the criteria of homology are also applicable to categories of behavior. In cross-species comparisons, homologies are of interest when common descent is likely to explain similarities.

hypergamy (German: Hypergamie, die): longterm mating with a partner of a socioeconomic status higher than oneself.

FCS: Fondness for Children Scale (see methods).

maladaptiveness (German: Maladaptivität, die; Fehlangepasstheit, die): Not *adaptive*, currently malfunctioning.

mate value (German: Partnermarktwert, der): The value of a potential mate relative to others, measured as his or her potential to promote a mate-choosing subject's genic fitness. Components of mate value may be health, resources, social status, age, etc.

mating success (German: Paarungserfolg, der): An individual's number of sex partners per time unit. – In this study, it is important to consider the use of the term *mating success* in relation to *promiscuity*. Inter-individual variation in mating outcomes like the lifetime number of sex partners is the result of both extrinsic and intrinsic motivational factors. The extrinsic factor explicitly studied here is the sexual response of opposite sex individuals to the participants' physical attractiveness; the intrinsic factor is inter-individual variation in promiscuous attitude. Inasmuch as mating outcomes are determined by individual attractiveness they will be referred to as *mating success*. Inasmuch as mating outcomes are determined by individual attractiveness are determined by an atting outcomes are determined by individual attractiveness are determined by individual attractiveness.

motile (German: motil): Able to move. – Compare *mobile*, which means movable.

motivation (German: Motivation, die): propensity to act in pursuit of a functional goal (e.g., sexual motivation, parental motivation). Motivation may be intrinsically or extrinsically caused.

malfunctional (German: malfunktional): Not functioning properly. Synonymous with *maladaptive*.

ontogeny (ontogenesis; German: Ontogenie, die): The development of individual organisms.

ontogenic (German: ontogenisch, ontogenetisch): Related to individual organismic development.

opportunity costs (German: Opportunitätskosten, die): When there is a choice between two or multiple options (e.g., between different activities), a decision for one option often means a decision against other options. The choice of one option therefore produces opportunity costs with respect to another option.

parturition (German: Gebären, das): Giving birth.

personality (German: Persönlichkeit, die): The sum of the dispositional characteristics of a person in which he or she differs from other conspecific individuals.

phenotype (German: Phänotyp, der): The observable manifestation of a specific *genotype*.

phylogeny (German: Phylogenie, die): The relationships of groups of organisms (*taxa*) as reflected by their evolutionary history.

phylogenic (German: phylogenisch, stammesgeschichtlich): Related to phylogeny.

promiscuity (German: Promiskuität, die): The desire to mate with or the behavior of having mated with many partners (compare *mating success*, *sociosexual orientation*).

reaction norm: See developmental reaction norm.

reproductive success (German: Fortpflanzungserfolg): An individual's output of a large number of viable and fertile offspring. Compare *genic fitness*.

runaway process: A process taking the form of a repeated positive feedback loop.

secondary sexual (signaling) trait (German: sekundäres Sexualmerkmal, das): Typically, but not necessarily, sex-specific conspicuous trait that is assumed to function primarily or exclusively as a signaling trait in the context of intrasexual competition and/or mate choice (see *sexual selection theory*). Examples are antlers in hoofed mammals and certain plumage patterns in birds (e.g., peacock's tail). Examples in humans are female breasts and fat deposits on hips and male muscularity.

sexual selection (German: sexuelle Selektion, die): A special case of natural selection, caused by competition over mates or by female choosiness. See *sexual selection theory*.

sexual selection theory (German: sexuelle Selektionstheorie, die): Theory originally introduced by Charles Darwin to explain the evolution of seemingly dysfunctional *secondary sexual signaling traits*. The theory was later elaborated by Robert Trivers (1972) and others. – By definition, males are those individuals of a species that develop to produce sperm – small,

nutrient-poor and *motile gametes* that are produced in large numbers. Females are defined as those conspecifics that produce the eggs – large, nutrient-rich and immotile gametes that are produced in smaller numbers. The two sexes represent the most widespread example of an alternative reproductive strategy. Because a single male produces sufficient sperm to fertilize far more than only one female, female gametes are constantly in short supply. Correspondingly, for females there is an oversupply of males willing to mate. In response to this sex difference, selection has produced higher-level adaptations that aid the female and male strategies of gametic differentiation. Males have evolved adaptations to succeed in intrasexual competition over access to females (or indirectly over access to resources that attract females); and females have evolved adaptations to choose just one or few of the many males with superior genes or resources (Darwin, 1871; Trivers, 1972). Given the simultaneous action of female choice and male-male competition, one would expect most species to show a polygynous mating system in which a large number of females mates with a small number of males so that some males obtain only few or no mates at all. In other words, one would expect male mating success and reproductive success to be more variable than female mating success and reproductive success (Bateman, 1948), and this expectation is supported by available data (nonhumans: Bateman, 1948; references in Trivers, 1972; Clutton-Brock, 1994; Whittingham & Lifjeld, 1995; humans: Daly & Wilson, 1983; Lindqvist Forsberg & Tullberg, 1995; Rohde & Schmitt, 2004, this study). This evolutionary scenario suggests that, in polygynous mating systems, males should more often show sexually selected traits and that their mating success depends more strongly on their expression than does female mating success. A broad view across all taxa confirms this prediction (Andersson, 1994). However, in many species mutual mate choice evolved, typically together with monogamous mating systems with biparental care (Wittenberger & Tilson, 1980). Although much less studied, such species often develop female secondary sexual signaling traits (Jones & Hunter, 1993) that are subject to male mate choice (references in Rohde et al., 1999). In humans -a species that is often described as mildly polygynous but usually pairbonding- mutual mate choice with respect to secondary sexual characters is certainly taking place (Grammer et al., 2003).

social desirability (German: soziale Erwünschtheit, die): Perceived pressure to conform to social norms that are believed to be supported by an individual's social environment. Social desirability is a potential confounding factor in studies that rely on self-report. Socalled Social Desirability Scales are therefore sometimes used in order to control for such biases. However, critiques have noted that social desirability is not – or not entirely – a confounding bias, but may partly represent individual levels of conformity, which may have real effects on behavior.

sociosexuality (German: Soziosexualität, die): See sociosexual orientation.

sociosexual orientation (German: Soziosexuelle Orientierung, die): Individual differences in willingness to engage in sexual relations without closeness, commitment, and other indicators of emotional bonding. Individuals with an unrestricted (or unrestrained) sociosexual orientation tend to engage in sex in the absence of such indicators, whereas individuals with a restricted sociosexual orientation typically do not. In this study used synonymously with *promiscuity*.

SOI Sociosexual Orientation Inventory by Simpson and Gangestad (1991), used in this study (see methods) as a measure of *sociosexual orientation* or *promiscuity*.

soma (German: Soma, das): The sum of cells of an individual organism that are not destined to become a gamete and whose genes will not be passed on to future generations. During the early embryonic development of higher animal species, the hither to undifferentiated embryonic cells first differentiate into somatic cells and *gametes*. While the cells of the soma undergo further differentiation into organs and are bound to die, the gametes remain single cells and are potentially immortal. Functionally, the soma is the *germ line*'s means to secure its transgenerational survival.

somatic (German: somatisch): Related to the *soma*.

taxon (plural taxa; German: Taxon, das): A group of organisms of any taxonomic rank (e.g., family, genus, or species) within a *phylogeny*.

Endnotes

¹ These statistics, however, must be treated with caution as they are almost certainly overestimating childlessness in Germany. The reason is the way in which the number of children is determined. Only children of married couples are reported to the Federal Bureau for Statistics, with the result that divorced mothers who marry again count as childless. And in the socalled microcencuses women are not asked directly for the number of children they have, but for the number of children living in their household (Kreyenfeld, 2004).

 2 Here AEA researchers would disagree with Barret et al., (2002) who hold that "There is no a priori reason to suppose that current behaviour shouldn't be adaptive. It is instead, an empirical issue that can only be tested by measuring current fitness differentials." (Barret et al., 2002, p. 12). However, although differential reproductive success is one indicator of maladaptive behavior, it does not suffice as a complete evolutionary analysis of maladaptiveness. This is because when there are several mismatches working at the same time, it may be impossible to detect the effect of a particular mismatch at the general level of reproductive success.

³ Another important reason why fertility behavior is little studied by AEA researchers is the conventient availability of students in their early twenties as subjects who are overwhelmingly childless.

⁴ The only other evolutionary studies I know of that contain data on two reproductive measures, mating behavior and number of children are those by Essock-Vitale and McGuire (1985), Müller & Mazur (2001), and Nettle (2003). Only in the study by Nettle contraception is mentioned as a factor, but only to note that the contraception destroys the predicted link between an attractive trait (body height) and male reproductive success.

⁵ It should be noted that in his target article Pérusse (1993) himself did not interpret his results as a successful application of the AEA, but Daly (1993) argued in his comment that such an interpretation best fits his data.

⁶ Kanazawa (2003) repeated Pérusse's analysis of the relationship between male mating success and income in a much larger representative national sample from the U.S.A. and included several control variables in a multiple regression analysis. He found the predicted positive relationship, but the effect size, the standardized beta coefficient, was very small, β (8, 3172) = .046, p = .01 (personal communication).

⁷ What evidence is there for a positive correlation between physical attractiveness and reproductive success in traditional societies? To my knowledge, the only study that considers one of the three measures of attractiveness occurring in the current study is that reported by Hill and Hurtado (1996). They found the hypothesized correlation for facial attractiveness in a population of Ache women in Paraguay.

⁸ For a more recent proposal of guidelines for an adapationist analysis, see Andrews et al. (2002).

⁹ For the readers who are unfamiliar with the cultural approach to maladaptive behavior, I wish to clarify three important implications that the cultural approach by Boyd and Richerson has for understanding of human maladaptive behavior and thus for understanding the current study:

1. The evaluation of reproductive success. Human culture has important implications for how we are to evaluate human reproductive success and thus to distinguish reproductively adaptive from maladaptive reproductive behavior. It is currently mainstream thinking among evolutionary researchers to regard individuals or single genes as the unit of selection (Mayr, 2001). However, in recent years theorists have convincingly argued that group selection may play a role for some species under specific circumstances (Sober & Wilson, 1998). Among the most plausible candidates for group selection are humans (Boyd & Richerson, 1982, 1985; Soltis et al., 1995; Sober & Wilson, 1998). One major reason for the role of group selection in human evolution is the evolution of human capacity for culture. An important effect of cultural transmission is that it tends to reduce intragroup variability and to increase intergroup variability. Inasmuch as cultural traits represent adaptive strategies, groups of variable culture are in reproductive competition with each other in much the same way as are individual humans within a cultural group. It follows that human reproductive success must be considered at two levels: the level of individual reproductive success within a cultural group and at the level of reproductive success compared to other cultural groups. This point is so important to make because selection at the individual and group level do not necessarily work in the same direction. For example, self-sacrificing altruism may be selected against - and thus be

maladaptive – at the individual level, but still be selected for – and thus be adaptive – at the group level if self-sacrificing enhances the group's success in competing with other groups (Sober & Wilson, 1998).

2. The role of the environment. The second implication of the cultural approach to maladaptiveness concerns the relation between humans and the environment. In mainstream evolutionary thinking the environment is the source of selective forces acting on the organism, but the organism is not assumed to significantly alter the environment, nor is it assumed that such changes create novel selection pressures. This view, however, is unrealistic for many species (Odling-Smee et al., 2003), including humans who are capable of transforming their environment through the cultural process (Laland et al., 2001, Odling-Smee et al., 2003). For the study of maladaptive human behavior this means that the distinction between the behavior to be examined and the environment will frequently become blurred. For example, alcohol, violent and x-rated movies, and contraceptives are all part of modern human's environment, but they are simultaneously intentional products of the human mind and the result of a cultural process. It also means that we should expect the greater part of all mismatches between humans and their environment to be caused under the strong influence of the cultural process.

3. The role of precultural adaptations in cultural explanations. The third and final implication of human cultural capacity that I would like to list here concerns the role human precultural adaptations play in the cultural area. There is no reason to assume that the evolution of learning by observation and other adaptations, on which the cultural process rests, was accompanied by the simultaneous loss of any of the adaptations that characterized the immediate precultural human ancestors. Rather there is every reason to assume that the preference biases implied by precultural adaptations on the one hand will contribute to determining the content and success of cultural traits and thereby to the shaping of the human environment and that on the other hand precultural adaptations will often be in conflict with cultural traits (McDougall, 1908; Boyd & Richerson, 1985). This point is essential to the current study, the aim of which it is to examine how selected precultural adaptations interact with the modern environment in a reproductively maladaptive way.

¹⁰ It is sometimes argued that humans have had access to effective contraception for a long time so that modern developments of contraceptives cannot explain the modern fertility decline (e.g., Baker & Bellis, 1995). My suspicion is that researchers today may often be ignorant of the immense perceived advantages that the pill and other highly sophisticated contraceptives had over older methods to the generation that witnessed the revolution of the pill. The following excerpts from Allyn (2002) are cited as they give an impression of the difference the pill made:

"The pill" [...] gave women a greater sense of sexual freedom than any contraceptive device that had come before. Just as the availability of penicillin in the 1940s had seemed to separate sex from the danger of venereal disease once and for all, the invention of the birth control pill finally appeared to break-up sex from the danger of unwanted pregnancy. It was not that the condom, the pessary, the diaphragm, and the spermicide, all of which prededed the pill, were ineffective, but the pill, a synthetic estrogen taken once a day, at any time of the day, separated the act of intercourse from the use of birth control. With the pill, contraception became "clean".

... No matter what the motives of pharmaceutical executives may have been, the pill was a major breakthrough in women's emancipation. Since the pill can be taken at any time of day, and since it does not involve contact with the genitals, and since it is taken on a regular schedule whether one plans immediately to make love or not, it can be used without full awareness that one is preparing oneself for intercourse. ...

... The pill promised to erase fear and anxiety, to make sex simple and contraception discreet. The only real reservation anyone expressed about the pill in the midsixties was that it might make women more independent and consequently make men feel more insecure." (Allyn, 2000, p. 33-34)

¹¹ The genesis of the women's rights movement could itself be subjected to an analysis that includes an evolutionary perspective (see for example Buss & Malamuth, 1996), but doing so is beyond the scope of the current study.

¹² Humans are exceptional among mammals in that fathers provide parental care (Woodroffe & Vincent, 1994), although in lesser quantity and different quality than mothers do (Brown, 1991). In how far the proximate mechanisms are homologous and how they differ is not yet known.

McDougall (1908) proposed that male human parental care might have evolved through genic correlation between the sexes that was simultaneously promoted by natural selection. Current theory suggests that male parental care evolved as a component of mating effort directed at the female partner (Marlowe, 1999; Anderson et al., 1999a,b). Male parental care probably became a valuable resource to mothers as humans evolved to have larger brains and thus gave birth to increasingly underdeveloped infants (Westermarck, 1929; Marlowe, 2001, but see Hawkes, 1991).

¹³ In this assumption I disagree with Baker and Bellis (1995) who write:

"It is unfortunate, but typically human, that the phrase `family planning' has such strong overtones of conscious strategy. In this book, to avoid confusion, we persist with the use of this familiar phrase despite arguing that over the course of human evolution the major part of family planning has derived from subconscious mechanisms."

¹⁴ In this I disagree with Miller and Pasta (2002) who made a statement to the opposite:

"For many couples, proceptive behavior simply involves discontinuing the use of a contraceptive method, whereas contraceptive behavior almost always involves complex behaviors and constant vigilance." (p. 2).

Possibly, this view is correct with regard to older methods of contraception, but with the advent of the pill and more recent methods the continued use of contraception can hardly be called a complex matter.

¹⁵ It should be noted for non-German a reader that in Germany induced abortion is no longer subject to a heated public debate as it is in some other countries like the U.S.A.

¹⁶ Because the role of hedonic reasons for continued contraception practice is emphasized in this study, I should note here that an important concern of political activists advocating free access to contraceptives was the well-being of mothers and their (existing) children. The main goal was to provide married couples with the means to adjust their number of children to the couple's economic capacities and the parents' and children's health, but not to so much to postpone or even forgo parenthood (e.g., Chesler, 1992). The social movements for contraception were logically part of the greater women's rights movement, because marital sex – and thus fertility decisions – at that time still was largely under men's control. This changed only with the introduction of the pill and the women's rights movement during the 1970ies (Watkins, 1998; Allyn, 2000).

¹⁷ It is not true that men, or males in general, never reject fertile females as sexual partners, even in polygynous species and even when females express their interests to males (see for example Sapolsky, 2002; Preston et al., 2005). However, I know of no systematic study on this subject nor of any theory that addresses inter-specific or intrasexual variation in male rejection of females. However, as in the case of female promiscuity it can be hypothesized that male choosiness is partly attributable to genic correlation or to sexually antagonistic genes.

¹⁸ Miller & Pasta (2002) claim that humans are a special case with respect to willingness to become a parent: "... when our ancestors had evolved to the point that they could grasp the connection between sexual intercourse and conception and could, therefore, anticipate the possibility of pregnancy and childbearing, preconception childbearing motivation began to affect sexual behavior." This argument is reminiscient of an article by Burley (1979) who proposed that the awareness of the pains of birth constituted a selection pressure that led to the evolution of concealed ovulation.

¹⁹ As in the case of the desire for multiple sexpartners, the partial overlap between the sexes with respect to interest in children may be a result of genic correlation.

²⁰ A general fondness for children is certainly not the only possible reason for a desire to have children. For example, within the concept of a more general generativity (e.g., Peterson & Stewart, 1993), children may serve the proximate function to create a feeling of immortality, to find a life task, and to feel competent.

²¹ Larger numbers of sex partners may not necessarily reflect mating success, but rather failure. If humans are seen as predominantly monogamous animals that compete for longterm partners of high quality, then individuals who had particularly many sex partners may have been repeatedly rejected as longterm partners after one or few sexual acts. To my knowledge, this possible process has not been investigated yet. It is, however, only under very specific conditions that this process would override the positive effects of attractiveness on mating success.

²² Sexual selection theory assumes that in mammals (and most other taxa) female and male reproductive success should on average be equal, but that male reproductive success should vary more strongly than female reproductive success. The same pattern should be expected at the level of mating success. This is what was found in the current data set. The number of sexpartners was correlated with age, women: r(128) = .35, p < .001; men: r(121) = .15, p = .05. To remove these age effects, the residuals from a regression of number of sex-partners over age were used in this analysis instead of the original data. The distribution of these residuals deviated significantly from normality and was positively skewed. However, the Levene-test for equality of variances is robust when applied to long-tailed distributions (Rosenthal & Rosnow, 1991, p. 340). The data from 121 men and 128 women were available for this analysis. As predicted, women and men did not differ in their mean number of sex-partners (M = 0.06 and -0.06, respectively), t(213.53) = 0.22, p = .83 (two-tailed), but the variance was twice as large in men than in women (27.98 and 13.69, respectively), F = 8.79, p = .003.

²³ As was noted for the lifetime number of sex-partners in the previous footnote, the sex differences in extra-pair mating success also followed the rules of sexual selection theory. Of the 123 men, 41 (33.3%) had acted as an extra-pair partner at least once, of the 129 women 37 (28.7%) had done so. To remove these age effects, the residuals from a regression of number of sex-partners, for whom the participant acted as epc-partner over age were used in the following analysis instead of the original data. Men and women did not differ in the mean number of sex partners for whom they acted as an extra-pair partner (residuals from a regression over age, M =-0.05 and 0.05), t(235.56) = 0.95, p = .34 (two-tailed), but the variance was significantly higher in men than in women, F = 8.35, p = .004.

 24 For example, consider two women, one of low, the other of high attractiveness. Suppose the less attractive woman is offered sex by five men per year and seizes each (100%) of these opportunities. In contrast, the highly attractive woman is offered sex by one hundred men per year and has sex with only ten (10%) of them. The highly attractive woman would then have had more sex partners per time unit than the less attractive woman would, and yet the less attractive woman could be said to be the more promiscuous one.

²⁵ The sexes differed significantly with respect to fondness for children, $r_p(215) = .27$, p < .001. When I restricted the analysis to the individuals who filled in the Social Desirability Scale, the correlation was $r_p(95) = .33$, p = .001, with only age as control variable and $r_p(94) = .31$, p = .001, with social desirability added as control variable.

²⁶ Partnership asymmetry, which was used as a dependent variable in Part I, was not used as independent variable in Part II on theoretical grounds: unlike the variables attractiveness, promiscuity, and fondness for children partnership asymmetry is not assumed to be a trait that is based on an evolved adaptation. Still, the question whether partnership asymmetry is a determinant of the tendency to abort is of empirical interest. The partnership asymmetry item was rated on a 7-point scale, in which low values mean that the subject is more in love with the partner than vice versa and high values mean that the partner is more in love with the subject than vice versa. One would therefore expect a positive correlation between the tendency to abort and partnership asymmetry. I found that for women there was no significant correlation between the tendency to abort and partnership asymmetry, $r_p(75) = .07$, p = .26, but for men the correlation was positive and significant, $r_p(57) = .36$, p = .003.

²⁷ A graphic analysis of the residuals of the models revealed that the ideal preconditions for a multiple regression were not given (Tabachnick & Fidell, 1996). As an alternative approach, I ran a logistic regression, because this model makes no assumptions about the distributions of the data. To carry out the analysis the dependent variable, the tendency to abort, was dichotomized into 1. participants who completely rejected an abortion and 2. all other participants. However, the results of the logistic regression and of the multiple regression were qualitatively so similar that I decided to present the multiple regressions here, assuming that most readers are more familiar with this procedure and the effect size measures (standardized coefficients, β) than with logistic regression.

²⁸ Almost a century ago, William McDougall (1908) proposed that the evolution of human intelligence has always been in an evolutionary conflict with phylogenically older adaptations. He proposed that this conflict has been mitigated only by the cultural evolution of procreative social norms:

"The use of reason and intelligent foresight modifies profoundly the operation of all the instincts, and is especially apt to modify and work against the play of the reproductive and parental instincts. Among the higher animals these instincts suffice to secure the perpetuation of the species by their blind workings. And we may suppose that the same was true of primitive human societies. But, with the increase of the power and of the habit of regulating instinctive action by intelligent foresight, the egoistic impulses must have tended to suppress the working of the parental instinct; hence the need for the support of the instinct by strong social sanctions; hence also the almost universal distribution of such sanctions. For those societies in which no such sanctions became organized must have died out; while only those in which, as intelligence became more powerful, these sanctions became more formidable have in the long-run survived and reached any considerable level of civilization. There has been, we may say, a never-ceasing race between the development of individual intelligence and the increasing power of these social sanctions; and wherever the former has got ahead of the latter, there social disaster and destruction have ensued." (McDougall, 1908).

And Hobcraft (2003), apparently unaware of McDougall's thoughts, asked:

"Were humans, perhaps especially women, who disproportionately bore the physical and emotional costs of childbearing and child rearing, always wont to limit reproduction once their brains evolved enough to enable free choice? And is modern family limitation simply a reflection of the increased ability (and social tolerance) to control fertility?" (p. 349).

²⁹ A further problem with the study by Lycett & Dunbar (1999) is that the use of data aggregated into age classes leads to an overestimation of the variance explained. The effect sizes obtained from data of individual women would be much lower. Moreover, although Lycett and Dunbar claim in their methods to have considered women's number of children, they seem not to have included these data in their analysis. Consequently, it is not known whether they deal with abortions by yet childless women or by mothers.

³⁰ Only Fischman (1977) reported that pregnant teenage women were more likely to abort when they disliked babysitting. Unfortunately, Fischman did not reveal the data for this qualitative result. Another study (Miller, 1994) investigated the relationship between attitudes towards own (future) children and attitudes towards abortion in a sample of married couples, half of which were childless wheras the other half had one child. He found that both positive and negative attitudes towards own children influenced the attitudes towards abortion. However, although attitudes towards own future children and towards stranger children are positively correlated with each other (Rohde & Hoier, 2001), they can still be differentiated from each other by means of factorial analysis (unpublished data). Hence, the current study seems to be the first to relate general liking of children to abortion.

³¹ It should be noted that there is evidence for culturally shared minimum standards for child provisioning and that these standards affect fertility behavior. For example, Kaplan & Lancaster (2003) report that Albuquerque fathers of Hispanic origin see themselves confronted with increased standards relative to what they experienced when they were children themselves. While as kids they were sharing their bedrooms with several siblings, they now live in a social environment in which it is standard to provide each child with a bedroom of his or her own. It thus appears that child provisioning has become part of a process of runaway consumption (Frank 1999), which contributes to the decreasing fertility. If this is true, this process of social competition in the area of child provisioning may represent another maladaptive component of modern human's reproductive behavior.

³² Indeed, from a perspective of cultural selection one may ask for what other reason such social sanctions should ever have evolved and have been characteristic for highly successful cultures (e.g., of the ancient Romans) than to counter a widespread unwillingness to become a parent.

 33 Interestingly, the two hedonism items "I like wild parties." and "At parties I like to get drunk." also tended to be positively correlated with the three measures of attractiveness (see Appendix Table 5).

³⁴ Available at: <u>http://www.bmfsfj.de/RedaktionBMFSFJ/Broschuerenstelle/Pdf-Anlagen/PRM-</u>24195-Kurzfassung-Familie-im-Spiegel,property=pdf.pdf

³⁵ Available at <u>http://www.sexualaufklaerung.de/bilder/verhuetung_2003.pdf</u>

³⁶ Available at <u>http://www.diw-</u>

berlin.de/deutsch/produkte/publikationen/materialien/docs/papers/diw_rn04-01-34.pdf

³⁷ Available at

http://www.google.de/url?sa=t&ct=res&cd=1&url=http%3A//www.diw.de/deutsch/produkte/pu blikationen/diskussionspapiere/docs/papers/dp473.pdf&ei=HWv3QsOvObqEwQGgidmHDg ³⁸ Available at http://www.destatis.de/presse/deutsch/pk/2003/Bevoelkerung_2050.pdf